
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 24 May 2019 at 11.00 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Anna Poole (Tel. 0116 305 2583) 

Email: anna.poole@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. R. Blunt CC 

Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 

Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
 

Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
  
  

1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 29 March 2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 12) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
Provision - Results of Consultation on the 
Development of New Provisions (High Needs 
Block Development Plan).  

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 13 - 48) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

 
5.  

  
Supporting Children in Care and Care Leavers 
in Leicestershire.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 49 - 88) 

6.  
  

New Multi-agency Children's Safeguarding 
Arrangements.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 89 - 100) 

7.  
  

Agreement with Leicester City Council to 
Delegate Certain Functions under the Care 
and Mental Health Acts Outside of Office 
Hours.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 101 - 
104) 

8.  
  

Supporting Growth in Leicestershire.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources and 
Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 105 - 
116) 

9.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 
2023/24 Proposals for Consultation.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 117 - 
124) 

10.  
  

Annual Treasury Management Report 2018 - 
19.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 125 - 
130) 

11.  
  

2018/19 Provisional Revenue and Capital 
Outturn.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 131 - 
168) 

12.  
  

Zouch Bridge Replacement.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 169 - 
190) 

13.  
  

Enforcement Programme for Underage Sales 
of Tobacco Products, Nicotine Products and 
Aerosol Paint Products 2019 - 2020.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 191 - 
198) 

14.  
  

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 - 
Review of Policy Statement.  
 

Director of Law 
and Governance 
 

(Pages 199 - 
208) 

15.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

16.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Friday, 29 March 
2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
 
 

Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
 

Apologies 
 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC 
  
In attendance 
 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC, Mr. S. J. Galton CC, Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC, 
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC and Mrs D. Taylor CC 
 

254. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 February 2019 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

255. Urgent items.  
 
The Chairman advised that there was one urgent item for consideration, a joint exempt 
report of the Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Environment and 
Transport entitled “Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – Southern Section – Housing 
Infrastructure Fund Bid”.  
 
The report was urgent because the latest correspondence had been received from 
Melton Borough Council after the agenda for the Cabinet meeting had been published 
and a basis for moving forward needed to be agreed before the next cabinet meeting in 
May.   
 
It was noted that the Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission had agreed to the report 
being considered in private session.  
 
With the agreement of the Cabinet the report was taken under item 13 on the agenda 
(minute 266 refers). 
 

256. Declarations of interest.  
 
Mr. Blunt CC, Mr. Rhodes CC, Mrs. Posnett MBE CC, Mrs. Richardson CC, Mr. Pain CC 
and Mr. Shepherd CC declared a personal interest in agenda item 5 (Review of 
Proposals for a Unitary Structure of Local Government for Leicestershire) as members of 
district councils.  

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

  
Mr. Rhodes CC and Mrs. Posnett MBE CC declared a personal interest in the urgent item 
(Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – Southern Section - Housing Infrastructure Fund Bid) 
as members of Melton Borough Council.  
 
Mr. Pain CC and Mr. Shepherd CC declared a personal interest in agenda item 9 (East of 
Lutterworth Strategic Development Area – Homes England Funding and Early Contractor 
Involvement) as members of Harborough District Council and Charnwood Borough 
Council respectively.  
 

257. Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board Business Development Plan 
2019/20.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board which set out the proposed priorities for the Board’s 
Business Development Plan for 2019/20. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 4”, 
is filed with these minutes.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board Business Development 
Plan 2019/20 be noted and welcomed. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
It has been considered good practice in Leicestershire to submit both the Annual Report 
and Business Development Plan for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults 
Board (LRSAB) to the Cabinet and to the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
The report enables the Cabinet to comment on the Business Development Plan priorities 
and to consider whether they identify matters that it wishes to address in relation to the 
effectiveness of safeguarding within the work of the Authority. 
 
The Annual Report for 2017/18 of the LRSAB was considered by the Cabinet on 14 
September 2018.  The views expressed by the Cabinet were fed into the formative 
process for the Plan and are reflected in the priorities included in the report. 
 

258. Review of Proposals for a Unitary Structure of Local Government for Leicestershire.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive, which presented the findings of 
the Scrutiny Commission’s examination of the County Council’s proposals for a unitary 
structure for local government in Leicestershire and set out additional comments made by 
the Member Working Party on Unitary Structure for Leicestershire.  A copy of the report, 
marked “Agenda Item 5”, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Mr. S. J. Galton CC, Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission, presented the report and 
highlighted that the Scrutiny Commission recognised that there was a need for change, 
adding that there was a need for a clear business case which gave greater clarity on how 
the service model would work. A clear framework for devolution to the Parish and Town 
Councils was also needed and support arrangements in place to enable delivery of more 
local services.  
 

4



 
 

 

 

Mr. Rhodes CC and Mr. Shepherd CC commended the Scrutiny Commission and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees for their detailed consideration of the issues related 
to a unitary structure; recognising the value added to the formation of the business case.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 

(a) That officers be requested to have regard to the views of the Scrutiny Commission 
and the Member Working Party when developing the business case for a unitary 
structure for local government in Leicestershire; 
 

(b) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet on 25 June 2019 presenting the 
business case for a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
The Scrutiny Commission and Member Working Party have made a number of 
suggestions regarding the content of the business case. 
 

259. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Provision - Progress with Delivery of the High 
Needs Block Development Plan.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning the progress made with the delivery of the High Needs Block Development 
Plan to develop local Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision and 
seeking agreement for the Director to proceed with the statutory approvals process.  A 
copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 6”, is filed with these minutes.  
 
The Cabinet praised the Department for the provision detailed in the report for young 
people with SEND despite the lack of Government funding for the High Needs Block.  
Members also commended the positive response shown by schools across the County to 
the call for Expressions of Interest to help expand SEND provision.  Further dialogues 
would be undertaken with schools in the North East (Melton) area. 
 
Mr. Ould CC said that, wherever possible, the Council would seek to place children with 
an Education Health and Care Plan in mainstream schools. The proposals would put the 
Council in a more flexible position to meet needs, and would reduce the need to transport 
children out of or across the county to access specialist facilities. He went on to 
compliment the Director and her team for successfully securing Department for Education 
funding to establish a new build 50-place Social, Emotional and Mental Health School on 
the Iveshead campus in Shepshed.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the progress with the High Needs Block Development Plan be noted, in 

particular:- 
 

i. The encouraging response from maintained schools and academies to the 
call for expressions of interest to develop new Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND) places, which shows a real commitment to help 
deliver change in partnership with the County Council; 

 
ii. That the responses to date to the consultation indicate a high level of 

support for the proposals to develop new SEND provision; 
 

5



 
 

 

 

iii. The success of the bid to the Department for Education for targeted capital 
funding to establish a new build 50-place Free School for pupils with social, 
emotional and mental health needs on the Iveshead campus in Shepshed;  

 
b) That the Director of Children and Family Services be authorised to issue Statutory 

Notices for the development of additional SEND places in the ten maintained 
schools identified in the Appendix to the report, and subsequently to determine the 
Notices where no significant objections are received; 
 

c) That the need for Department for Education (DfE) (Regional Schools 
Commissioner) to give consent for “significant change” to the eleven academies 
identified in the Appendix to the report to develop additional SEND places be noted; 
and 

 
d) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet on 24 May 2019 on the outcome of 

the consultation exercise and, if necessary, to seek determination of the Statutory 
Notices referred to at (b) above.   

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The HNB Development Plan proposals will provide the basis for planning, 
commissioning, and delivering SEND services, improving the quality and sufficiency of 
provision and addressing the overspend, as well as  ensuring that the growth in demand 
for places can be met and that best use is made of the available resources.  
  
The consultation exercise is ongoing (it closes on 31 March), but in order to enable the 
proposed changes to come into effect at the start of the 2019/20 school year in 
September 2019 the Cabinet’s agreement has been sought to issue the necessary 
Statutory Notices now so that the prescribed process can start.  Once the consultation 
exercise is completed a further report will be submitted to the Cabinet. 
 
Statutory Notices are required to enable the development of SEND places for maintained 
schools, and the consent of the DfE through the ‘significant change’ process is needed 
for the development of SEND places within academies. 
 
The full consultation responses and any objections to the Statutory Notices need to be 
considered by the Cabinet prior to final approval of the proposals. 
 

260. Response to Consultation on Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council's Local Plan 
Review: New Directions for Growth.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning the response 
submitted on behalf of the County Council to the consultation issued by Hinckley and 
Bosworth Borough Council relating to the Local Plan Review: New Directions for Growth. 
A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 7”, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Members noted the comments from Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC and Mr. M. T. Mullaney CC, a 
copy of which is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Cabinet expressed its concern about the lack of consultation by the Borough Council 
with the Highway Authority and that the consultation made insufficient reference to the 
policy framework provided by the agreed Strategic Growth Plan (SGP).  

6



 
 

 

 

 
Mr. Pain CC emphasised the need for a constructive, co-operative approach from the 
Borough Council and noted that the County Council had worked hard with partners and 
invested more than £10m over the last five years to improve highways infrastructure in 
the Hinckley area.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
a) That the response set out in the Appendix to the report which has been submitted to 

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council (HBBC) as the views of the County Council 
on its Local Plan Review: New Directions for Growth, be noted;   

 
b) That HBBC’s approach to the consultation on the New Directions for Growth 

document, in particular the insufficient reference made to the policy framework 
provided by the Strategic Growth Plan which the Borough Council endorsed on 27 
November 2018, be noted with concern. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To note the response submitted to the Local Plan Review Consultation, to ensure 
alignment with the strategic outcomes of the County Council’s Strategic Plan, alignment 
of Local Plans with the SGP and to influence the content of Local Plans in the interests of 
local communities. 
 

261. Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways Capital Programme and Highways 
Transportation Work Programme.  
 
The Cabinet received a report from the Director of Environment and Transport which 
sought approval for the Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways Capital 
Programme and the Highways and Transportation Work Programme.  A copy of the 
report, marked “Agenda Item 8”, is filed with these minutes.  
 
Mr. Pain CC commended officers for the quantity of projects included within the 
programme despite budgetary pressures; this was the largest capital programme that had 
been worked on by the Department.  He said that he had recently attended the House of 
Commons where he had raised the need for a longer term funding certainty from the 
Government to programme maintenance and preventative work more efficiently and that 
it would help Highway Authorities if grant funding could be consolidated so that funding 
invested to scope out the case for each bid was not wasted if the bid was unsuccessful.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways Capital Programme and 
the Highways and Transportation Work Programme be approved; 
 

b) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 
Director of Corporate Resources and the Cabinet Lead Member for Environment 
and Transport, be authorised to make minor amendments to the 2019/20 
Highways Capital Programme and Highways and Transportation Work 
Programme; 
 

c) That £6m be allocated from reserves to support and develop the advance 
infrastructure design for schemes in the County set out in paragraphs 36 to 38 of 

7



 
 

 

 

the report, all focused on new or accelerated housing delivery and provision of 
new employment, with the following two schemes being prioritised:- 

 
(i) The A511/A50 Growth Corridor as the Council’s Major Road Network 

priority for delivery from 2020 to 2025; 
 

(ii) The M1 Junction 20a scheme, which has been submitted for the current 
round of Large Local Majors Funding; 

 
d) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 

Director of Corporate Resources and the Cabinet Lead Members for Environment 
and Transport and Corporate Resources, be authorised to prepare and submit 
bids, as appropriate, to secure external funding for delivery of schemes identified 
in the Highways Capital Programme; 
 

e) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 
Director of Corporate Resources, the Director of Law and Governance and the 
Cabinet Lead Member for Corporate Resources, be authorised to enter into such 
contracts as is necessary to progress schemes in the approved Highways Capital 
Programme to allow Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) to take place in advance 
of all external funding required to deliver the scheme being in place, subject to:- 

 
(i) The contract referring to an approved scheme (i.e. one set out in the 

Highways Capital Programme or Medium Term Financial Strategy). 
 

(ii) The Director of Environment and Transport and Director of Corporate 
Resources being satisfied that funding partners are able to provide the 
necessary contributions including cost of ECI Stage 1 should the scheme 
not proceed to Stage 2. 

 
(iii) The value of the contract at Stage 1 being within the amount covered by 

existing delegations to the Director of Environment and Transport and 
Director of Corporate Resources. 

 
(iv) The Director of Environment and Transport following consultation with the 

Director of Corporate Resources will only authorise proceeding to Stage 2 
(construction stage) where the scheme is approved and funding is in place.   

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To approve the Environment and Transport Department’s Highways Capital Programme 
and Highways and Transportation Work Programme for the 2019/20 financial year and to 
enable these to be published in April 2019. 
 
Both programmes may need minor revisions to respond to changing circumstances and 
to ensure optimal use of resources throughout the financial year. 
 
To enable the delivery of large capital schemes using a collaborative approach to work 
with contractors to reduce risk and increase cost certainty.  Working in this way will also 
provide necessary assurance to partners and third party funders contributing to the cost 
of delivering the Highways Capital Programme. 
 

8



 
 

 

 

The allocation of an additional £6m and the delegations to the Director of Environment 
and Transport will enable the Environment and Transport Department to continue a 
proactive approach and to be responsive to opportunities to develop significant transport 
projects to support economic and housing growth.   
 

262. East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area - Homes England Funding and Early 
Contractor Involvement.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Corporate Resources and the 
Director of Environment and Transport which sought approval to accept a grant allocation 
of £14m from Homes England to provide funding for the Lutterworth East Strategic 
Development Area (SDA). A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 9”, is filed with 
these minutes.  
 
Members noted that the conditions associated with the Homes England Local Authority 
Accelerated Construction grant were acceptable to the County Council.  
 
Mr. Rhodes CC welcomed the report, noting the great deal of work done so far in 
assembling the land required for the development.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the grant allocation of £14m from Homes England from its Local Authority 
Accelerated Construction Fund be accepted and the necessary funding 
agreements completed; 
 

b) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 
Director of Corporate Resources, the Director of Law and Governance, and the 
Cabinet Lead Member for Resources be authorised to enter into a contract and to 
proceed with Stage 1 of that contract to allow Early Contractor Involvement in the 
design and undertaking of preliminary works in respect of the future proposed 
construction of the East of Lutterworth spine road and related infrastructure. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The conditions associated with the Homes England Local Authority Accelerated 
Construction grant are considered acceptable.  Agreement to the conditions will secure 
an additional £14m to support four key development projects in Leicestershire including 
£8m for the East of Lutterworth SDA scheme, which will further support delivery of the 
Council’s Strategic Plan objectives. 
 
Entering into the proposed contract to allow Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) for the 
East of Lutterworth transport package will support the development of detailed design, 
and identify and manage risk to give cost certainty for the scheme. It is estimated that the 
ECI and related costs will total up to £1.5m. 
 

9



 
 

 

 

263. Dates of Council Meetings 2019/20 and 2020/21.  
 
The Cabinet received a report of the Chief Executive regarding the proposed dates of 
Council meetings for the next two years. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 10”, 
is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the County Council be recommended to hold meetings on the following dates during 
the next two municipal years:- 
  
Wednesday 10 July 2019 
Wednesday 25 September 2019 
Wednesday 4 December 2019 
Wednesday 19 February 2020 (to consider the budget) 
Wednesday 13 May 2020 (Annual Meeting) 
Wednesday 8 July 2020 
Wednesday 30 September 2020   
Wednesday 2 December 2020 
Wednesday 17 February 2021 (to consider the budget) 
Wednesday 19 May 2021 (Annual Meeting). 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To comply with the Local Government Act 1972 and the County Council’s Standing 
Orders. 
 

264. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from Overview and Scrutiny. 
 

265. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded for 
the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 5 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act and that, in all circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information – 
 
Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – Southern Section – Housing Infrastructure Fund Bid. 
 

266. Urgent Item - Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - Southern Section - Housing 
Infrastructure Fund Bid.  
 
The Cabinet considered an urgent, exempt report of the Director of Corporate Resources 
and the Director of Environment and Transport concerning the Housing Infrastructure 
Fund bid for the southern section of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road.  The report 
was urgent as the latest correspondence had been received from Melton Borough 
Council after the agenda for the Cabinet meeting had been published and a basis for 
moving forward needed to be agreed before the next Cabinet meeting in May.  A copy of 
the report is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 5 and 10 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

10



 
 

 

 

 
RESOLVED:  
 

a) That the risks associated with the bid to the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF), 
which has been made and which include significant financial and delivery risks for 
the County Council with regard to the funding of the South Melton Mowbray 
Distributor Road (MMDR) and associated infrastructure, as well as wider 
reputational risks, be noted; 
 

b) That in regard to the above risks and recognising the wish of the County Council 
for the South MMDR section of the road to be completed: 

 
(i) the agreement of Melton Borough Council for the viability assessment for 

housing development to the north and south of Melton (carried out in May 
2017) to be refreshed and reported as requested by the County Council, be 
noted and welcomed; 

 
(ii) efforts be made to seek a risk-sharing agreement that is acceptable to both 

the County Council and Melton Borough Council; 
 

(iii) the likelihood that Melton Borough Council will be unable to report to its 
Cabinet before the outcome of the HIF bid is known on work in respect of its 
decision to carry out a full options appraisal for commercial development of 
the Melton Sports Village site (land sold by the County Council to Melton 
Borough Council in 2014/15, which includes a restrictive covenant and 
overage payment) be noted; 

 
(iv) the Rt. Hon. Sir Alan Duncan MP be kept informed of developments;  

 
c) That it be noted that work will continue on the development of the HIF bid for the 

South MMDR, noting that it is expected that successful HIF bids will be announced 
by the Government in early summer 2019; 
 

d) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet once the outcome of the HIF bid 
is known - or sooner if events in the meantime dictate that a further decision is 
required; 
 

e) That in any event, it be noted that as previously approved by the Cabinet, a 
Cabinet decision is required to approve a successful HIF bid. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
A successful HIF bid would bring forward the construction of the South MMDR and 
enable the full potential of development planned to the south of Melton Mowbray.  
However, there is a potential funding shortfall that is the subject of discussion with Melton 
Borough Council. 
 
If the HIF bid was successful and funding accepted, the County Council would seek to 
deliver the South MMDR immediately following construction of the northern and eastern 
sections.  In order to do that it is essential that work continues in the interim, otherwise it 
would be extremely challenging to proceed as planned and costs would increase.  In the 
event of the current HIF bid being unsuccessful this work would still be of value for future 
funding bids and planning applications. 
 

11



 
 

 

 

 
 
 

11.00 am - 12.08 pm CHAIRMAN 
29 March 2019 

 

12



            
     AP 

 
 

CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 
 

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES PROVISION – 
RESULTS OF CONSULTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW 

PROVISIONS (HIGH NEEDS BLOCK DEVELOPMENT PLAN) 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the outcome of the public 

consultation on the development of local Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) provision as part of the High Needs Block (HNB) 
Development Plan and the outcome of the publication of the Statutory Notice for 
the development of new provisions in maintained schools. 

  
2. The report also seeks agreement for the Director to determine the Statutory 

Notice, and to agree a shortlist of potential academy trusts (proposers) to be 
recommended to the Regional Schools Commissioner for a decision on a 
preferred Trust to operate the new 80-place Communication and Interaction 
school in Barwell which is scheduled to open in September 2020. 
 

Recommendations 
 
3. It is recommended that: 

 
(a) The online and written responses to the consultation, and feedback given 

through public meetings, in particular the high level of support received for 
the development of new Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
provisions, be noted;  

 
(b) That the Director of Children and Family Services be requested to take the 

views of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (due to 
meet on 4 June) into account in developing the provision; 

 
(c) The fact that there have been no objections made to the Statutory Notice 

(published on 4 April 2019) setting out proposals for the development of new 
SEND provision in maintained schools be noted; 

 
(d) That the Director of Children and Family Services, following consultation with 

the Cabinet Lead Member for Children, Families and Safer Communities, be 
authorised to agree a shortlist of potential academy trusts to be 

13 Agenda Item 4



 

recommended to the Department for Education (Regional Schools 
Commissioner) for a decision on a preferred Trust to operate the new 80- 
place Communication and Interaction school to open in Barwell in September 
2020.  

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4. The public consultation exercise closed on 31 March and has received a very 

positive response. Consideration of the responses received is helping to further 
guide the development of the new SEND provisions and provide assurance for 
the Council that the actions proposed are appropriate. The Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the proposals on 4 
June. 

 
5. Seeking expressions of interest from suitable academy proposers (sponsors) to 

operate the new Communication and Interaction school in Barwell, is in keeping 
with the requirements placed upon the Council by section 6A (the Free School 
Presumption) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as introduced by the 
Education Act 2011.   

 
6. Authorising the Director to decide on the shortlist of potential academy sponsors 

to be recommended to the Regional Schools Commissioner, will enable an early 
decision to be taken, to ensure that the process for the new school remains on 
schedule for September 2020 opening.    

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
7. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, it is intended that, in the absence of any 

objections to the Statutory Notice, that they be determined by the Director of 
Children and Family Services following consultation with the Lead Cabinet 
Member at the end of May. 

 
8. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the 

results of the consultation at its meeting on 4 June 2019.  
 
9. The shortlist of preferred academy sponsors for the new Communication and 

Interaction school, copies of each application, and the detailed evaluation 
undertaken by officers, and any accompanying reports will be forwarded in early 
July to the Department for Education (DfE) (Free School Presumption Team) to 
enable a decision to be taken by the Regional Schools Commissioner on behalf 
of the Secretary of State.  It is hoped that the Commissioner will advise the 
Council of the decision before the start of the autumn term 2019, in order that 
early work with the selected academy sponsor on the opening arrangements for 
the new school can begin.    

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
10. The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced a number of new duties for local 

authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).  The Council’s SEND 
Strategy 2017-2020, agreed by the Cabinet on 10 April 2018, outlines these 

14



 

responsibilities and sets out how the Council and its CCG partners will work 
together to meet these. 
 

11. On 18 December 2018 the Cabinet noted the overspend and forecast deficit for 
the High Needs Block budget and authorised the Director of Children and Family 
Services to commence consultation on the development of SEND provision. 

 
12. The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy agreed on 22 February 2019, 

includes significant savings to be made from 2019/20 to 2022/23.  To balance 
the budget, strong financial control plans and discipline will be essential.  The 
HNB Development Plan savings are in addition to those contained within the 
MTFS and will support the delivery of savings by investing in local provision to 
accommodate current and future demand. 

 
13. On 29 March 2019 the Cabinet noted progress with the HNB Development Plan 

and authorised the Director of Children and Family Services to commence 
publication of the Statutory Notice to enable SEND developments in maintained 
schools and noted that developments in academies would be subject to consent 
of the Regional Schools Commissioner via the “significant change” process. It 
was noted that a further report would be submitted to the Cabinet in May. 

 
14. The Education Act 2011 and subsequent DfE guidance sets out the process to 

be followed by local authorities to establish new schools (‘Academy’ is the legal 
term for state-funded schools that are independent of local authority control and 
are funded directly by the government). 

 

Resource Implications 
 
15. In order to deliver the change required to implement the HNB Development Plan, 

revenue investment will need to be made alongside the capital investment.  The 
total projected cost of the revenue investment is £3.1m over 4 years (2018/19 to 
2012/22).  These costs will be built into the HNB overspend and will be fully 
recovered in Year 5 (2022/23).  The MTFS makes provision for £22.27m of 
capital investment; this excludes the potential new area special school estimated 
to be circa £10m which is noted as a future development if required.  The overall 
capital requirement includes provision for the new Social Emotional and Mental 
Health (SEMH) free school to be funded directly by the DfE, the cost of which is 
anticipated to be circa £8m.  

 
16. The finances associated with this development plan are reflected in the MTFS 

and may need to be updated to reflect the more detailed work to follow to 
determine the actual cost of each new SEND provision.  

 
17. The ‘free school presumption process’ to determine who will run the new 

Communication and Interaction school will have a cost to the County Council but 
this can be met from existing resources within the School Organisation Service.  

 
18. The High Needs Block is part of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) which is 

paid to local authorities in support of Schools Budgets. As a result of additional 
government funding announced in December 2018 and the carry-forward of 

15



 

unused funding to support growth in mainstream schools and an underspend in 
the Early Years Block, an overall deficit on the DSG reserve for 2018/19 will be 
avoided, but this is not expected to be the position for the future.  A DSG deficit 
can only be carried forward with the approval of the Schools Forum and without 
such approval future overspends would fall to the Local Authority. The Schools 
Forum receives regular reports on the financial position and has supported 
actions within the HNB Development Plan and has approved the carry forward of 
the 2018/19 High Needs Block deficit at its meeting on 26 November 

 
19. Further information on the financial background to the HNB Development Plan 

and potential funding requirements for new SEND provision is given in Part B of 
this report, below. 

 
20. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
21. As this is a matter which will affect most areas of the County, a copy of the report 

is being circulated to all members of the County Council. 
 

Officers to contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel:  0116 305 6300 
email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
David Atterbury 
Head of Service - Education Sufficiency 
Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 305 7729  
email: david.atterbury@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

16

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:david.atterbury@leics.gov.uk


 

 
PART B 

 
Background 
 
22. The Education Act 1996 places a statutory duty on the Council to ensure a 

sufficient supply of school places including those for pupils with SEND. The HNB 
Development Plan proposals provide the basis for planning, commissioning, and 
delivering additional SEND places, improving the quality and sufficiency of 
provision and addressing the overspend. This will help ensure that the growth in 
demand for places is met and that best use is made of the available resources.  
 

23. The report to the Cabinet on 18 December 2018 set out the pressures in relation 
to provision for pupils having SEND, and the impact to the High Needs Block 
(HNB) budget.   

 
24. High Needs Block funding provides the funding for support packages for an 

individual with special educational needs (SEN) in a range of settings.  It is also 
intended to support good quality alternative provision for pupils who cannot 
receive their education in schools.  The High Needs funding system supports 
provision for pupils and students with SEN and disabilities (SEND), from their 
birth to 25 years.  

 
25. The High Needs Block DSG Budget for 2018/19 overspent by £2.3m. The DSG 

reserve is expected to remain in overall surplus by £1.7m for 2018/19 (the result 
of an underspend in the Schools Block from school growth not required in 
2018/19 which will be retained to fund future year costs and an underspend 
within the Early Years Block). 

 
26. The total projected increase in provision demand (excluding those pupils 

expected to attend mainstream schools) over the five years 2018 to 2023 is 
expected to exceed 22%; from 2,167 pupils having EHCPs in 2019/20 to 2,652 
by 2022/23.  
 

27. The projected High Needs overspend arises as a result of a number of factors; 
an increase in Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), increases in the 
number of young people over the age of 16 with an EHCP (for whom the Council 
must make provision, potentially up until age 25), and an increase in the number 
of children accessing independent provision because there are insufficient local 
authority units. 

 
28. The HNB Development Plan commenced in the autumn 2018 and seeks to 

address the growing demand for SEND places by the development of; new 
resource bases and units in mainstream schools, expansion of existing special 
schools, and the development of new (free) schools in relation to Communication 
and Interaction (particularly Autism Spectrum Condition) needs and SEMH 
needs. The list of new SEND provisions to be developed was agreed by the 
Cabinet on 29 March 2019. 

 

17



 

29. The process for the addition of SEND provision to local authority maintained 
schools, or the expansion of existing local authority special schools is defined by 
the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 and requires the publication of a Statutory Notice 
where certain criteria are triggered.  

 
30. In contrast adding new SEND provision to academies is subject to the consent of 

the DfE (via the Regional Schools Commissioner) for ‘significant change’ where 
certain criteria are triggered.  This process also requires the academy trust to 
undertake a short period of consultation before the submission of a business 
case to the DfE to set out its proposals for change, and its capacity, skills and 
resource/funding arrangements to successfully deliver this. 

 
31. In parallel with the work to progress the development of the new SEND 

provisions the Director of Children and Family Services has conducted a formal 
consultation process in order to seek the views of parents, schools and others 
having an interest in provision for SEND pupils.  The consultation has sought 
views on how the new provisions to be developed should look, feel and operate 
alongside mainstream and/or special schools to ensure a high quality and 
inclusive education is provided to all pupils having SEND needs. 

  
Results of the Consultation 
 
32. Consultation on the proposals for new SEND provision took place over 12 

weeks, commencing on 7 January 2019 and closing on 31 March. 
 
33. The consultation has involved writing to a wide group of individuals having an 

interest in the development of new SEND provision, including every 
Leicestershire school, parents/carers of pupils having an EHCP, and associated 
parties e.g health, to seek their views. A bespoke document setting out the 
proposals and a questionnaire to enable consultees to provide feedback was 
made available to each consultee, with a hard copy or easy read version made 
available on request.  This information was also made available on the County 
Council’s website for anyone else to submit comments. 

 
34. To support the consultation exercise, five open meetings have been held at 

various special school locations, which also provided an opportunity for parents 
to talk on a one-to-one basis with officers.  The meetings were also open to 
members of the public, school staff and other professionals and were attended 
by approximately 143 people overall.  In addition, there have been discussions 
with the Parent Carer Forum, the staff professional associations and pupils.  

 
35. The responses to the consultation have included 345 responses to the 

consultation questionnaire, the majority of which were provided online.  Details 
are given at the Appendix and a summary is provided below. 

  
36. Respondents to the consultation survey included 198 people who identified as a 

parent/carer of a child with an EHCP, 68 members of school staff, and 79 others, 
largely members of the general public.   

 

18



 

37. Analysis of the 345 responses to the questionnaire shows that there are very 
high levels of support, with the majority of respondents (88%) indicating strong 
agreement (54%) or tending to agree (34%) with the overall proposals. 

 
38. In particular, those in favour of the proposals welcome; 
 

 The potential for shorter travel times to school. 

 The opportunity to be educated in a mainstream school setting. 

 The development of more local specialist places  

 That there is recognition of the need to give priority to the development of 

more SEND provision, and 

 The opportunities for SEND pupils for improved engagement with their local 
communities, and longer-term benefits for their transition to adulthood. 

 
39. There have been relatively few adverse comments made.   These predominantly 

relate to the need to ensure that staff have sufficient training skills and expertise, 
concerns related to transport policy changes, and school organisation matters, 
for example concern that larger class sizes should be avoided. 
 

40. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the 
consultation outcome and progress with the HNB Development Plan as part of a 
SEND update report at its next meeting on 4 June.  It has considered a report on 
the proposals previously, in January 2019, and welcomed plans to increase local 
provision. 
 

Issue of the Statutory Notice 
 
41. The publication of the Statutory Notice to change maintained schools is in 

keeping with Council’s legal obligations as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. 

 
42. The Cabinet agreed in March 2019 that the necessary Statutory Notice could be 

issued in parallel with the consultation, in order to enable the prescribed process 
to start and proposed changes to come into effect at the start of the 2019/20 
school year in September 2019.  

 
 Local authority maintained schools and existing special schools 

 
43. The process for the addition of SEND provision to local authority maintained 

schools, or the expansion of existing local authority special schools is defined by 
the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 and requires the publication of a Statutory Notice 
where certain criteria are triggered.  

 
44. The publication of a Statutory Notice and details of full proposals, as defined by   

Schedule 3 of the Regulations requires that: 
 

a) The proposals must be published on the County Council’s website.  
 

19



 

b) The Local Authority must publish a notification of the proposals (including the 
address of the website where the proposals are published) in a local 
newspaper. 

 
c) The publication of the proposals on the website must contain a statement 

setting out how copies of the proposals maybe obtained, how a person may 
object or comment on the proposals, and a date by which said objections or 
comments must be sent. 

 
d) Within one week of the publication of the proposals, a copy of the proposals 

and the above statement must be sent to: 
 

 The governing body of the schools forming part of the proposals. 

 The parents of every registered pupil having an EHCP. 

 Any other body or person that the proposer thinks appropriate 
 
e) Within one week of receiving a request for a copy of the proposals the Local 

Authority must send a copy to the person requesting it. 
 
f) Following the publication of the Statutory Notice there is a four-week 

representation period for further comment or objection to the proposals. 
 
g) The Local Authority must take a decision on the implementation of the 

proposals within two months of the end of the representation period. 
 

45. The Statutory Notice detailing the planned changes to each maintained school 
and maintained special school was published on 4 April 2019. Following 
publication there followed a 28-day representation period during which 
comments or objections could be raised; this closed on 2 May 2019. 

 
46. There have been no objections received to the Statutory Notice during the 

representation period so, as agreed by the Cabinet in March, the Director of 
Children and Families Services will determine the Notice to allow the various 
SEND developments to proceed, particularly those planned to open in 
September 2019. 

 
47. It should be noted that whilst there have been no objections, a group of parents 

of pupils attending the Ibstock St Deny’s Church of England Infant School SEND 
Unit, subsequently sent an email (after the end of the representation period) 
seeking assurance and further information regarding the expansion of this 
particular unit.  This matter has since been followed up and resolved through a 
meeting between the school and the relevant parents. 

  
Academies 
 

48. Discussions are progressing with each academy seeking to develop new SEND 
provision to ensure, where certain criteria are triggered, the early submission of a 
‘significant change’ application for the consent of the DfE (via the Regional 
Schools Commissioner) to proceed. It is expected that the various consents will 
be given later during the summer term 2019 to allow any development works for 

20



 

the new SEND provisions to progress during the summer holidays for September 
or early autumn opening.  

 
New Barwell Communication and Interaction Free School   
 
49. Work is in progress to establish the new 80-place Communication and Interaction 

School to be located in Barwell, and which is expected to open in September 
2020. This school, which will provide predominantly for pupils with an Autism 
Spectrum Condition and having an EHCP, will be funded from the County 
Council’s 2019/20 and 2020/21 capital programme within the agreed MTFS. 

 
50. In accordance with guidance issued by the DfE, where a local authority considers 

there is a need for a new school in its area it must seek proposals to establish an 
academy (free school) via a process known as the Free School Presumption. 

 

51. The Council invited Expressions of Interest to operate the new Communication 
and Interaction School, from Monday 11 March to Monday 29 April 2019. To 
ensure wide coverage, information was published on the DfE national list of local 
authorities seeking academy/free school proposers, and on the County Council’s 
school organisation webpage.  To encourage interest from local academy 
proposers, information was directly sent to those established Multi Academy 
Trusts (MATs) successfully operating in Leicestershire schools. 

  
52. Each organisation expressing an interest was provided with access to an 

information booklet, ‘Information for Academy Proposers’, and a detailed 
application form.  The information booklet, which covered the background, 
specification for the new school, the application process, timeline, assessment 
criteria and the Council’s expectations of the selected sponsor, can be accessed 
via the following link –  

 
http://bit.ly/2Lyg90G 
 

53. By the closing date four Expressions of Interest had been received from 
Academy Trusts, or those organisations progressing Trust status. This included 
two Trusts currently operating in Leicestershire and two in neighbouring counties. 

 
54. In keeping with DfE guidance for the free school presumption, the Council is 

required to assess all proposals received and forward to the Secretary of State 
via the Regional Schools Commissioner for a decision.  The fundamental 
purpose of the assessments undertaken has been to satisfy the Council in 
relation to each Academy Trust of: 

 

 The capacity to establish the new school on the basis of high expectations 
and high performance to continue to drive up standards and excellence 
within the primary school system, in particular for the most vulnerable 
children.  
 

 A strong desire and vision to work closely with other education providers in 
the locality to promote partnership working and community cohesion.  
 

21

http://bit.ly/2Lyg90G


 

 Evidence of a proven track record of school improvement or sustained high 
standards and how the proposed governance model will drive and support 
high standards.  

 
55. The DfE further requires that all organisations recommended to the Secretary of 

State for consideration are already ‘approved’ sponsors on the DfE register or 
are in the process of progressing sponsor approval.  

 
56. A detailed evaluation of each expression of interest is now underway in 

accordance with the assessment criteria provided within the Information for 
Academy Proposers document.  

 
57. The assessments will follow a three-stage process, comprising the initial written 

application, a presentation by the applicants and an interview by the Council and 
finally a visit by the Council to an existing similar academy currently operated by 
the applicant.  Each stage of the application process will be allocated a weighted 
score, and the total scores for each stage will be aggregated to determine an 
overall evaluation mark for each applicant. 

  
58. The detailed assessment work will lead to a preferred shortlist of applicants 

deemed suitable to establish and operate the new school. In order to keep to 
required timescales to enable the appointed academy trust to be in place by the 
start of the autumn term, a decision on the shortlist would be required to be taken 
in early July; this would allow referral to the Regional Schools Commissioner 
before the end of term.  
 

59. As there is no Cabinet meeting scheduled for early July, and mindful that the 
Regional Schools Commissioner will take the final decision on appointment, then 
members are asked to agree that the Director of Children and Family Services in 
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Children, Families and Safer 
Communities agree the shortlist of preferred academy trusts.     

  
Conclusions 
 
60. There has been an excellent response received from parents/carers, schools and 

the public regarding the establishment of new units/resource bases and to 
expand existing special schools. This is extremely encouraging and 
demonstrates a real commitment to make the new provisions a success.   

 
61. The successful outcome to the Statutory Notice and other actions taken to 

develop the new provisions alongside other improvements planned within the 
HNB Development Plan will enable early their early establishment and a 
sustainable growth model to be adopted to help meet the demand for SEND 
places. 

 
62. The expressions of interest received to operate the new Communication and 

Interaction school, based on the assessments so far, demonstrate a high quality 
of expertise, knowledge and capacity relative to provision for SEND pupils, this 
will clearly be of assistance to enable a successful start for the new school and 
delivery of actions set out in the HNB development Plan.    

22



 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
63. The purpose of the HNB Development Plan is to ensure equality and equity of 

opportunity for all Leicestershire children and young people irrespective of their 
need or locality. 

 
64. In keeping with the Public Sector Equality Duty, to have due regard to the need 

to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not, a Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment for the proposed 
change has been completed to help address any necessary adaptation to the 
Development Plan.  At this stage no immediate matters of concern have 
emerged however the proposed consultation will help identify where revision to 
the Plan might be needed to take account of the impact to individual 
families/pupils, and to ensure continued equality of opportunity for those affected.  

 
65. The EHRIA screening document has been completed and showed that a full 

EHRIA was not required. This will be kept under review as the proposals for the 
new provision move through the planning and development stages and 
adjustments made accordingly. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council Special Educational Needs and Disability  
Strategy 2017-2020. 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/1/9/Leicestershire-SEND-Strategy-2017-20.pdf  
 

Report to the Cabinet on 18 December 2018 – Special Educational Needs and 
Disability – High Needs Block Development Plan  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5793&Ver=4  
 

Report to the Cabinet on 29 March 2019 - Special Educational Needs and Disability – 
Progress with the delivery of the HNB Development Plan 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5601&Ver=4 
 

Report to the Schools Forum on 26 November 2018 – High Needs Recovery Plan 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1018&MId=5493&Ver=4 
 

Appendix 
 
Appendix  - Summary of Consultation responses 
 

 

23

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/1/9/Leicestershire-SEND-Strategy-2017-20.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5793&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5601&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1018&MId=5493&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEND Specialist Provision 
Consultation 

 
Consultation survey results 

 

 
April 2019 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
School Organisation Service 
Leicestershire County Council 

Appendix 
25



2 

 

Contents 

 

Key findings ............................................................................................................................... 3 

Background ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Overview of the process............................................................................................................ 4 

Communications and media activity ................................................................................................... 4 

Questions ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Analysis methodology ............................................................................................................... 5 

Demographic analysis ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Results ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

Respondent profile .................................................................................................................... 6 

Question 1 - Role ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Question 2 – Do you have Special Educational needs or disabilities (SEND)............................ 6 

Question 3 – Where currently SEND pupils attend ................................................................... 7 

Question 4 – In which setting are you responding from? ……………………………………………………..8  

Question 5 & Question 6 – Details of Organisation .................................................................. 8 

Question 7 – Agree or Disagree with each proposal ................................................................ 9 

Question 8/9/10 – Further open comments on each proposal .............................................. 10 

Question 11 – Agree or Disagree Overall with proposals ....................................................... 11 

Question 12 - Ideas for any new provision ............................................................................. 12 

Question 13 - Ideas on Design for new provision ……………………………………………………………….13 

Question 14 – Any other comments ....................................................................................... 14 

Appendix 1: Questionnaire ..................................................................................................... 13 

Appendix 2: Profile of respondents ........................................................................................ 21 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



3 

 

Key findings 
 

 In total, 345 responses were received.  The majority (343) completed the survey online, with the 

remainder returning a paper response (2). 

 

 The results indicate a higher proportion of females (201) than males (26) responded to the survey and 

a notable proportion of respondents identified themselves as a parent or carer of a young person aged 

between 5-10 years.  The majority of respondents who provided a valid postcode were from the 

Charnwood District. 

 

 Most people who completed the survey were responding as parents of a child with SEND (198) or 

Teacher/Governor/Trustee or employee of a school (68). 

 

 The majority of respondents (88%) indicated that they ‘strongly agree (54%) & tend to agree (34%)’ with 

the overall proposals.   

 

 The highest number of respondents (62%) have children with SEND attending mainstream schools (not 

attending specialist provision). 

 

 When asked to provide comments for the answer to Q7 ‘to what extent do you agree or disagree with 

each of our proposals’, many respondents highlighted positive benefits, the most frequently occurring 

themes being: 
 
o Shorter travel times to school 

o Opportunity to be in a mainstream setting 

o Creating more specialist places 

o Recognition of increasing needs for specialist help 

 

 In response to Q12, on views on ‘how the new provision should look, how it should feel and how it 

might operate’ the highest volume of respondents felt that the following aspects are very important: 

 

o Has strong links to other agencies who are encouraged to work in school i.e. Health, 
occupational therapists, Speech & Language etc. 

o Has a strong emphasis on pastoral care i.e. information, advice and guidance to support 
personal development and life skills. 

o Has good access to outside space and facilities to support a rich curriculum. 
o Operates with smaller class sizes with pupils of similar needs. 
o Has good links to potential employers and continuing education for secondary aged pupils. 

 

 

 

27



4 

 

Background 
 

Nationally there is now an increasing demand for places in specialist education provision for children and 

young people with SEND needs. 

 

The last five years have been characterised by a rapid and unprecedented rise in demand for services for 

children with SEND. Data published by the Department for Education shows that between 2014 and 2018 

the number of children and young people with an education and health care plan (EHCP) or statement of 

SEN increased by 35% from 237,111 to 319,819. This is in stark comparison with the previous five years 

(2010 to 2014) in which the number of children and young people with statements / EHCPs increased by 

just 4%. The data published by the DfE is based on a data collection in January 2018. In addition there are 

now about one million children and young people not on a plan but requiring ‘SEN support’. 

 

In Leicestershire the position also reflects the national picture. Our forecast tells us that over the next few 

years demand for specialist education places will continue to increase - we believe by up to 22% over the 

next five years. 

 

The further anticipated growth will place an unprecedented demand on our available budgets we 

therefore need to ensure that we take action now to ensure that we use the funds available to us wisely 

and, more importantly, ensure that every child has access to appropriate education provision to meet 

their needs. 

 

Having specialist resources and staff working in and alongside mainstream schools will help to share 

expertise so that all providers in the area can benefit from the knowledge and advice available.  It is also 

important that children should have the opportunity to be educated as close as possible to their local 

communities. We believe that by tackling this and developing more provision we will not only improve 

choice for parents/carers and pupils but we will also make better use of the funding available. 

 
Overview of the process 
 

The consultation ran from 7 January until 31 March 2019, with background information and a 

questionnaire being available online (and hard copies on request/ available at events).   Five open (public) 

meetings were held for members of the public at special schools across the county to provide the 

opportunity for the Council to hear the public’s views on the proposals.  Approximately 143 people 

attended the meetings. 
  

Communications and media activity 
Our key audience for any communication were parents of children with SEND and the general public.  

Background information was added to the Council’s ‘Have your say’ pages.  Throughout the consultation, 

the council also took part in TV and radio interviews, and provided statements for print media. The key 

message concerned encouraging people to give their views on helping to shape the future of SEND 

provision.  

 

28



5 

 

The survey was published online and a printed (offline) version was also made available.  A freepost 

return address was provided for completed surveys to encourage responses from those persons without 

access to ICT. 

 

Questions 
The survey asked for views from parents/carers and other members of the public to what extent they 

agree or disagree with the proposals.  
 

The questionnaire also included a range of demographic questions, namely: gender, gender identity at 

birth, age, disability, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, postcode, whether the respondents are 

parents or carers of a young person aged 17 or under (also by age of children), whether the respondents 

are parents or carers of a person aged 18 or over, whether the respondents are council employees. See 

Appendix 1 for the full questionnaire.  
 

Analysis methodology 
Graphs and tables have been used to assist explanation and analysis. Question results have been reported 

based on those who provided a valid response, i.e. taking out the ‘don’t know’ responses and no replies. 
 

Demographic analysis 
The questionnaire included a range of demographic questions. The demographic profile of those 

responding to the survey is reported in Appendix 2. Responses indicate that the majority of respondents 

are of White ethnicity.  The tables in Appendix 2 also indicate a higher proportion of females than males 

responded to the survey. A notable proportion of respondents (204) also identified themselves as a 

parent or carer of a young person aged 17 or under.  55 respondents provided a valid postcode and as 

chart 1 shows, the majority of respondents (13) were from the Borough of Charnwood. 
 

 

Chart 1 – District location of respondent of organisation, business, community group, school/other 
educational establishment               (based on 55 valid responses to Q5) 

 
 
 

 

City of Derby 1

City of Peterborough  1

Broxtowe District  1

City of Nottingham  1

Melton District  4

Hinckley and Bosworth District  5

City of Leicester  5

Harborough District  7

North West Leicestershire District  8

Blaby District  9

Charnwood District   13

29



6 

 

Results 
During the consultation period, 345 people responded to the survey. The majority (343) took part by 

completing an online survey, with the remainder returning a paper response (2). 

 

Respondent profile 
A full respondent profile can be found in Appendix 2. 
 
 

Question 1 - Role 
Respondents were asked in what capacity they were responding to the survey. Chart 2 below shows the 

breakdown. It shows that most people who completed the survey were responding as parents/carers of a 

child with SEND.  Chart 2 illustrates, a number of responses were from teacher / governor / trustee or any 

other employee of a school and members of the public. 

  

Chart 2 - Role in which responding (Q1)            (Base: 345)                   

 

 

Question 2 – Do you have special educational needs or disabilities (SEND)?  

 

 

Question 3 – Do you have children with special educational needs or 
disabilities (SEND) in any of the following settings? 
Respondents were asked if they have children with special educational needs or disabilities (SEND) in any 

of the following settings:  Chart 3 shows that 122 respondents (62%) selected mainstream (not attending 

specialist provision). 

 

 

 

 

30



7 

 

Chart 3 – Where currently SEND pupils attend (Q3)      (Base: 214)      
   

 

 
Question 4 – In which setting are you a teacher/ Governor / Trustee / or other 
employee of a school? 
 

 Chart 4 – In which setting are you responding from? (Q4)    (Base: 70)      

 

 
 
Question 5 & 6 Provide details of Organisation  
 

Respondents to question 4 were asked in question 5 to provide details of the organisation, business, 
community group, school/other educational establishment that they represented.  Chart 1 on page 6 
shows from the analysis of the valid postcodes that the highest respondents were from Charnwood 
District.  When asked in question 6 if the response was their organisation’s official response it was 
confirmed that it was not.  
 

Chart 5 – Are you providing your organisation's official response to the consultation? (Q6)  
   

 
 

 

 

31



8 

 

Question 7 – to what extent do you agree or disagree with each of our 
proposals?   
 

Respondents were asked to what extent they agree or disagree with each of the proposals.  The results 

indicated that the majority of respondents ‘strongly agree’ and ‘tend to agree’ with each of the proposals.  

 

Chart 6 – To what extent do you agree or disagree with each of our proposals? (Q7)    

 

 
 

Extracts of responses to the overall proposals in Q7 

 
 

 

 

 

32



9 

 

Question Q8/Q9/Q10– further comments 
Respondents were asked to provide further comments on the proposals detailed in Q7 by asking:  What, if 

anything, do you like about our proposals? Is there anything you dislike about our proposals? Are there 

any negative impacts? Is there anything we could improve about our proposals or anything else we should 

consider?  

 

257 respondents detailed what they liked about the proposals, a recurring theme was recognising the 

need to address SEND provision particularly on mainsteam sites.  236 respondents detailed what they 

disliked about the proposals this was mainly targeted at concerns over increased class size and the 

timeline of delivering new provision.  215 responses detailed what they felt could be improved about the 

proposal the majority of responses wanted to see mainstream schools receive more support both 

financially and with training for staff.  

 

Extracts of responses for further comments in Q8/Q9 & Q10 

 

 
 

33



10 

 

Question Q11 – To what extent do you agree or disagree with our proposals 
overall? 

The majority of respondents (88%) as shown in chart 7 indicated that they ‘strongly agree (54%) & tend to 

agree (34%)’ with the overall proposals.  Further comments provided supported more SEND provision and 

agreed that this is a positive way forward for Leicestershire. 

 

 
 
Chart 7– Do you Agree or Disagree with our proposals? (Q11)    (Base: 339)      
 

 

Extract of responses as to why respondents strongly agreed to the proposal (Q11). 
 

 

 

 

34



11 

 

Question Q12 – Ideas for any new provision 
 

Respondents were asked about their ideas for the new provision especially how it should look, how it 

should feel and how it might operate.  Thirteen statements about the provision were included in the 

consultation with a ranking to be completed on whether the statement was very important, fairly 

important, not very important, not at all important and don’t know. 

 

The majority of respondents highlighted (300) that it is very important that new provision has strong links 

to other agencies who are encouraged to work in school i.e. Health, Occupational Therapists, Speech & 

Language Therapists etc.  Followed by (289) respondents that referenced that it is very important that the 

provision has a strong emphasis on pastoral care i.e. information, advice and guidance to support 

personal development and life skills. 

 

Chart 8 – Ideas for any new provision (Q12) 

 

35



12 

 

Question Q13 – Is there anything else you think we should consider in the 
design of any new provision? 
 
Respondents highlighted important factors that need to be included in the design of the new provision i.e. 
allow rooms to be multi-functional, good acoustics, relaxed atmosphere etc. 
 

 
 

Question Q14– Do you have any other comments? 
 

Extract of final responses for final comments (Q14). 
 

 
 
 

36



13 

 

Appendix 1: Questionnaire 

 
 

 

37



14 

 

38



15 

 

39



16 

 

 

40



17 

 

41



18 

 

42



19 

 

43



20 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44



21 

 

Appendix 2: Profile of respondents 
 
 
What is your gender identity? 
 
Male (26)                                                                      11% 
 

Female (201)                                                                                                                                           88% 

Other (e.g. pangender, non-binary etc.) (2)       1% 

 

 

Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at birth? 
 

Yes (225) 
 

No (1) 0% 

100% 

 
 

 

Are you a parent or carer of a young person aged 17 or under? 
 

Yes (204) 
 

No (26) 11% 

89% 

 

 

 
If yes, what are the ages of the children in your care? Please tick all 
applicable (If yes, what are the ages of the children in your care?) 

 
0-4 (43) 

 

5-10 (122) 
 

11-15 (103) 
 

16-17 (21) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
7% 

15%  
 
 

 
36% 

 

 
42% 

 

 

 
Are you a carer of a person aged 18 or over? 

 
Yes (24) 

 

No (204) 

11%  

 
89% 

45



22 

 

 

Do you have a long-standing illness, disability or infirmity? 
 

Yes (43)                            19% 

No (186)                                                                                                               81% 

 

 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
 

White (210)                                                                                                                   94% 
 

Mixed (5) 2% 
 

Asian or Asian British (7) 3% 
 

Black or Black British (2) 1% 
 

Other ethnic group (1) 0% 

 

 

What is your religion? 
 

No religion (109) 

Christian (all denominations) (104) 

Buddhist (2) 1% 
 

Hindu (2) 1% 

Jewish (-) 

Muslim (3)  1% 

Sikh (2) 1% 

48% 
 

46% 

 

Any other religion (4)  2% 

 

 

Are you an employee of Leicestershire County Council? 
 

Yes (27) 
 

No (201) 

12%  

 
88% 

 

 

Many people face discrimination because of their sexual orientation and for this reason we have 
decided to ask this monitoring question. You do not have to answer it, but we would be grateful if 
you could tick the box next to the category which describes your sexual orientation. 

 
Bi-sexual (5) 2% 

 

Gay (-) 

Heterosexual / straight (205) 

                                 Lesbian (1) 1% 
 
                                     Other (5)  2%

 
 
 

 
95% 

46



 

 23 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
School Organisation Service 

 
Children and Family Services 
Leicestershire County Council 
County Hall 
Glenfield 
Leicester 
LE3 8RF 
 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 
 

SUPPORTING CHILDREN IN CARE AND CARE LEAVERS IN 
LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES  
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Cabinet of the new arrangements for 

supporting care leavers in Leicestershire, including development of the Care 
Leavers Offer, the draft Care Leavers Protocol (housing), the Care Leavers 
Covenant and ‘The Promise’. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that 
 

(a) The approach to supporting Care Leavers as outlined in the report be 
agreed, noting in particular: 

 

 The Promise, setting out the Council’s commitment, 

 The Care Leavers Offer, of support available,  

 The Care Leavers Covenant, from the private, public and 
voluntary sectors in Leicestershire, and 

 The draft Care Leavers Protocol (housing), to help address 
accommodation related needs; 

 
(b) The ongoing development of closer working relationships with partners 

including district councils, local businesses, and the voluntary and 
community sector, to improve outcomes for Care Leavers be welcomed; 

 
(c) The agreement reached with district councils for Care Leavers to be 

eligible for 100% Council Tax Support up to the age of 25 be welcomed. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. The County Council is the ‘corporate parent’ for children and young people in 

care and seeks to do all it can to ensure that they, and every young person 
leaving its care, has the same support and opportunities available to others.     

 

49 Agenda Item 5



4. Legislation and guidance emphasise that the corporate parenting is a role that 
needs to be shared not only across the whole of the Council but with other 
partners in the local authority area, such as district councils (which have 
responsibilities as the Housing Authorities), the NHS, schools and colleges, and 
other agencies.  Working in partnership with the public, private, and voluntary 
and community sector will help ensure positive and aspirational outcomes for 
care leavers in Leicestershire. 

 
5. It is recognised that young people leaving care frequently face more challenges 

living independently for the first time. To help mitigate the financial problems for 
care leavers, all local authorities in Leicestershire have therefore agreed, with 
effect from 1 April 2019, to waive the requirement for Care Leavers to pay 
Council Tax until after the age of 25. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
6. Each of the 7 district councils has taken the draft Care Leavers Protocol 

(housing) through their own governance and accountability framework. The 
work is ongoing. Once agreed by district councils the protocol will go to 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny for consultation prior to 
implementation in the Department. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 

7. The work being presented is part of the overall support to children in care and 
care leavers within Leicestershire. The Promise and The Offer are all 
requirements of the Children and Social Work Act 2017. 

 
8. The draft Leicestershire Care Leavers Protocol (housing) is an agreement 

which establishes the roles and responsibilities of signatory partners towards 
accommodation pathways for care leavers. It outlines the respective statutory 
responsibilities of Children and Family Services Departments and the Local 
Housing Authorities (LHAs) in ensuring care leavers are supported to move on 
to suitable accommodation. 

 

9. The work outlined in this report will contribute towards the delivery of the  
 

i. The Council’s Strategic Plan, in particular the outcomes Affordable and 
Quality Homes and Keeping People Safe; 
 

ii. The Children and Families Partnership Plan, agreed by the Cabinet in 
June 2018, which aims to improve outcomes for all children and young 
people aged 0 - 19 (25) across Leicestershire; and  

 

iii. The Care Placement Strategy, agreed by the Cabinet in July 2018, 
which sets out the Department’s whole system approach to care 
placements for children and young people. 

 

50



Resource Implications  
 

10. Whilst the proposed draft Care Leavers Protocol (housing) and The Promise 
will not create any additional resource requirements for the Department, the 
new duties introduced through the Children and Social Work Act 2017 requires 
local authorities to provide Personal Advisor support to all care leavers up to 
the age of 25. This new duty commenced on 1 April 2018. In order to fulfil this 
duty additional Personal advisers have been put into the Care Levers Team. 

 

11. The Director of Corporate Resources and Director Law and Governance have 
been consulted on this report.  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
12. A copy of this report will be circulated to all members.  

 
Officers to Contact    
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel. 0116 305 7441 Email. jane.moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care 
Tel. 0116 305 5479 Email. Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 
 
Nicci Collins, Head of Service for Children’s Social Care 
Tel. 0116 305 4504 Email. Nicci.Collins@leics.gov.uk 

51

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Nicci.Collins@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
13. As a corporate parent the County Council has a collective responsibility to be a 

good parent to the children and young people in its care, so that they grow up 
happy, achieve well and are able to make a success of their lives. This means 
the Council is expected to do what any responsible parent would do for their 
children; care about their children’s safety and their health, their education and 
their leisure interests, their friendships and their futures.  

 
14. The Children Act 1989 requires the responsible authority (the County Council) 

to continue to provide various forms of advice, assistance and guidance to 
young people over the age of 18 making the transition from care to more 
independent living arrangements.  

 
15. The Children (Leaving Care) Act (2000) Regulations and Guidance also detail 

how the local authority’s strategy for care leavers should where possible 
consider: 
 

 The diverse accommodation and support needs of care leavers 

 The capacity to offer young people a degree of choice of 
accommodation 

 Existing and planned provision of safe and affordable accommodation 

 Gaps in provision 

 Priority setting 

 The need for contingency arrangements. 
 

16. The Local Authority must also have due regard to Chapter 22: Care Leavers of 
the Homelessness Code of Guidance, updated to reflect the new measures set 
out in the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, about the following: 

 

 Corporate parenting principles 

 Joint working arrangements 

 The prevention and relief of homelessness 

 Assessing priority need 

 Suitability of accommodation. 
 
17. Under previous legislation, local authorities were required to provide care 

leavers with Personal Advisor support until they reached the age of 21, and up 
to the age of 25 only if they were engaged in education or training. The 
Children and Social Work Act 2017 introduced a new duty on local authorities 
to provide this support to all care leavers towards whom the local authority had 
duties, up to the age of 25, if it is wanted. This includes those who return to the 
local authority requesting Personal Advisor support after the age of 21 and up 
to the age of 25. This new duty commenced on 1 April 2018. 

 

18. The County Council aims to support the majority of its children and young 
people within their own families and communities. Preventative services 
provide targeted supported in an attempt to avoid a child needing to become 

52



accommodated by the authority and will be key in ensuring everything is done 
to keep families together where appropriate. There are however a small group 
of children and young people who will need to be accommodated. Where a 
child or group of siblings is in need of accommodation the authority will strive to 
place children with a family member in the first instance as long as they are 
able to meet their needs. It is only once this has been exhausted that other care 
is considered.  

 

19. There are currently 590 children in care and 260 care leavers for whom the 
local authority is responsible. 

 

20. The Children and Family Services Department has developed a number of 
initiatives that set out the Council’s commitment to children in care and care 
leavers and the protocols for ensuring the best support is provided to care 
leavers. These are:  

 

i. The Promise; 
ii. The Care Leavers Offer; 
iii. The Care Leavers Covenant; 
iv. The (draft) Care Leavers Housing Protocol. 

 
21. Throughout the development of these documents, a variety of stakeholders 

have been consulted:  
 

i. Young people have been proactively involved in sharing their views on the 
draft Care Leavers Protocol (housing), The Promise and The Care 
Leavers Covenant. This was done through the children in care council and 
Supporting Young People After Care Group where their views were added 
to, and used in shaping, the Protocol. 
 

ii. Staff have been engaged through team meetings and staff events to 
share their views as well as input into standards expected when working 
with children in care and care leavers; 
 

iii. A launch event was held on 1 April 2019 when agencies and young 
people came together to sign up to The Promise; 
 

iv. Partners and district councils have been actively involved in the writing 
and support of the Care Leavers Protocol and will continue to engage with 
them going forward. This has taken place through regular meetings were 
views have been sought to shape and develop the protocol. 

 
The Promise 

 

22. ‘The Promise’ (Appendix A) is the commitment the Local Authority and 
agencies such as district, Police, Health (Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Provider Services) and voluntary sector organisations, have made to Children 
in Care and care leavers to work together to improve outcomes for them.  The 
Promise sets out our commitment to children in care and care leavers that:- 

 

53



We will: 
i. Support you 
ii. Believe in you 
iii. Respect your identity 
iv. Listen to you 
v. Support you to find a place you can call home 
vi. Inform you 
vii. Be a lifelong champion. 

 
23. The Promise was launched on 1 April 2019. Further detail is provided in 

Appendix A to this report. 
 
Care Leavers Offer 
 
24. The Care Leavers Offer (Appendix B) is a statutory requirement under the 

Children and Social Work Act 2017 to deliver an extended offer to young 
people up to the age of 25 years and the work required to achieve the best 
outcomes for these young people in Leicestershire. 

 
25. The Offer sets out the Council’s and partners’ commitment, covering - 

 
i. Benefits and income: There is now a protocol in place with the Department 

of Work and Pensions that recognises the specific needs of care leavers 
claiming benefits and helping them maximise their income. 
 

ii. Careers Advice: The careers advice service has been brought in-house. 
This has helped to increase the number of care leavers in education, 
employment and training.  

    
iii. Local Businesses: The Department is working with colleagues in the Chief 

Executives Department to see what help local businesses can offer to care 
leavers, for example through discounts or personal support. 

 
iv. Multi-agency risk panel: A multi-agency risk-management panel meets 

every 2 months to discuss the needs of the most vulnerable care leavers 
and put together plans to help them. 

 
v. Council Tax Exemption: All local authorities in Leicestershire have agreed 

to council tax exemption for all care leavers up to the age of 25 to be in 
place by the beginning of April 2019.  

    
vi. Apprenticeships: From May 2018 6 apprenticeship opportunities at the 

County Council were ring-fenced for Leicestershire care leavers. 
  

vii. Higher Education: As at the beginning of October 2018, 8 young people 
started at University, 1 young person has started a Master’s Degree, 1 
young person has started a Level 5 course at college (foundation degree), 
and 7 young people are in their second or third year at University. 

 

54



26. On their 18th and 21st birthdays, care leavers are sent a letter from the Director 
of Children and Family Services enclosing a copy of ‘The Offer’ and setting out 
the Services and support on offer. This is followed up with an annual letter until 
they reach 25. 

 
Care Leavers Covenant 
 
27. The Covenant (Appendix C) has been developed in response to ‘Keep on 

Caring’ a major policy document (published in 2016) on support for young 
people from care to independence. A key policy commitment in the ‘Keep on 
Caring’ paper is a strategic pledge to introduce a Care Leaver Covenant. This 
is a promise made by the private, public and voluntary sectors to provide 
support for care leavers aged 16-25 to help them to live independently.  The 
County Council is developing its links with local business and partners as part 
of the Care Leavers Covenant. 

 
28. The aim of the Covenant is to encourage partners and private businesses to 

provide additional support for those leaving care; making available different 
types of support and expertise from that statutorily provided by local authorities.  

 

29. Drawing on the resourcefulness and imagination of their staff and their working 
environment, organisations have the potential to offer new perspectives and 
professional expertise.  

 

30. Organisations can offer opportunities and a new way of thinking to aid the care 
leavers in moving forward successfully to the next phase of their lives. Each 
organisation that commits to the Covenant will be able to offer a support 
package to care leavers that is tailored to its specific expertise.  

 

31. The organisation would underpin its commitment to the Covenant with a 
specific ‘offer’, setting out what it can provide for care leavers, such as: 

 
i. Opportunities to enter the world of work, such as offering work experience 

placements, work shadowing placements, internships, traineeships and 
apprenticeships;  
 

ii. Additional support. For example, one-to-one mentoring or pastoral support 
and guidance on various aspects of their lives, financial guidance, 
career/employment guidance, educational prospects and opportunities;  

  
iii. Opportunities to broaden their horizons e.g. concessionary access to 

sport, leisure and cultural activities along with discounted retail offers;  
 

iv. Encouraging their involvement in specific activities and events which 
inspire their personal interest and widen their employment prospects;  

 
v. Providing or supporting them in educational and training opportunities that 

will improve their vocational and educational profile and open future 
employment opportunities. 

 

55



The Draft Care Leavers Protocol (housing) 
 

32. The draft Care Leavers Housing Protocol (Appendix D) sets out a formal 
agreement between the County Council, Blaby District Council, Charnwood 
Borough Council, Harborough District Council, Hinckley and Bosworth Borough 
Council, Melton Borough Council, North West Leicestershire District Council, 
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, The Bridge (a housing support service), 
and partner agencies working with care leavers. 

 
33. The Protocol establishes the aims, roles and responsibilities of signatory 

partners towards accommodation pathways for care leavers and sets out the 
support offered to care leavers, in particular in ensuring the most suitable 
accommodation is provided for this group of young people. Dialogue with 
districts is ongoing and their intention is to complete and launch the Protocol in 
the Autumn of 2019.  

 
34. The purpose of the protocol is: 

 

i. To ensure the effective discharge of corporate responsibilities between the 
County Council (Children and Family Services), Local Housing Authorities, 
The Bridge and other partners by jointly addressing the diverse 
accommodation needs of young people leaving care in Leicestershire and 
related equality issues. 
 

ii. To identify gaps in service provision for young people, taking a multi-
agency approach to address these gaps by meeting where appropriate to 
discuss and explore such gaps further with the view to finding a realistic 
solution. 

 

iii. To prevent care leavers becoming homeless, entering the homelessness 
system, and to avoid the use of unsuitable Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation. 

 

iv. To ensure that there is a range of good quality accommodation options to 
meet the needs of young people leaving care. 
 

Council Tax Exemption 
 
35. All district councils in Leicestershire have now agreed that care leavers should 

be exempt from the payment of Council Tax until the age of 25. This 
arrangement was put in place in recognition of the particular difficulties faced by 
care leavers when living independently for the first time, often without the 
support of family or much financial education.  This has been in place since 1 
April 2019.   
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

36. All children in care and care leavers are vulnerable and have specific needs 
due to them being in care. The documents within this report set out the 
arrangements that will be in place to support all children in care and care 

56



leavers enabling young people to have positive outcomes regardless of their 
protected characteristics. 

 
37. Once the protocol has been agreed an EHRIA screening will be undertaken. 
 
Background Papers  
 
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted 
 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted 
 
Keep on caring: supporting young people from care to independence 
A cross-government strategy to transform support for young people leaving care. 
http://bit.ly/2PVJwbP 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - The Promise      
Appendix B - The Care Leavers Offer     
Appendix C - The Care Leaver Covenant   
Appendix D - The Care Leavers Protocol (housing)  
 
 

57

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
http://bit.ly/2PVJwbP


This page is intentionally left blank



by Leicestershire County Council and Partners

to children in care and care leavers 

to children in care and care leavers 
• Provide emotional support

• Whatever you do we will 
be there

• Ensure all your needs are 
met

• Provide advice, 
information, practical and 
financial support

• We will make sure that 
you know what your rights 
are

• Will not judge you if things 
go wrong. We all make 
mistakes!

• We will value your 
strengths 
and talents

• Support you to overcome 
any stumbling blocks you 
face

• Support you to achieve 
your goals

• Embrace your individuality

• Encourage your aspirations

• Support you to succeed in 
life

• We will respect your 
unique identity

• Support you to develop 
your own personal beliefs 
and values

• Accept, respect and 
celebrate your identity, 
culture and heritage

• Value, respect and 
support important  
relationships

• Encourage you to express 
your identity positively

• We will listen and respect 
you

• Strive to understand your 
point of view

• Place you at the heart of 
all decisions

• Support you to talk about 
your worries and happy 
times

• Support you to seek 
independent advocacy

• We will do our best to 
find you a home near to 
people who are important 
to you

• Ensure you feel safe 
and secure 

• As you grow we will 
support you to learn new 
skills to support your 
independence 

• We are here to support if 
things go wrong

• Legal entitlements and 
services

• Up to date and accurate 
information

• Support you to access your 
care records

• Provide information 
throughout your journey

• We will support you if you 
need to make a complaint

• Support you break down 
barriers to other agencies

• Work together with other 
services to better meet 
your needs

• Encourage and support 
you to make positive life 
choices

• Will make sure you know 
how to get support when 
you need it 

• Trust and respect you

• Provide emotional support

• Whatever you do we will 
be there

• Ensure all your needs are 
met

• Provide advice, 
information, practical and 
financial support

• We will make sure that 
you know what your rights 
are

• Will not judge you if things 
go wrong. We all make 
mistakes!

• We will value your 
strengths 
and talents

• Support you to overcome 
any stumbling blocks you 
face

• Support you to achieve 
your goals

• Embrace your individuality

• Encourage your aspirations

• Support you to succeed in 
life

• We will respect your 
unique identity

• Support you to develop 
your own personal beliefs 
and values

• Accept, respect and 
celebrate your identity, 
culture and heritage

• Value, respect and 
support important  
relationships

• Encourage you to express 
your identity positively

• We will listen and respect 
you

• Strive to understand your 
point of view

• Place you at the heart of 
all decisions

• Support you to talk about 
your worries and happy 
times

• Support you to seek 
independent advocacy

• We will do our best to 
find you a home near to 
people who are important 
to you

• Ensure you feel safe 
and secure 

• As you grow we will 
support you to learn new 
skills to support your 
independence 

• We are here to support if 
things go wrong

• Legal entitlements and 
services

• Up to date and accurate 
information

• Support you to access your 
care records

• Provide information 
throughout your journey

• We will support you if you 
need to make a complaint

• Support you break down 
barriers to other agencies

• Work together with other 
services to better meet 
your needs

• Encourage and support 
you to make positive life 
choices

• Will make sure you know 
how to get support when 
you need it 

• Trust and respect you

We willWe willWe will
supportsupport

you

We

in you

We

in you
believe

We willWe willWe willWe willWe will
respectrespect

your identity

We willWe will
listen

to you

We will support

home
you to find a place 

home
you can call

We willWe willWe will
inform

you

We will be 

a lifelonga lifelong
champion

Produced by Leicestershire County Council as part of the Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership

59

anlcox
Text Box
Appendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Care Leavers Offer 

61

anlcox_1
Text Box
Appendix B



2  Leicestershire County Council

This leaflet tells you about all the support that we have in 
Leicestershire for you as a care leaver.  Moving out of care 
can mean lots of changes and we want to make this a 
positive step for you.   

Welcome

Just because you are leaving care, or have already left care, we 
haven’t stopped caring about you. We want to make sure that you 
feel safe and supported and know where and who to go to for 
advice and help.

Local care leavers have helped make this leaflet. We will continue to 
listen to your views to make sure that we offer you the support you 
need.  We have written this leaflet with the SYPAC group.  

To be able to get the support set out in this leaflet, you 
must have been in care for at least 13 weeks between the 
ages of 14 and 16 (including your 16th birthday) or for 13 
weeks after your 16th birthday.

If you are not sure whether you qualify for support please email  
ben.marchant@leics.gov.uk  or call 0116 305 0351.

62



Our care leavers offer  3

 The support we must give you by law

A Personal Adviser
Following changes introduced through the Children & Social Work Act 2017, 
you will be able to ask to have support from your personal adviser up to the 
age of 25 whether you are in education or training or not. This is to try to 
make sure care leavers receive similar support to young adults who live with 
their families.

Your personal adviser is there to help you to prepare to live independently 
and to offer advice and support after you leave care. 

Personal advisers get involved in discussions about your needs and 
your pathway plan. 

Your pathway plan is written by the local authority after consultation with you 
and important people in your life. It sets out your needs, views and future 
goals, and exactly what support you will receive from us. We review your 
pathway plan with you at least every 6 months so that it is kept up-to-date. 

63



4  Leicestershire County Council

We will try to let you keep the same personal adviser, though this will not always be 
possible. The amount of support that you receive from your Personal Adviser will 
depend on what you want and your circumstances.  

Your leaving care team will consider with you what extra support you may need. 
You might, for example, need extra support because:

• You have special educational needs or a disability. 

• You are an unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Child (UASC) and your immigration 
status is unclear.

• You are in or leaving custody or you have had contact with the criminal justice 
system.

• You are a young parent; or

• You are going through a difficult time in your personal life.

Your right to be heard and taken seriously
You have a right to be involved in all decisions about your plans for leaving care. 
You have a right to support from an independent advocate if you are thinking about 
challenging decisions about the care we give you. 

Independent advocates can inform you about your rights 
and help you to be heard in meetings. They are separate  
from social services. 

If you want to speak to your advocate then please contact our Children’s Rights 
Officer, Elaine Constable by phone or email - Elaine.constable@leics.gov.uk or 
0116 305 3051.

You have a right to see the information we keep about you, including the files and 
records written about you when you were in care.  Your Personal advisor can help 
you to make a Subject Access Request to do this.

64



Our care leavers offer  5

Leaving care before turning 18
We will encourage you to stay in care until you are 18. Most young people still 
live at home with their families at this age.

If you choose to leave care before age 18, the law says we must 
provide you with suitable accommodation.  

We will make sure that the type of accommodation provided to you is based on 
your individual needs and is  
right for you.

Support to engage in education, employment or training
We want to make sure every young person leaving our care has the support to 
achieve their goals in life.

The law says we must provide you with assistance with expenses linked with 
employment, education and training. In particular:

• We will provide you with a Higher Education (HE) bursary of at least 
£2,000 if you go to University. 

• We will provide somewhere for you to stay during University holidays (or 
funding for this if you would prefer to make your own arrangements) if you 
are in HE or in residential further education.  

65



6  Leicestershire County Council

Other support we offer

Accommodation
If you are aged over 18, your personal adviser will help you to find suitable 
accommodation. This might involve:

• Working with Housing Services to come up with suitable housing options for 
you, including supported accommodation if you are not ready or don’t want to 
have your own tenancy.

• If this is what you and your foster carers want, supporting you to remain with 
your foster carers under what’s called a ‘Staying Put’ arrangement. This can last 
until you are 21.  You can find out more about this scheme from your personal 
advisor

• Support to access different housing options including social housing (this 
is accommodation managed by the local housing authority or a housing 
association) 

• Advice about holding down a tenancy, including avoiding rent or Council Tax 
arrears, paying bills and budgeting. We know it can be very hard having your 
own place for the first time. We will do whatever we can to ease the pressures 
on you.

• Helping you to claim housing benefit/universal credit if you need this to help pay 
for your home.  

• Practical support with moving into and furnishing your new home.  

• Supporting you if you have a housing crisis, including helping if you are 
threatened with or lose a tenancy [NB: care leavers aged 18-20 are treated as a 
priority need group in homelessness legislation].

66



Our care leavers offer  7

Education, training and employment
We want you to succeed in your education, training and employment. We will ask 
you how you are doing and be ready to celebrate your achievements with you.

We will offer you: 

• Careers information and advice.

• If you attend University, a bursary of £2,000 to help with the cost of books and 
materials.

NB: Care leavers are a priority group for the 16 to 19 Bursary Fund administered by FE 
colleges, which pays a bursary of up to £1,200 a year to support vulnerable young people 
to participate in education.

• Support to meet your transport costs when travelling to training, school/college, 
apprenticeships or job interviews.

• Support to buy tools, equipment, essential clothing, and books.

• Support if you choose to go to university, such as helping you obtain tuition fees 
and maintenance loans, travel costs at the start and end of term, and making 
sure you have somewhere to live during the holidays. We will help you choose 
the right course and university that matches your talents and interests.

• Opportunities for work experience, apprenticeships and employment within the 
council.  

• The chance to attend and help organise our celebration event when young 
people achieve education, training and employment milestones.

67



8  Leicestershire County Council

Health and wellbeing
Below are some of the ways our care leaving team and your personal adviser can 
support you to stay healthy and look after your physical and mental health. We can:

• Give information on healthy living.

• Give information on getting help to pay for prescriptions.

• Support you to register with a GP.

• Support you to move from CAMHS to adult services.

• Give information about counselling services that are available locally.

• Give you help with transports costs when attending health appointments.

• If you are a young parent, take an interest in your child/ren and support you to 
do the best for them. We will help you arrange childcare, if this is what you want. 

• Give you information about health drop-in centres.

• Work with you to make a ‘health passport’ containing key information from your 
childhood (for example, when and if you have had immunisations) and your 
current health needs.

68



Our care leavers offer  9

Finances
We will try to help you financially, in a similar way to how parents would support 
their own children. Our help includes: 

• We offer a Leaving Care Grant (LCG) of up to £2000 to help you buy the things 
that you need for your first home.

• Providing or tell you about relevant money management courses.

• Information on how to access your Junior ISA, if you have one (a fund of money 
set aside by the government and the council).

• Support to open a bank account.

• Support to gain important identification documents, such as a passport and/or 
provisional driving licence.

• Support to get your National Insurance number. 

• Exceptional financial support in emergencies.

• Providing a financial gift at birthdays and Christmas or other celebrations.

Relationships 
As well as support from a Personal Adviser, we may be able to offer you additional 
practical and emotional support, such as through:

• Providing you with a mentor/peer mentor; 

• Where appropriate, continuing to support contact with the ‘Independent Visitor’ 
you had while you were in care;

• Help to maintain or regain contact with people special to you or who cared for 
you in the past, like former foster carers or social workers. 

69



10  Leicestershire County Council

Participation in Society
We want our care leavers to be active members of society, and to have all the 
chances in life that other young adults have. We can help you participate in society 
in the following ways:

• Providing information on groups and clubs you may wish to join.

• Informing you about relevant awards, schemes and competitions you can enter, 
in line with your talents and interests.

• Encouraging and helping you to enrol on the Electoral Register, so you can vote 
in elections.

• Offering work experience with our councillors.

• Informing you about voluntary work that we think you may be interested in.

• Informing and possibly helping with the cost of leisure activities.

• Giving you advice and helping you to challenge any discrimination you face as a 
care leaver.

70



Our care leavers offer  11

Who can help?
To enable you to receive the right numbers for the support you need 
we will work with you when you make contact to gain the following:

• Key contact numbers for:

• Personal adviser

• Care leaving team

• Housing advice

• Designated doctors/nurses

• Education, employment or training support

• Local authority leadership e.g. the Director of Children’s 
Services, Lead Member

• Care leavers’ forum

Other places you can go for help:
• Prince’s Trust

• The Rees Foundation

• Care Leavers’ Foundation

Relevant universal services; this might include 
links to or contacts for:
• Health services such as sexual health clinics and drug/alcohol 

support.

• Information about further or higher education.

• Relevant youth clubs/groups/activities.

• Parenting support groups.

• Youth Offending Team.

• Citizenship Advice Bureau.

71



S0
07

9

leicestershire.gov.uk

May 2018

72



Photograph by Luke Stackpoole

73

anlcox_2
Text Box
Appendix C

AMPoole
Text Box



CARE LEAVER COVENANT OVERVIEW

In July 2016, the Government published a major policy document ‘Keep on 
Caring’ to support young people from care to independence. A key policy 
commitment in the paper is a strategic pledge to introduce a Care Leaver 
Covenant. The Covenant is a promise made by the private, public and voluntary 
sectors to provide support for care leavers aged 16-25 to help them to live 
independently.

All young people who leave care at 16, 17 or 18 are statutorily provided with 
some support from the local authority in the region in which they live. This 
includes being assigned a Personal Adviser to help them in the transition to 
living independently; there should be support with finding accommodation and 
with any costs of par ticipating in education, training and employment. However, 
in order to provide a greater level of support at this crucial stage during the 
transition of care leavers to adulthood, wider society also needs to play a par t. 

Undoubtedly, a large proportion of young people leave their care setting 
poorly prepared for independence. Typically, they lack the appropriate resource 
to acquire and hold down gainful employment as well as the skills needed to 
manage their financial affairs and domestic arrangements. They frequently do not 
have the social and emotional confidence or the family and friend networks that 
would provide the confidence and resilience to face the challenges of earning a 
living and making their way in society.

Photograph by Joshua Reddekopp

74



The aim of the Care Leaver Covenant, to which organisations commit, is 
to provide additional support for those leaving care; making available a 
different type of support and expertise from that statutorily provided by 
local authorities. Drawing on the resourcefulness and imagination of their 
staff and their working environment, organisations have the potential 
to offer new perspectives and professional expertise. These can offer 
opportunities and a new way of thinking to aid the care leavers in moving 
forward successfully to the next phase of 
their lives. 
 
Each organisation that commits to the Care Leaver Covenant will be able 
to offer a support package to care leavers that is tailored to its specific 
expertise. The organisation would underpin its commitment to the 
Covenant with a specific ‘offer’, setting out what it can provide. Examples 
of the sort of activities that the offer might include, depending on the 
nature of the organisation, are: 
 
 
 • Providing care leavers with opportunities to enter 
  the world of work, such as offering work experience 
  placements, work shadowing placements,    
  internships, traineeships and apprenticeships; 

 • Providing care leavers with additional support. For 
  example, one-to-one mentoring or pastoral support 
  and guidance on various aspects of their lives,   
  financial guidance, career/employment guidance,   
  educational prospects and opportunities; 

 • Providing care leavers with opportunities to broaden  
  their horizons e.g. concessionary access to sport,   
  leisure and cultural activities along with discounted
  retail offers; 

 • Encouraging their involvement in specific activities  
  and events which inspire their personal interest and  
  widen their employment prospects; 

 • Providing or supporting them in educational and   
  training opportunities that will improve their
  vocational and educational profile and open up   
  future employment opportunities. 

Photograph by Jerem
y M

cknight

75



STATISTICS ON LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
AND CARE LEAVERS IN ENGLAND 

There are some 70,000 children in care in England for which the state provides 
financial support of the order of £2.5 billion. A majority of the children (75%) are 
fostered and the rest are in residential care. 

The following facts and figures illustrate the often blighted and frustrated 
experiences of children in care and care leavers:

 • In general about 38% of children in care have more   
  than one placement during a year, while 11% had three   
  or more placements

 • 14% of children in care in 2016 achieved 5 or more GCSEs 
  at grades A*-C compared to 58% of children not in care 

 • 40% of all care leavers of 19, 20 and 21 years of age   
  (in 2016) were not in employment, education or training   
  compared to 14% of all 19, 20 and 21 year olds

 • The percentage of children in care gaining entry to   
  university is 7% and this figure has not been improved   
  since 2006; compared to the university entry in 2016 
  of around 40% of their peer group

 • 20% of young homeless people have been previously in care 
 
 • Children in care are four times more likely to have a mental  
  health difficulty, which in many cases is attributed to   
  isolation and loneliness.

The quality of care is highly variable and often falls considerably short of 
what constitutes good parenting. Some young people lack the support and 
encouragement to benefit from a good education and their experiences out 
of school are not rich, in personal, social and  cultural experiences. 
 
Whilst there is overwhelming evidence that care leavers can find themselves at 
the ‘thin end of the wedge’, we also have first hand knowledge of many success 
stories, detailing how care leavers overcome adversity and succeed in spite of their 
circumstances. The Care Leaver Covenant is a kite mark for organisations who want 
to celebrate their contribution to helping care leavers have a greater chance at 
success.

Photograph by Kate W
illiam

s

76



Photograph by

CARE LEAVER COVENANT OUTCOMES:

1. Care leavers are better prepared and supported
 to live independently.

2. Care leavers have improved access to employment,     
 education and training.

3. Care leavers experience stability in their lives and
 feel safe and secure.

4. Care leavers have improved access to health and
 emotional support.

5. Care leavers achieve financial stability.

77



Care Leaver Covenant
38-39 The Chubb Buildings
Fryer Street, Wolverhampton  WV1 1HT 

t:  0800 077 3557  
e:  info@mycovenant.org.uk
w:  mycovenant.org.uk

#ReadyWhenYouArecareleavercovenant@careleavercov

Photograph by Alexandra Kirr

78



 

Appendix D  

 

 

 

 

Leicestershire  

Care Leavers Protocol 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22
nd

 March 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

  

79



 
 

 

Content 

1. Scope of the Protocol 

2. Purpose of the Protocol  

3. Overview of Legislative Context 

4. Eligibility 

5. Equality and Diversity  

6. Process 

7. Resolving Practitioner Differences 

8. Allocations Policy  

9. Support 

10. Financial implications 

11. Review 

 

 

Signatories 

1) Blaby District Council  
2) Charnwood Borough Council 
3) Harborough District Council 
4) Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council  
5) Melton Borough Council 
6) North West Leicestershire District Council 
7) Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 
8) Leicestershire County Council- Children and Family Services 
9) Leicestershire Youth Offending Service 
10) Job Centre Plus 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80



 
 

1. Scope of the Protocol 

i. The journey out of care is a particularly important and challenging transition; the success or 

failure of which, impacts on outcomes throughout early adulthood and beyond. Securing 

suitable accommodation for Care Leavers is much more than just finding them somewhere 

to stay. 

 

ii. Care Leavers need to be made aware of all the possible options available to them from 

‘Staying Put’ arrangements to living independently or returning to live with their family or 

extended family network. They need to understand the possible advantages and 

disadvantages of each option in relation to their own wishes, their own level of skills, 

competencies and aspirations for the future and the levels of support that they may need to 

make a success of their choice. 

 

iii. The ability to live independently demands resources, support and skills. Many Care Leavers 

have difficulty acquiring the necessary practical skills and developing and sustaining 

positive social networks.  

 

iv. The lives of looked after children are often characterised by disruption, whether by changes 

in care placements or accommodation, so building a support network can be difficult. 

Indeed, even when good quality accommodation is found for Care Leavers this may be in 

communities they are not familiar with, far from family and peers. There is significant 

research evidence that tenancies for Care Leavers have a relatively high failure rate in the 

first few months after leaving care and both Leicestershire County Council and the 

Leicestershire and District and Borough Councils wish to avoid this happening through 

good planning and preparation with each Care Leaver. 

2. Purpose of the Protocol 

i. This Protocol sets out a formal agreement between Leicestershire County Council, Children 

and Family Services, Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough Council, Harborough 

District Council, Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council, North 

West Leicestershire District Council, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, and partner 

agencies working with Care Leavers. 

 

ii. The Protocol establishes the aims, roles and responsibilities of signatory partners towards 

accommodation pathways for Care Leavers. It outlines the respective statutory 

responsibilities of Children and Families Services and the Local Housing Authorities (LHAs) 

in ensuring Care Leavers are supported to move on to suitable accommodation. 

 

iii. To ensure that Care Leavers are advised clearly about all housing options available to 

them.  

 

iv. To best ensure that Care Leavers are appropriately accommodated before leaving the 18+ 

Service and that the possibility of them becoming homeless after this time is mitigated so 

far as reasonably possible.   

 

v. To ensure Care Leavers are supported into suitable and sustainable accommodation. Due 

to the diverse needs of Care Leavers and the way in which these change over time, a range 

of accommodation options will be required. These may include the following: 

81



 

 

 Staying put arrangements for young people being able to remain living with former 

foster carers through conversion of these placements to Staying Put 

 Other supported lodging placements 

 Other transitional accommodation with varying degrees of support such as 

Hostels/Foyers 

 Specialist accommodation for young people with support needs 

 Self-contained accommodation with housing related support 

 Independent tenancies 

 

vi. To prevent Care Leavers becoming homeless, entering the homelessness system, and to 

avoid placements in temporary accommodation.   

 

vii. To support young Care Leavers to become responsible and successful tenants. 

 

viii. To ensure that the accommodation needs of Care Leavers entering and discharged from 

custody are adequately planned for.  

3. Overview of Legislative Context 

i. The Children’s Act 1989 requires the responsible authority to continue to provide various 

forms of advice, assistance and guidance to young people over the age of 18 making the 

transition from care to more independent living arrangements. These requirements apply if 

they have previously been eligible or relevant children, who are described as former 

relevant children (and may apply to qualifying children, depending on the Local Authority’s 

assessment of their needs). 

 

ii. Under previous legislation, Local Authorities were required to only provide Care Leavers 

with Personal Advisor support until they reached the age of 21, and up to the age of 25 only 

if they were engaged in education or training. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 

introduced a new duty on Local Authorities to provide Personal Advisor support to all Care 

Leavers towards whom the Local Authority had duties under Section 23C of the Children 

Act 1989, up to the age of 25, if it is wanted. This includes those Care Leavers who return 

to the Local Authority requesting Personal Advisor support after the age of 21 and up to the 

age of 25. This new duty commenced on 1st April 2018.  

 

iii. The Children (Leaving Care) Act (2000) Regulations and Guidance detail how the Local 

Authority strategy for Care Leavers should where possible take into account: 

 

 The diverse accommodation and support needs of Care Leavers 

 The capacity to offer young people a degree of choice of accommodation 

 Existing and planned provision of safe and affordable accommodation 

 Gaps in provision 

 Priority setting 

 The need for contingency arrangement 

 

iv. The Local Housing Authority must have due regard to Chapter 22: Care Leavers of the 

Homelessness Code of Guidance, updated to reflect the new measures set out in the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017,  in reference to the following:  

 

82



 

 Corporate parenting principles 

 Joint working arrangements 

 The prevention and relief of homelessness 

 Assessing priority need 

 

v. The Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) (England) Order 2002 outlines that 

a young person has a priority need for accommodation if he/she is: 

 A person (other than a person to whom paragraph (2) below applies) aged 16 or 17 who 
is not a relevant child for the purposes of Section 23A of the Children Act 1989. This 
applies to a person to whom a Local Authority owes a duty to provide accommodation 
under Section 20 of that Act (provision of accommodation for children in need). 

 

 A person (other than a relevant student) who is under 21; and at any time after reaching 
the age of 16, but while still under 18, was, but is no longer, looked after, 
accommodated or fostered. As defined by Children Act 1989 Section 22 ie looked after 
by a Local Authority (i.e. has been subject to a care order or voluntarily accommodated); 
accommodated by or on behalf of a voluntary organisation; accommodated in a private 
children's home; accommodated for a consecutive period of at least 3 months by a 
health authority, special health authority, primary care trustor local education authority or 
in any care home or independent hospital or in any accommodation provided by the 
National Health Service Trust; or privately fostered 

 

 A person (other than a relevant student) who has reached the age of 21 and who is 
vulnerable as a result of having been looked after, accommodated or fostered. 

 

4. Eligibility 

 

I. This Protocol specifically applies to all young people aged 16 to 24 who meet the Children 

(Leaving Care) Act 2000 criteria including the following: 

 

 Eligible young people aged 16 or 17 who are either subject to a Care Order or who 

are accommodated by the Local Authority for at least 13 weeks since their 14th 

birthday and on or after their 16th birthday; 

 

 Relevant young people aged 16 or 17 who are no longer looked after but for whom 

Children and Families Services are responsible for maintaining in suitable 

accommodation and providing financial support.  These young people cannot, 

subject to some exceptions due to a disability or being a parent, claim welfare 

benefits; 

 

 Former relevant young people aged 18 to 24 who have previously been either 

eligible or relevant. These young people can access benefits, but continue to receive 

leaving care support services. 

 

 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children who qualify for a leaving care service and 

have been granted refugee status or those that have an appropriate leave to remain 

status (NB if a young person has made an in time appeal on their pre 18 leave to 

remain status then according to Section 3 of the Immigration Act 1971 they are 

considered by the Home Office to still have their original leave to remain). 

83



 

II. Clause 8 of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 introduces a measure to amend the 

definition of ‘Local Connection’ under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 for young people 

leaving care. Local Connection under Part 7 will be established in the following situations): 

 The young person will have a Local Connection under Part 7 to the Local Housing 

Authority that owes them a duty under Section 23C of the Children Act 1989 

 

 If the relevant Local Authority is not a Local Housing Authority, the young person will 

have a Local Connection under Part 7 to every Local Housing Authority within the 

area of the Local Authority who owes them a duty under Section 23C of the Children 

Act 1989 

 

 The young person will have a Local Connection under Part 7 to the Local Housing 

Authority for the area in which they have been accommodated, if they have been 

accommodated under Section 22a of the Children Act 1989 within the area for at 

least 2 years (including some time before they turned 16).  

 

  

III. The above criteria do not apply to Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996. Local Housing 

Authorities may therefore have different Local Connection criteria within their own Housing 

Allocations Policies.  

 

IV. This Protocol only applies to young people who are leaving care for the first time.  

 

V. The Protocol does not apply to Qualifying young people who may have been briefly 

accommodated but did not attain eligible status.  There is a duty to advise and befriend but 

for the purposes of meeting housing needs their status is as that applied to any other 

homeless young person seeking assistance under Homelessness legislation. 

 

5. Equality and Diversity  

i. This Protocol will be subject to the equality and diversity policies adopted by Leicestershire 
County Council which are reviewed regularly by the LCC Equalities Board.  
 

ii. Housing, CFS, and relevant partners value diversity and are committed to equality of 
opportunity and access to suitable accommodation for all young people, regardless of age, 
gender identity, marital status, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, race, religious 
belief or disability.. 
 

iii. Housing, CFS, and relevant partners seek to promote the participation of young people in 
the decision making process. This should be evidenced in the individual Pathway Plan.  
 

6. Process 

 

i. The Leaving Care Team LCC, via the Accommodation Officer, will notify the relevant 

housing team of any forthcoming Care Leavers in their area.  The Leaving Care Team LCC 

will ensure that a housing register application form is completed and submitted, with a 

supporting letter providing the details of the young person’s LAC history, their status under 

the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and confirmation that the Care Leavers are ready for 

independent living. This will form part of the young person’s Pathway Plan.  

84



 

ii. Care Leavers over the age of 16 can join the Local Housing Authority Housing register, but 
if under 18 they would not be permitted to bid for properties until they are ready for 
independent living and there is an agreement in place for a responsible adult or agency to 
hold the tenancy in trust until they turn 18. 

iii. Children’s Services will agree to act as guarantor or hold a tenancy in trust for the young 

person until it can be transferred to the young person on their 18th birthday. This offer is 

only available to young people leaving care who are approaching their 18th birthday and 

Children’s Services will not consider acting as a guarantor for any other young person or 

Care Leaver. 

 

iv. Any allocations will be discussed by the workers involved with the young person, and 

copies of all correspondence to the young person copied to the Leaving Care Team 

Accommodation Officer. In the event of a property being allocated, support arrangements 

will be discussed and agreed by all those involved. This will be done via a ‘sign up’ meeting 

between the young person, the local Housing Officer, and the Leaving Care Team 

Accommodation officer and/or support worker. Arrangements for tenancy and other 

necessary support will be confirmed at this meeting and, if required, an additional support 

plan drawn up. 

 

v. The Leaving Care Team will ensure the young person notifies the relevant Housing Team 

of any change of address through completion of a Change of Circumstances form. 

 

vi. The Local Housing Authority will work with Children’s Services to ensure that the 

accommodation needs of Care Leavers leaving custody are met and, specifically, that there 

is an accommodation plan in place for Care Leavers aged 18-24 who are leaving custody. 1 

 

vii. Prisons, young offender institutions, secure training/colleges, youth offending team and 

probation providers (CRC’s and NPS) are subject to the duty to refer under the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, and should refer, with the young person’s consent, to 

the Local Housing Authority if they consider that the young person may be homeless or 

threatened with homelessness within 56 days. On receipt of such referrals, the Local 

Housing Authorities will liaise with Children’s Services, if not already doing so, to agree and 

deliver reasonable steps to prevent Care Leavers from becoming homeless on release from 

custody.  

 

viii. In the event of imminent or actual homelessness then the young person will be assisted to 

make a homelessness application. 

 

ix. Where it is determined by a Local Housing Authority that the applicant is intentionally 

homeless, Housing teams should notify the Leaving Care Team prior to an intentional 

decision being made.  

 

7. Resolving Practitioner Differences 

 

i. Practitioners working with children leaving care who require accommodation are likely to 

encounter practitioner disagreements from time to time, whilst this is acceptable on 

                                                           
1
 Homelessness Code of Guidance, Chapter 23, https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-

authorities/chapter-23-people-with-an-offending-history 

85



 

occasion it is vital that such differences do not affect the outcomes for children and young 

people.  

 

ii. The process of resolving practitioner disagreements should first involve workers consulting 

co-workers to clarify their thinking and practice in the first instance. Where differences 

cannot be resolved, these will be referred to respective Team Managers for discussion, 

resolution and agreement.  

 

8. Allocation Policy  

 

Prior to allocation of a property through the Housing Register, agreement should be 

reached between the Leaving Care Team, the relevant Housing Team (and other partners 

as appropriate) regarding complex cases on the suitability of the allocation, taking into 

account the young person's individual circumstances, abilities and the level of support 

required. 

 

i. When determining the suitability of accommodation, whether interim or not, Local Housing 

Authorities will aim to reduce the instances of Care Leavers being accommodated in Bed 

and Breakfast accommodation and will seek access to more suitable alternatives where 

these exist.  
 

9. Support 

 

i. All young people aged 16 to 21 (or 25 if Personal Advisor support is requested) leaving 

care who are eligible, relevant or former relevant children will have an assessment of need 

and Pathway Plan by the Leaving Care Team.  These are legal documents and the method 

by which their needs are identified and addressed.  The Pathway Plan is reviewed at least 

every 6 months, and there is an expectation that housing will make a contribution to this 

plan if and when appropriate.  

 

ii. The Pathway Plan will detail accommodation needs and the type of housing related support 

that the young person may require in order to successfully maintain a tenancy. All Pathway 

Plans must include a contingency plan. 

 

iii. The Leaving Care Team will broker extra support, in addition to that offered by the Personal 

Advisor, for Care Leavers aged 18 - 25 if it is deemed necessary to support the young 

person into independence and successful tenancy sustainment. 

 

iv. The Leaving Care Team will monitor the success of tenancies closely and potential 

difficulties involving the young person dealt with promptly. If there is evidence that a 

tenancy is unlikely to be sustained, prompt communication between agencies is essential 

and a review of the Pathway Plan will be undertaken identifying current and future need. 

Additional tenancy review meetings or ‘Stability Meetings’ should be arranged if required.  

 

v. The Housing Team of the Local Housing Authority will notify the Leaving Care Team in the 

event they become aware that a tenancy is failing. This will allow the Personal Advisor to 

support the young person appropriately and will ensure a focus on early intervention to 

prevent tenancy breakdowns.  The young person’s case will be discussed at the Care 

Leaver’s High Risk Panel, which occurs bi-monthly.  

 

86



 

vi. Young people leaving care will have different levels of support needs.  This may range from 

intensive support from a number of agencies, to minimum advice and guidance from a 

leaving care support worker, and the support offered by good housing management 

practice. 

 

vii. Both the Housing provider and the Leaving Care Team must ensure that young people 

understand fully what is required of them as a tenant, who is to support them, and what 

they should do in a crisis. A ‘sign-up’ meeting will always be held with the young person, 

involving the Housing provider and the Leaving Care Team.  

 

viii. The prompt sharing of information between agencies is essential in order to support young 

people and address tenancy issues.   

 

ix. The Data Protection Act (1998) requires that young people should give their written consent 

before any information about them can be shared. Consent to information sharing is 

covered in the Pathway Plan. 

 

x. Consultation should take place between agencies, and attempts made to support the young 

person to resolve any tenancy issues, prior to any formal action being taken to end a 

tenancy. 

 

10. Financial Implications 

 

i. Under the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, the Local Authority Children’s Services are 
responsible for the accommodation costs in full for eligible and relevant young people up 
until their 18th birthday.  
 

ii. Young people over 18 who are full time students will require the completion of a financial 
assessment by the leaving care services and financial assistance. 
 

iii. When a young person is sentenced to custody a prompt assessment by the leaving care 
services and financial assistance should take place of their future housing needs and 
current housing benefit status. 

 
iv. Young people become responsible for paying their own rent after their 18th birthday. They 

will need to claim Housing Benefit/Universal Credit or make direct payment (if in 
employment and/or ineligible for housing benefit/Universal Credit). 
 

v. Under Housing Benefit Regulations all young people who qualify for leaving care services 
are exempt from the definition of “young individual” and the attendant “shared room rate” 
restrictions for the purposes of housing benefit.  Care Leavers between the age of 18 and 
25 can get the ‘one bedroomed flat’ rate for housing benefit.  (Post 25 it reverts to the 
shared room rate up to the age of 35). 
 

i. Care Leavers can prepare their claim for Universal Credit up to 28 days before and 

including their 18th birthday and can be supported to do so by their local Leaving Care 

Team. A preclaim appointment can be booked to confirm the Care Leavers’ identity, bank 

account details and that they are in fact a Care Leaver (written confirmation required from 

the Local Authority). 

 

87



 

ii. The Initial Evidence Interview and Commitment Interview can be booked at the preclaim 

appointment providing that they take place on or as soon as possible after the claimants 

18th birthday.  

 

iii. In the event that a young person leaves care after the age of 18, Job Centre Plus will still 

offer the advanced claim preparation facility to ensure that support is in place as soon as 

possible.  

 

iv. Additional support is available to claimants of Universal Credit who are Care Leavers, this 

support includes: 

 

 advance claim preparation (as detailed above) 

 option to apply for alternative payment arrangements and personal budgeting 

support at any point in their claim 

 undertaking full-time non-advanced education, up to the age of 21 or the end of the 

academic year in which they become 21 years old 

 access to recoverable hardship payments 

 help with accommodation costs if the claimant is under 22 years old 

 advance payments for those in short term financial need 

 access to the Work and Health Programme 

 

v. It is possible for a young person aged 16 or 17 to be entitled to Universal Credit but it is 

ultimately up to a Decision Maker to determine if the claimant is entitled and if their 

circumstances deem them a Care Leaver at the age of 16 or 17.  

 

vi. Care Leavers across Leicestershire County are exempt from Council Tax and will not be 
liable to pay any Council Tax until they turn 25 years old. 
 

11. Review 

 

i. This Protocol will be reviewed annually or sooner if the legislation or policies 

underpinning it change. 

 

 

 

88



 
 

CABINET - 24 MAY 2019 
 

NEW MULTI-AGENCY CHILDREN’S SAFEGUARDING 
ARRANGMENTS 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the proposals for the new multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements for children. These changes are required by the 
Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together 2018 (statutory 
guidance on inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children) and will replace the current Leicestershire and Rutland Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) by September 2019.  

 
Recommendations  
 
2. It is recommended that the Cabinet approves the approach to the new multi-

agency safeguarding partnership arrangements for children to be known as 
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (as set out in 
Appendix A).  

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. It is a requirement for all local authority areas to have in place by the end of 

September 2019, multi-agency partnership arrangements to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of all children.  It is also a requirement to publish these 
arrangements by 29 June 2019. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. The Department for Education requires that local authorities publish their multi-

agency safeguarding arrangements by 29 June 2019 with full implementation 
by 29 September 2019.  The following timeline is proposed for Leicestershire 
and Rutland: 
 

i. March to May 2019 -  Proposals for new arrangements submitted to 
Leicestershire County Council Cabinet, Rutland County Council 
Cabinet, Clinical Commissioning Groups Board and Leicestershire 
Police Executive Group 

89 Agenda Item 6



ii. June 2019 - arrangements published 
iii. September 2019 - arrangements commence 
iv. September/December 2019 - first meeting of the Safeguarding 

Childrens Partnership.  
 

5. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a 
report on the new arrangements at its meeting on 5 March 2019. Details of 
their comments are included in Part B. 

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. The Children Acts of 1989 and 2004 set out specific duties for local authorities, 

working with partner organisations and agencies, to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of all children in their area. Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 puts a 
duty on the local authority to provide services to children in need in their area; 
section 47 of the same Act requires local authorities to undertake enquiries if 
they believe a child has suffered or is likely to suffer significant harm. 

 
7. These duties can only realistically be discharged with the full co-operation of 

other partners, many of whom have individual duties when carrying out their 
functions under section 11 of the Children Act 2004. The responsibility for this 
join-up locally rests with the safeguarding partners, the Police, Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and the local authority, which have a shared and 
equal duty to agree and make arrangements to work together to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of all children in a local area.  

 
8. Working Together 2018 sets out the purpose of the new arrangements and the 

requirements to be met by them. 
 

Resource Implications  
 
9. There are no immediate cost implications arising from the recommendations in 

this report. The safeguarding partners will need to agree the level of funding 
secured from each partner, which should be equitable and proportionate. 
Guidance indicates that the funding should be transparent to children and 
families in the area, and sufficient to cover all elements of the arrangements, 
including the cost of local child safeguarding practice reviews.  

 
10. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

has been consulted on the content of this report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  
 

11. A copy of this report will be circulated to all members. 
 
Officer(s) to Contact  
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services, Leicestershire County Council  
Tel: 0116 305 2649 
E-mail: Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk 

90

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background  
 
12. Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) were established by the Children 

Act 2004 which gave a statutory responsibility to each locality to have this 
mechanism in place. LSCBs were the key system in every locality of the 
country for organisations to come together to agree on how they will cooperate 
with one another to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

 
13. As explained above, Working Together 2018 (WT 2018) guidance covers the 

legislative requirements placed on individual services and sets out a framework 
for the local safeguarding partners to work together in accordance with the 
relevant legislation.  

 
14. A safeguarding partner in relation to a local authority area in England is defined 

under the Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act, 
2017) as:  

i. the local authority Chief Executive;  
ii. the accountable officer of a clinical commissioning group for an 

area, any part of which falls within the local authority area; 
iii. the chief officer of police for an area, any part of which falls within 

the local authority area.  
 
15. The safeguarding partners must set out how they will work together locally and 

with any relevant agencies. Relevant agencies are those organisations and 
agencies whose involvement the safeguarding partners consider may be 
required to safeguard and promote the welfare of children with regard to local 
need.  
 

16. Once the local arrangements are in place and have been published, the 
safeguarding partners must also publish a report at least once in every 12-
month period that sets out what they have done as a result of the 
arrangements, including on child safeguarding practice reviews, and how 
effective these arrangements have been in practice.  

 
Existing Arrangements 
 
17. Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) are the key system across the 

UK to coordinate arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children. The partnership working enables organisations to be held to account 
and ensures that safeguarding children remains high on the agenda across 
their region. 

 
18. Leicester and Rutland have a joint LCSB – the Leicestershire and Rutland 

Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB).  Leicester City Council has its 
own LCSB.   

 
19. The LRLSCB provides policies, procedures and guidance for safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children.  It provides advice and information, including 

91



by means of leaflets and posters which are free and available to download from 
its website.  The LRLSCB has formed strong links with the Voluntary and 
Community Sector and has a VCS Reference Group which also supports 
Leicester’s LCSB.   

 
20. The LRLSCB has an independent Chairman who submits Annual Reports and 

Business Plans to the member authorities each year (to the Cabinet, the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board).  Leicestershire County and Rutland Councils each are 
represented on the LRLSCB by senior officers. 

 
New Arrangements 

 
21.  Lead officers from each of the key partners defined in the Children and Social 

Work Act 2017 (Leicestershire and Rutland Local Authorities, Leicestershire 
Police and the Clinical Commissioning Groups which cover the local authority 
area) have met to develop these proposals and considered the advice of, and 
previous reports to the Board, from the current Independent Chair. 
 

22. The current LRLSCB members, including the Lead Members for Children from 
Leicestershire and Rutland who are participating observers on the Board, have 
had the opportunity to provide comment on the proposals. 

 
Key Principles 
 
23. The purpose of these new local arrangements is to support and enable local 

organisations and agencies to work together in a system where: 
 

i. children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted; 
ii. partner organisations and agencies collaborate, share and co-own 

the vision as to how to achieve improved outcomes for vulnerable 
children; 

iii. organisations and agencies challenge appropriately and hold one 
another to account effectively; 

iv. there is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues 
and emerging threats; 

v. learning is promoted and embedded in a way that local services for 
children and families can become more reflective and implement 
changes to practice; 

vi. information is shared effectively to facilitate more accurate and 
timely decision making for children and families. 

 
24. The following key principles underpin the proposals. There should be: 

 
i. clear governance and leadership from the safeguarding partners (as set 

out in paragraph 14) which have equal and joint responsibility for local 
safeguarding arrangements; 

ii. a sharpened focus on a small number of critical identified priorities that 
maximise the effectiveness of the partnership arrangements; 

iii. appropriate scrutiny of multi-agency frontline practice and evidence of 

92



the impact of lessons learned from audits and reviews; 
iv. clarity of accountability and expected contributions of agencies to the 

arrangements; 
v. effective processes to ensure statutory requirements for consideration 

of serious incident notifications, rapid review and case reviews 
including arrangements for funding of these; 

vi. improved efficiency - reduction in duplication of reporting and demand 
for meeting time; 

vii. clearly defined business support functions with capacity to adequately 
support the arrangements; 

viii. transparent budget agreements between the statutory partners 
ix. a published description of how independent scrutiny of the 

arrangements will be ensured; 
x. consistency and alignment across Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland area where possible; 
xi. links to other structures across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 
Accountability and Governance 
 
25. Strong leadership is critical for the new arrangements to be effective in 

bringing together the various organisations and agencies. It is important 
therefore that the lead representative from each of the safeguarding partners 
plays an active role. 

 
26. Clear governance is essential, ensuring that where other Boards or bodies 

have lead accountability for key areas of work, the multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements do not duplicate that work, but offer a critical friend/advocacy 
role. To be effective these new arrangements should continue to link to other 
strategic partnership work happening locally to support children and families 
for example the Health and Wellbeing Board, Strategic Partnership Board and 
Youth Offending Service Management Board. 

 
27. The governance arrangements are further supported by the requirement for the 

safeguarding partners to publish the local safeguarding arrangements and to 
report at least once in every 12-month period setting out what has been done 
as a result of the arrangements, including child safeguarding practice reviews, 
and how effective these arrangements have been in practice.” 

 
Proposed Multi-agency Safeguarding Arrangements for Leicestershire and 
Rutland from September 2019 

 
28. The new arrangements will cover the local authority areas of Leicestershire and 

Rutland; the statutory safeguarding partners being Leicestershire County 
Council, Rutland Council, the East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, the West 
Leicestershire CCG and Leicestershire Police.  

 
29. Leicester City will have a separate Safeguarding Partnership for Children, 

however both partnerships will be supported by a number of joint meetings 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 

93



30. The proposed partnership structure is outlined in the following diagram, along 
with a brief description of each group:- 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key: 
 
LLR - Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland  
LR - Leicestershire and Rutland  
 
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership (LRSCP) 
 
31. The LRSCP will be the strategic leadership group. It will consist of Director-

level representatives from the five statutory safeguarding partner organisations.  
Other organisations will be invited to attend as appropriate.  The LRSCP will be 
chaired by the Independent Advisor. In the first year the partnership will meet 
quarterly - July, Sept, Dec, March following which the meeting frequency will 
be reviewed. 

 

 Leicestershire & 
Rutland Childrens 

Safeguarding 
Partnership 

 

Planning and 

Delivery Group 

(LLR) 

 

Young Peoples 

Advisory Group (LR) 

Policy and 

Procedures (LLR) 

 

Multi-agency 

Learning and 

Development 

Group (LLR) 

Case Review Group 

(LR) 

Multi-Agency Audit 

Group (LLR) 

 

 

Child Death 
Review Panel 

(LLR) 
 

94



Planning and Delivery Group 
 
32. The Group will run across LLR where possible and replace the current Joint 

Executives (Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Joint Executive Group 
and the Leicestershire and Rutland Executive Group)  
 

33. The Group will co-ordinate the business of the LRSCP and ensure the 
delivery of the business plan. Membership of this group will be based on the 
existing LRLSCB Executive Group but must include Assistant Director level 
representation, Heads of Safeguarding or Safeguarding leads from statutory 
partners, and chairs of sub-groups.  Others will be invited as necessary.  The 
group would be chaired by an independent advisor or senior statutory partner.  

 
34. The Group, and notably the Chair, will have a significant workload including 

ensuring delivery of the LRSCP business plan, commissioning/managing sub-
groups, and scrutinising assurance reports and new policy.  It will report directly 
to the LRSCP. 

 
35. This will require further refinement and development to ensure it is able to 

deliver the range and volume of activity and replace the need for a separate 
effectiveness group. The details of this will be completed by September 
2019 in partnership with Leicester City. 

 
Young People Advisory Group 
 
36. This will comprise around a dozen members, with flexibility to allow new 

representatives to join.  The group would work with the Planning and Delivery 
Group to ensure the views of young people help shape the LRSCP’s priorities, 
and to give feedback on its work.  The group will formally lead a session of the 
LRSCP once each year and will have a standing item on the agenda of the 
other meetings should it wish to contribute. 

 
Policy and Procedures Group 
 
37. This group will consist of officers from across the safeguarding partnership, 

including representatives of the five statutory partners, and would continue to 
be run as a joint group with Leicester. It will report to the Planning and Delivery 
Group and will operate as now and be joint with Leicester City. Clearly the 
next year will require significant additional time and input to ensure all 
procedures are compliant with the new legislation in WT 2018. Responsibility 
for the review and evaluation of the threshold document will be held by the Policy 
and Procedures Group. 

 
Multi Agency Learning and Development Group (Leicestershire, Rutland and 
Leicester) 
 
38. The LRSCP will carry out a Training Needs Analysis each year (as is done at 

present by the LRLSCB) to identify what training is required locally.  This will be 
informed by partnership priorities, the outcome of reviews and audits, and other 
local/national issues.   

95



 
39. Training – both face-to-face and online – will be commissioned based on 

this for the year ahead with a margin of flexibility built in to address any 
emerging priorities and issues.   
 

40. This will be co-ordinated by the multi-agency learning and development group 
run jointly with Leicester.   

 
Case Review Group (CRG) 
 
41. The Case Review Group (CRG) will consider referrals for local Safeguarding 

Practice Reviews and receive notifications and referrals; ensure rapid reviews 
are undertaken and reports are prepared to be sent to the National Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. The group will commission reviews and 
consider and disseminate learning from reviews, audits and inspections 
(local, other local authorities and national).  
 

42. This group is already in place and work to achieve a common process and 
alignment with Leicester City is underway. This will continue in the new 
arrangements through the Case Review Group. WT 2018 requires that 
there should be independent scrutiny of the arrangements to identify and 
review serious child safeguarding cases. This will be provided by the 
independent advisor. 

 
43. Initially the Chair will be the local authority lead from the Safeguarding 

Partners with responsibility for notifications to the national Child Safeguarding 
Practice Review Panel. Membership will consist of safeguarding leads from all 
partner agencies.  

 
Child Death Review Panel  
 
44. The responsibility for ensuring child death reviews are carried out is held by 

‘child death review partners,’ who, in relation to a local authority area in 
England, are defined as the local authority for that area and any clinical 
commissioning groups operating in the local authority area. The new 
Safeguarding Partnership will need to maintain a link with CDRP to enable 
reciprocal reporting of any safeguarding concerns. This can be provided by the 
Directors of Public Health. 
 

45. This is an existing Panel arrangements for which will remain unchanged. 
Arrangements will continue to be run jointly with Leicester. 

 
Multi Agency Audit  
 
46. This group will focus activity and emphasis on quality assurance of frontline 

services through multi-agency thematic audits. The group will provide 
constructive challenge and gather views of multi-agency practitioners to test 
assurance reports from statutory partners. 

 
47. Terms of reference for each group will be developed through an iterative 

96



process with members of current groups and the LRLSC Partnership and 
will be in place when the new partnership comes into force on 29 
September 2019. 
 

48. The statutory partners from the LRLSCP will continue to meet with the 
safeguarding partners for the Leicester City area for a leadership discussion 
to include sharing intelligence, reviewing key priorities and strategic 
commissioning. 

 
49. In addition to the above structure, task and finish groups will be 

commissioned as necessary on specific themes in line with in-year priorities 
and where possible on an Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland basis. 
These arrangements will be commissioned and managed by the Planning 
and Delivery Group.  

 
Safeguarding Assurance Framework 
 
50. The Partnership will receive assurance from the statutory partners and seek 

assurance of safeguarding arrangements and practice from a range of 
named relevant partners including: 

 
i. District Councils 
ii. Early Years Settings and Schools (including independent schools, free 

schools and academies) 
iii. Voluntary and community sector 
iv. Health providers 
v. Private sector children’s services providers, including children’s 

residential homes. 
 

51. As outlined above the current Leicestershire and Rutland (LR) and Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland Executives with a single Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland Planning and Delivery Group and replace the need for the 
additional meeting of the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group with direct 
assurance reporting by agencies to the new partnership. The diagram below 
shows the outline of the framework for safeguarding assurance. 

 

97



52. At the heart of this Framework are two simple questions: 
 

i. Are we improving our ability to keep children safe and how do we 
know?   

ii. How much did we do? How well did we do it? and what difference did 
it make? 

 
Accessing Services and Help - Threshold Document  
 
53. Children's needs should be determined by a robust assessment which should 

inform the proportionate service response. Clear thresholds and processes, 
together with a common understanding of them across local partners, will help 
to ensure that appropriate referrals for support are made. Such a common 
understanding can only continue to improve the effectiveness of joint work, and 
lead to better outcomes for children and families.  

 
54. Working Together 2018 requires that the safeguarding partners publish a 

threshold document, which sets out the local criteria for action in a way that is 
transparent, accessible and easily understood and, as such, enables 
practitioners to identify the right support for the right child at the right time. The 
Threshold Document for Leicestershire and Rutland has already been agreed 
by the safeguarding partners and is in place and has been published on the 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board website. 

 
Inter-Board Partnership Arrangements 
 
55. The Safeguarding Children Partnership will have key links with, provide 

information to and seek relevant assurances through the following 
partnership boards: 

 

98



i. Strategic Partnership Board and associated sub groups (including the 
Vulnerability Executive that leads the strategic overview and delivery of 
the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland response to the exploitation 
of children); 

ii. Youth Offending Service Management Board; 
iii. Leicestershire Health and Well Being Board; 
iv. Rutland Health and Well Being Board; 
v. Leicestershire Children and Family Partnership; 
vi. Rutland Children's Trust; 
vii. Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board; 
viii. Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board; 
ix. Rutland Community Safety Partnership; 
x. Child Death Review Panel (Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland). 

 
Independent Scrutiny of the new Partnership 
 
56. The published arrangements will include the plans for independent scrutiny. 

Working Together 2018 requires that safeguarding partners ensure that the 
scrutiny is objective, acts as a constructive critical friend and promotes 
reflection to drive continuous improvement. 

  
57. The role of independent scrutiny is to provide assurance in judging the 

effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of all children in a local area, including arrangements to identify and 
review serious child safeguarding cases.  

 
58. The overall scrutiny of the safeguarding arrangements will be provided by 

the partnership though the scrutiny of the safeguarding partners assurance 
reports. 

 
59. From September 2019, the new arrangements propose that the current 

Independent Chair model be adapted to become an Independent Advisor 
which will provide part of the independent scrutiny function including 
advising on decisions relating to local practice reviews and notifications to 
national bodies. 

 
60. The Lead Member for Children's Services (LMCS) in local authorities holds 

key political accountability for ensuring that the needs of all children and 
young people, including the most disadvantaged and vulnerable and their 
families and carers, are addressed. In doing so, they will work closely with 
other local partners to improve the outcomes and well-being of children and 
young people. 

 
61. The Lead Members for Children’s Services in Leicestershire and Rutland 

will therefore attend the Leicestershire and Rutland Children’s Safeguarding 
Partnership, as in the former arrangements, in a participant observer role to 
maintain their independence to facilitate this. 

 
62. The option of commissioning peer reviews of the arrangements in place 

remains open and will form part of the independent scrutiny options. 

99



 
63. The option of independent scrutiny to support any dispute resolution 

process is also part of the current procedure and where the statutory 
partners cannot come to a unanimous agreement then the advice of the 
independent advisor should be sought and in coming to a final decision, the 
response to that advice should be transparent. Each statutory partner 
retains their own access to legal advice. 

 
64. There is a statutory requirement for the partnership to publish a report every 12 

months. This will set out what has been done by the Partnership to safeguard 
children and young people during the previous year and how effective the 
partnership arrangements have been. This will be independently scrutinised. 
  

Overview and Scrutiny Comments 
 
65. The new arrangements for the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership were 

considered by the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at its meeting on 5 March 2019. The Committee was supportive of the new 
arrangements and asked for an update on progress within the first year of 
operation. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 
66. The new safeguarding arrangements will support vulnerable children and young 

people from across all communities in Leicestershire.  The new arrangements 
are responsible for ensuring that service responses are fair, equitable to all and 
that children are safe.  This report does not highlight any specific equal 
opportunities implications therefore an EHRIA screening has not been 
undertaken. 

 
Background Papers   
 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018: https://bit.ly/2GK6UHA 

100

https://bit.ly/2GK6UHA


 
CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 

 
AGREEMENT WITH LEICESTER CITY COUNCIL TO DELEGATE 

CERTAIN FUNCTIONS UNDER THE 
CARE AND MENTAL HEALTH ACTS OUTSIDE OF OFFICE HOURS 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval to delegate certain 

functions to Leicester City Council.  These are statutory functions under Section 13 of 
the Mental Health Act 1983 and the Care Act 2014, and it is proposed that out of 
normal office hours these are dealt with by the Emergency Duty Team at Leicester 
City Council. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2 It is recommended: 
 

a) That, in accordance with Section 9EA of the Local Government Act 2000 and The 
Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and all other enabling powers, the statutory functions of the 
County Council in respect of  
 
i) enquiries pursuant to Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 in respect of 

safeguarding adults from abuse, and 
 
ii) carrying out the statutory duties of Approved Mental Health Act Professionals 

pursuant to Section 13 of the Mental Health Act 1983 
 
be delegated to Leicester City Council during the following hours: 
 
i) Monday to Thursday before 08:30 and after 17:00 
ii) Fridays before 08:30 and after 16:30  
iii) Saturdays, Sundays, and public and bank holidays; 
 

b) That the Director of Adults and Communities in consultation with the Director of 
Law and Governance be authorised to enter into an agreement with Leicester City 
Council under Section 9EA of the Local Government Act 2000 to ensure the 
effective operation of the delegated functions. 

 
  

101 Agenda Item 7



  

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

3 The County Council has a statutory duty for safeguarding adults under Section 42 of 
the Care Act and to provide Approved Mental Health Act Professionals (AMHPs) to 
undertake assessments for people of all ages under the Mental Health Act. As the 
number of issues that arise outside of normal office hours are relatively low it is 
sensible and cost-effective for Leicester City Council to carry out this function on the 
County Council’s behalf. 

 
4 A new agreement is required to accurately reflect the functions the City Council 

would be providing on the County Council’s behalf. 
 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5 Subject to the Cabinet approving the above recommendations, Leicester City Council 

would then need to accept the delegation and it is proposed that the arrangements 
would begin as soon as practical following this. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6 Legislation allows Local Authorities to delegate their functions and it is established 

government policy that they should use this flexibility to design models that improve 
the quality and reliability of care and support and do this in the most cost-effective 
way.  
 

7 When delegating their functions, local authorities retain ultimate responsibility for how 
they are carried out.  As such, County residents being safeguarded or assessed 
under the Mental Health Act will always have a means of redress from the County 
Council. 

 
Resources Implications 
 
8 There are no additional resources implications arising from the recommendations in 

this report.  The County Council currently funds this provision and the costs would 
remain the same.  In 2018/19 the cost of the service was £215,400. 
 

9 The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance have 
been consulted on the content of this report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email:  jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 

102



  

PART B 
 

Background 
 
10 The County Council, as the social services authority, has a statutory duty for 

safeguarding adults under Section 42 of the Care Act and to provide Approved 
Mental Health Act Professionals (AMHPs) to undertake assessments for people of all 
ages under the Mental Health Act. 
 

11 Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 requires the Council to make enquiries, or cause 
others to do so, if it believes that an adult is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or 
neglect.   
 

12 Section 13 of the Mental Health Act 1983 refers to the duty of social services 
authorities to make arrangements for an AMHP to consider hospital admission or 
guardianship for a patient (aged 16 and over) within their area.   
 

13 These duties must be provided 24 hours a day, every day of the year.  Issues tend to 
arise during normal office hours and the demand for urgent responses outside of this 
time is low, making it practical and cost-effective for one local authority to provide the 
out-of-hours service on behalf of others. 
 

Current Arrangements 
 

14 In March 2018, Leicestershire County Council accepted a delegation from Rutland 
Council which included carrying out statutory duties of AMHPs pursuant to Section 
13 of the Mental Health Act.  However, this does not cover provision of those 
services outside of normal office hours. 
 

15 Leicester City Council’s Emergency Duty Team (EDT), has provided out-of-hours 
social work and services under the Mental Health Act for Leicester, Leicestershire, 
and Rutland since local government reorganisation in 1997.  It operates from Monday 
to Thursday from 17:00 until 8:30 the following day, on Fridays after 16:30, and over 
weekends and public/bank holidays. 
 

16 In the past, the Leicester EDT has provided an emergency response for children’s 
social care as well as arranging care and support for adults in Leicestershire but 
several of these services are now provided by other teams in the County Council.   
 

Proposal 
 
17 It is proposed that the following functions are delegated to Leicester City Council 

outside of normal office hours, as detailed above: 
 

 Enquiries pursuant to Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 in respect of safeguarding 
adults from abuse; 
 

 Carrying out the statutory duties of an AMHP pursuant to Section 13 of the Mental 
Health Act 1983.  

 

103



  

18 The legal agreement between the County Council and Leicester City Council would 
detail the arrangements including service specifications, payments, termination 
process, data processing and insurance. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
19 There are no equality or human rights implications resulting from the 

recommendations in this report.  The proposed work is within the core Adult Social 
Care functions and would be undertaken as part of the statutory framework which 
requires individual needs and circumstances (including any protected characteristics) 
to be taken into account.  It is a continuation of current work being undertaken by the 
City Council and is not therefore a change of provision. 

 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
20 Working relationships with Leicester City Council, including its EDT, are well-

established. Ensuring that the delegation and the legal agreement reflect the current 
arrangements will support these arrangements going forwards. 

 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 

104



 
 

 
 

CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 
 

SUPPORTING GROWTH IN LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the financial challenges 

faced by the County Council arising from the significant housing and business 
growth planned across Leicestershire and the infrastructure required to support 
this.  The report seeks the Cabinet’s support for the steps being taken to address 
these challenges at a local and national level.   
 

Recommendation  
 
2. It is recommended that: 
  

(a) the significant forecasted population growth across Leicestershire, the 
consequential economic and housing growth planned to support this, and 
the financial risks faced by the County Council as the major infrastructure 
provider in the area, be noted; 
 

(b) the Council continue to press Government to ensure that the infrastructure 
required to make a success of its growth agenda is adequately and fairly 
funded; 
 

(c) the issues arising from the funding of the Melton Mowbray Distributor 
Road and the Melton North and South Sustainable Neighbourhoods 
including funding through developer contributions be noted and the need 
for a cost-sharing agreement with district councils to enable the County 
Council to forward fund the significant infrastructure costs through the use 
of additional tax revenues be supported; 
 

(d) this report be drawn to the attention of the Strategic Planning Group with 
the intention for sharing with the Member Advisory Planning Group (MAG) 
for Leicester and Leicestershire, the non-decision making member group 
which has overseen the production of the Strategic Growth Plan; 
 

(e) the intention to establish a Growth Unit within the Chief Executive’s 
Department to strengthen the County Council’s internal co-ordination and 
management of growth projects together with the demands placed on 

  105 Agenda Item 8



 
 

available capacity within Environment and Transport and Children and 
Family Services departments to ensure timely response to growth matters 
be noted. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations  
 
3. The financial risks faced by the County Council in delivering the infrastructure 

necessary to support growth in the County are significant.  The introduction of 
cost/risk sharing arrangements with district councils, maximising developer 
contributions and increased income, will help to better manage these risks and 
share these in a way that is proportionate and fair. 
 

4. The Government’s approach to the allocation of growth income e.g. council tax, 
business rates, new homes bonus, grant funding etc., is having a detrimental 
effect on those authorities responsible for delivering growth related infrastructure.  
The County Council’s ability to support and finance local growth needs is likely to 
be affected unless there is a change in approach at a national level.   
 

5. The establishment of a central Growth Unit within the County Council will ensure 
that public services are effectively planned over the short, medium and long term 
across Leicestershire and that risks associated with the Council’s financial 
contribution to large scale growth and infrastructure projects remain tightly 
managed. 
 

6. Ensuring that developers make appropriate contributions to mitigate the 
consequences of their developments via developer contributions is essential if 
communities are not disadvantaged and to avoid the County Council being put 
under excessive financial demands which it will not be able to meet. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
7. Cost sharing arrangements will be negotiated with district councils where 

appropriate and as and when necessary in respect of specific projects.   
 

8. Work to establish the Growth Unit has begun and the recruitment of officers to 
support this will be undertaken imminently. 
 

9. A copy of this report and the decision of the Cabinet will be submitted to the 
Strategic Planning Group with the intention that it be shared at the Member 
Advisory Planning Group (MAG) meeting in July. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

10. The MTFS is the County Council’s rolling financial plan that is updated annually.  
The current MTFS for the period 2019/20 to 2022/23 was approved by the 
County Council on 20th February 2019.  This includes a capital programme of 
nearly £400m. 
 

11. On 23 November 2018 the Cabinet approved the Strategic Growth Plan 
“Leicester and Leicestershire 2050: Our Vision for Growth” (SGP) which provides 

106



 
 

an agreed local framework for considering the longer term needs of the area.  
This SGP was prepared and approved by the County Council and nine other 
partner organisations (the City Council, the seven district councils and the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP)), following extensive 
consultation. 
 

12. The Council’s Strategic Plan (agreed by County Council on 6th December 2017), 
supported by the Council’s Enabling Growth Plan, outlines the Council’s long-
term vision for the people and place of Leicestershire and sets the Council’s five 
key outcomes for 2018 to 2022, which include facilitating the delivery of 
affordable and quality homes and building a strong economy.  
 

13. In November 2017 the Cabinet approved a Joint Statement of Co-operation 
relating to Objectively Assessed Housing Need which confirms the commitment 
of partner organisations to collaborative working across Leicester and 
Leicestershire and accompanied the publication of the Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Analysis (HEDNA) completed in January 2017; a 
key piece of evidence which informed the preparation of the SGP by setting out 
forecasted housing and employment needs in the sub-region. 
 

14. The Leicestershire County Council Planning Obligation Policy, adopted on 3 
December 2014, sets out how the County Council will approach developer 
contributions through Section 106 obligations and includes a protocol between 
the County Council and the seven local planning authorities (district councils) on 
working arrangements.  Following consultation, this policy is being reviewed. An 
updated policy will be the subject of a report to the Cabinet in June 2019. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
15. The capital programme as set out in the Council’s MTFS for 2019/20 to 2022/23 

reflects many of the growth demands forecasted across the County, including the 
investment required for major infrastructure to support growth.  However, many 
potential schemes are not sufficiently detailed for formal inclusion in the capital 
programme at this stage.  These are referred to in the MTFS as ‘Future 
Developments’ and a Future Developments fund is held to contribute to such 
schemes.  The latest estimated requirement for Future Developments is £66m 
whilst only £8m of funding is currently identified.  There is therefore a current 
capital funding gap of £58m.   
 

16. This funding gap is expected to grow as the infrastructure requirements (in 
particular roads and schools) associated with anticipated population growth in 
Leicestershire over the next twenty years will be significant.  This will have a 
considerable impact on the County Council’s financial position. 
 

17. By way of example, the County Council’s commitment (and potential financial 
exposure) to deliver the scale of infrastructure required to support growth in 
Melton will require around £100m of investment net of grant funding (£160m 
gross).  Though it is expected that most of this will be recouped in later years 
through developer contributions, it will require significant forward funding from the 
County Council, and there are risks to the Authority, including but not limited to: 

107



 
 

the position adopted by developers, the approach of the borough council as the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) and changes in guidance and development of 
case law. There is a heavy reliance on Melton Borough Council playing its part in 
securing and maximising the level of Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 – developer contributions (s106) funding required to recoup 
the County Council’s investment. The experience of working with Melton Borough 
Council and the outcomes will inform negotiations with other district councils as 
their major housing developments evolve. 
 

18. It is estimated that the new Growth Unit will cost approximately £500,000 per 
year, although some existing resource can be identified within the appropriate 
service areas to reduce this demand.  As the Growth Unit will be established 
during this financial year, a full year’s worth of costs will not be incurred and as 
such £250,000 will be allocated from the 2019/20 underspend.  In addition to this, 
there will be an increase in staff resources within Strategic Property Services (still 
being quantified) aimed at improving the management of large scale growth 
projects.  The costs of this will be recharged to the Corporate Asset Investment 
Fund.  The impact within service departments, especially within the Children and 
Family Services and Environment and Transport Departments, also needs to be 
kept under review to ensure appropriate staff resource can be made available to 
support growth projects. 
 

19. The Director of Environment and Transport, the Director of Children and Family 
Services and the Director of Law and Governance have been consulted on the 
content of this report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
20. A copy of this report will be circulated to all members of the County Council. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources  
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6199   Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Nick Wash, Head of Finance 
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7146   Email: nick.wash@leics.gov.uk 
 
Simon Lawrence, Major Programmes Manager 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
 

108

mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:nick.wash@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


 
 

PART B 
 

Background 

21. The population of Leicestershire is projected to increase by 15.8% to 787,500 by 
2041, an increase of 107,100 people from 2016.  This expected increase is 
higher amongst all broad age bands than the East Midlands and England 
averages.  The working age population is projected to increase by 5.3%, whilst 
the greatest cumulative change is projected to occur in the 65+ age group, 
accounting for roughly three quarters of growth.  This brings associated impacts 
of an ageing population and the need for specialist housing to support this, as 
well as a requirement for more employment and general housing.  
 

22. In 2016 the County Council and its partners (the City Council, the seven district 
councils and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP)) 
commissioned the Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(HEDNA). This was completed in January 2017 and provided evidence, at that 
time, about projected housing and employment needs from 2011 to 2031 and 
2011 to 2036. This confirmed that an additional 96,580 homes and 367-423ha of 
land for employment use would need to be delivered across Leicester and 
Leicestershire for the period 2011-2031 with 117,900 homes and 459-497ha of 
land for employment use for the period 2011-2036.  Notional needs (figures 
extrapolated from HEDNA) are for a further 90,516 homes for the period 2031-
2050. 
 

23. The link between infrastructure and growth is well established.  Infrastructure 
such as roads, schools, community facilities and healthcare are all important not 
only in creating sustainable communities but also in unlocking development.  This 
has been recognised at a national and local level through the establishment of 
new Government grants for growth infrastructure projects (for which the County 
Council has been successful in bidding but which can require significant match 
funding referred to later), but also locally through the development of the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan by the County Council and its 
partners.   
 

24. Despite this recognition, issues are beginning to arise as explained in the 
following paragraphs at both a national and local level which mean that, in 
practice, delivering infrastructure is increasingly complex and gives rise to 
significant risks for the County Council. Funding for these projects often comes 
from a variety of sources, including from developer contributions, but the 
timescales for receiving this money often do not align with when the money is 
needed. Contributions are also subject to negotiations with landowners and 
developers, who will have their own commercial interests to protect. 
 

Financial Risks for the County Council 
 
25. The infrastructure required to support the level of growth detailed above will be 

significant.   The forecasted cost of delivering the infrastructure already 
identified/planned across the County is £600m over the next 25 years.  Mostly 
this relates to schools (24 new schools required at a cost of around £200m) and 

109



 
 

around £400m investment in roads and transport measures.  In addition, there 
are other areas where investment will be required, for example in Adult Social 
Care accommodation particularly bearing in mind the demographic forecasts 
referred to above. 
 

26. These demands come at a time when the County Council is facing significant 
financial, demographic and service demand challenges.  In the Council’s current 
MTFS savings of £74m over the next four financial years need to be delivered, 
with £13m to be made in 2019/20.  This is a challenging task, especially given 
that savings of £200m have already been delivered over the last nine years.  
Over the period of the MTFS, growth of £50m is also required to meet demand 
and cost pressures on frontline services with £14m required in 2019/20.  
 

27. The County Council has sought to maximise income for projects from other 
sources to ensure that planned strategic growth can take place and it will 
continue to do this wherever possible.  So far this has included seeking funding 
from various Government backed grant schemes as well as early negotiations 
with land owners and developers to ensure that private contributions can be 
realised.  However, this raises the following issues for the County Council: 
 

 National funding for major transport infrastructure is now generally awarded 
through competitive bidding processes rather than direct award to local 
authorities. There is normally an expectation of a match funding contribution, 
often somewhere in the region of 15% to 30% of a project’s total cost, without 
which the project would not be considered by the Government (in turn 
frustrating the delivery of associated development). Where match funding is to 
come from developer contributions, the County Council is dependent on 
district councils ensuring that the s106 process is well managed and funding 
is made available.  Experience to date suggests that performance is mixed for 
a variety of reasons not always within the control of the districts councils as 
Local Planning Authorities. 
 

 Invariably funding bids must include a business case, which in turn requires a 
significant degree of advanced scheme design work.  The availability of 
advance design funds from external sources is variable.  It is mainly awarded 
on a bidding basis with no consistent and/or guaranteed end-to-end stream of 
funding.  These costs can be significant with the work undertaken being at 
risk, insofar as there is no guarantee of a funding bid being successful 
(Government funding pots are normally heavily oversubscribed). 
 

28. By way of example, the proposed additional development committed within the 
recently adopted Melton Local Plan, around the town of Melton Mowbray, gives 
an insight into the scale of public investment required to ensure housing and 
business growth can take place. It highlights the financial risks such projects 
raise for the County Council as a major contributor particularly in the early stages 
of such a project. It also highlights the need for significant officer time from 
service departments, such as the Environment and Transport and Children and 
Family Services Departments, to input to the proposals.  
 

110



 
 

29. The known infrastructure costs to build the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 
(MMDR) and provide appropriate schools are in the region of £160m.  A 
Government grant of £49m has already been secured towards these delivery 
costs in respect of the Northern and Eastern sections and a Housing 
Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bid for £13m has been submitted to Government for the 
Southern section.  This, however, still leaves an estimated balance of around 
£100m to be identified. 

 
30. The working assumption is that Government grants and s106 developer 

contributions will fill this gap.  However, as is normal with any development, s106 
developer funding is not recouped until a development has been granted 
planning permission and reached certain stages of occupation.  There is 
therefore a requirement for the County Council to forward fund the project and 
this puts the County Council at significant risk, given that securing and 
maximising the necessary level of s106 developer contributions is outside of its 
control, this being managed by Melton Borough Council.   The HIF funding bid for 
the Southern Section of the road is also yet to be determined.  
 

31. It is also worth noting that the County Council has already invested £4m, at risk, 
to fund the business case development for the Northern and Eastern section of 
the MMDR.  

 
Addressing National Funding Arrangements 

 
32. The Government’s approach to growth delivery is key.  There have been many 

positive developments including the creation of enterprise zones and relaxations 
of housing authorities’ use of Housing Revenue Account funds to invest in 
housing.   Also, through Homes England, significant funding opportunities have 
been made available to support infrastructure, such as HIF (Highway 
Infrastructure Fund) and LAAC (Local Authority Accelerated Construction) which 
have a considerable, positive impact on the ability to deliver more homes or 
accelerate delivery.  
 

33. However, the requirement for significant match funding and at-risk business case 
development for highways infrastructure will be an increasing barrier to bringing 
schemes forward.  As outlined above, this approach requires recognition of 
significant risk. Forward investment by the County Council has to be carefully 
assessed given the wider and on-going pressures on revenue budgets, and the 
potential loss of accumulated growth funding from the business rates retention 
scheme.  Unless these wider funding pressures are addressed through the 
Comprehensive Spending and Fair Funding reviews, the ability for the County 
Council to support the Government’s housing delivery and economic growth 
ambitions will only reduce. 
 

34. The current system of local government finance is a significant impediment to 
sensible decision making. The County Council has consistently argued against 
the 80/20 split of business rates and new homes bonus in favour of district 
councils on the basis that the extra income needs to go to the organisations (the 
county tier) with lead responsibility for ensuring infrastructure investment is 
progressed. The County Council continues to lobby the Government to apportion 

111



 
 

the split proportionately to ensure growth projects are not curtailed or inhibited to 
the detriment of the communities affected. 
 

Addressing Local Issues  
 
35. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan -“Leicester and 

Leicestershire 2050: Our Vision for Growth” (SGP) agreed by the County Council 
and its partners took into account, along with other factors, the outcome of the 
HEDNA and sets the overarching strategy for addressing growth and 
development needs across Leicester and Leicestershire as a whole.  The Plan 
enables partners to consider and plan for growth in a coordinated way up to 
2050, beyond the reach of existing Local Plans. 
 

36. The County Council is committed to supporting the delivery of the SGP and its 
own Strategic Plan for 2018 – 2022 sets out its priorities which include the 
delivery of a strong economy and affordable and quality homes.   

 
37. Delivery of the SGP is reliant on district council Local Plans and both are 

important contributors to achieving the vision set out in the County Council’s 
Strategic Plan.   
 

38. However, despite this agreed joint approach and the positive contribution made 
by partners in the development of the SGP, there is growing concern that the 
approach being adopted in practice is not fully matching the ambition and 
commitment agreed, and in turn this is increasing the financial risks faced by the 
County Council. 
 

39. Whilst the County Council accepts the development and delivery of schemes 
within the planning process is complex there are examples of delays in the 
processing of planning applications, the possible emergence of schemes within 
new Local Plans that appear to be inconsistent with the agreed SGP, the 
withholding of statements of support for funding submissions, the potential 
prioritisation of minor schemes over major infrastructure schemes from the local 
business rates pool, and a general lack of coordination of associated schemes 
(Sustainable Urban Extensions and Strategic Development Areas) with multiple 
developers within Local Plans, including the defining of ambitious s106 developer 
funding agreements. 

 
40. As regards section 106 developer contributions, most contributions requested by 

the County Council are accepted by the district councils as Local Planning 
Authorities and incorporated into s106 agreements. However, there are a number 
of recent examples where contributions have not been accepted for legal or 
viability reasons or where the Local Planning Authority has chosen to prioritise 
other infrastructure. 
 

41. The Cabinet receives regular updates on the level of section 106 developer 
contributions received and approved when a planning application is granted 
given concerns that the Council’s reasonable expectations of receiving developer 
contributions are not always being met and therefore affect its ability to meet 
rising demands placed on services created by developments across the County.   

112



 
 

Given the requirement for the County Council to forward fund some of the larger 
growth projects aimed at supporting such development as detailed above, it is 
important that the County Council works constructively with the district councils to 
maximise s106 contributions for infrastructure.  
 

42. In respect of the business rate pilot, one of the key drivers for this and the 
business rate pool was to generate funds for infrastructure.  The principle of 
using these funds for this purpose has now been supported in principle by LLEP 
partners, including the district councils.  However, the actual amounts being 
made available, and the process for bidding into the pool are still to be agreed.  

 
43. If the County’s approach to supporting and delivering economic and housing 

growth were incorrect, the consequences would be significant.  There are two 
possible scenarios: first, the growth just does not take place as infrastructure is 
not affordable, or secondly, growth takes place but with inadequate investment 
generating further financial pressure on the County Council.  This second 
scenario is likely to result in increased road congestion and poor public services.  
There will also be serious consequences for the delivery of Local Plans, leading 
to unplanned growth in sensitive areas. 
 

44. In light of these risks, the following arrangements are required to ensure the 
County Council can deliver its commitments to growth whilst ensuring greater 
control of the financial risks it faces and that district councils play their part. 
 
Risk and Cost Sharing arrangements 
 

45. As Local Plan site allocations come forward across all district areas, to help 
mitigate the impact, it is proposed that a risk and cost sharing agreement with 
individual district councils is developed.  The principle has already been 
discussed with Melton Borough Council in relation to the Northern and Eastern 
sections of the distributor road and agreement reached on heads of terms.  This 
is based on the following principles:- 
 

 Ensuring additional tax revenues (business rates, council tax and new 
homes bonus) generated from the consequential housing and economic 
growth in the area are utilised to support the forward funding of the 
scheme and cover any potential ongoing funding shortfall.  This will also 
go towards mitigating the risk that developer contributions fall short of the 
overall scheme costs; 

 There is no request to divert funds from a district council’s base budget; 

 Actively seeking contributions from other sources such as the business 
rate pool, business rate pilot and other Government funding streams to 
fund the infrastructure; 

 Ensuring developer funding from the proposed developments are 
maximised and secured as early in the development as possible; 

 Establishing appropriate governance mechanisms; 

 Agreeing viability assessment methodology and transparency of outcome. 
 

 
 

113



 
 

 
 
 
Improved joint working around developer contributions 

 
46. Positive steps have been taken over recent months to reduce the likelihood of 

s106 contributions being rejected by Local Planning Authorities.  For instance, 
new processes have been agreed with district councils in relation to library and 
civic amenity contributions which have previously been rejected by some 
authorities as they did not meet the legal tests as set out in the Community 
Infrastructure Levy regulations. Agreement has also been reached with some 
district councils to have constructive discussions where viability issues arise, 
rather than the County Council’s requests being rejected outright.  

 
47. In relation to situations where reduced payments are claimed for viability 

reasons, the decision about what contributions to accept from a reduced overall 
pot rests with the individual Local Planning Authority.  To reduce the potential 
impact on County Council services, discussions are underway to agree a new 
way of working to allow County Council officers including those from service 
departments the opportunity to review developers’ viability claims and be more 
involved in s106 negotiations.  It is intended that this will pave the way for a more 
positive and constructive way of working.  
 
Improved Internal Management and Oversight Arrangements  
 

48. Given both the opportunities and risks associated with accelerated growth 
delivery for the County Council it is proposed that a Growth Unit be established 
centrally within the Chief Executive’s Department.  This new unit will bring 
together in a single, multi-disciplinary team, the expertise both to drive the 
Council’s overall growth agenda, but also specific large scale projects.  It will 
provide greater focus and improve the Council’s overall co-ordination of projects 
through the following:- 
 

 Ensuring the County Council effectively delivers growth in support of the 
Council’s Strategic Plan and MTFS; 

 Coordinating the delivery of County Council-led development schemes; 

 Coordinating the County Council’s input into SUEs and other large 
developments in a way which maximises the delivery of outcomes and limits 
the financial risk to the County Council; 

 Working collaboratively across the County Council recognising the key 
dependencies with the Economic Growth Team, Strategic Property Services 
and service departments, identifying where issues of capacity and the need 
for additional resources exist, particularly in the Environment and Transport 
and Children and Family Services Departments. 
 

49. The Growth Unit will be responsible for the following:- 
 

a) Identifying and defining land use opportunity; 
b) Engaging with key partners to support the County Council’s growth 

aspirations; 

114



 
 

c) Programme management of the County Council’s growth delivery activity; 
d) Leading the design and establishment of appropriate growth delivery 

vehicles; 
e) Leading the County Council’s input into the negotiation of s106 developer 

contributions for major and/or sensitive schemes ensuring maximum 
benefit to the County Council’s infrastructure and strategic outcomes; 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
50. There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications directly arising from this 

report.   
 
Risk Assessment 
 
51. Large and complex projects that require upfront investment in order to generate 

future financial returns inevitably bring a significant degree of risk.  The County 
Council is mindful of this and appropriate governance arrangements need to be 
in place to continually monitor such projects.  The Growth Unit will ensure that 
adequate project specific governance is in place and that updates are also 
regularly provided to Members as appropriate.  

 
Environmental Impact 

 
52. There are no environmental implications arising directly from the contents of this 

report. 
 
Background papers 
 
County Council – 20 February 2019 - The County Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for 2019/20 to 2022/23 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125&Ver=4  
 
Cabinet  - 23 November 2018 – Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan 
2018 - 2050  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5185&Ver=4 
 
County Council – 6 December 2017 – Strategic Plan 2018 - 2022 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4 
 
Cabinet – November 2017 - Joint Statement of Co-operation relating to Objectively 
Assessed Housing Need 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4865&Ver=4 

115

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5185&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4865&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020/21 – 2023/24 

PROPOSALS FOR CONSULTATION 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES  

 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the proposed approach to a 
widespread public, stakeholder and staff consultation on the County Council’s 
future financial priorities. The consultation will commence in June and will be used 
to inform the update of the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  

 
Recommendation 
 

2. The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the significant financial challenge faced by the County Council; 
 

b) Approve the plan for a comprehensive public, stakeholder, and staff 
consultation as set out in the appendix to this report. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 

 
3. To ensure that stakeholders’ views are incorporated into the County Council’s 

future financial plans. 
 

4. To enable the development of the 2020/21 to 2023/24 Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for consideration by the County Council in February 2020. 

 
 Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
5. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, it is intended to hold a four-month public 

consultation exercise from June 2019 through to September 2019. 
 

6. The results of the consultation will be considered by the Cabinet and Scrutiny 
Commission in November 2019. The updated MTFS will be considered by the 
Cabinet in December 2019 and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in January 
2020. The Cabinet will then consider the comments received and make a final 
recommendation to the County Council in February 2020.   

117 Agenda Item 9



 
 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

7. The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 to 2022/23 was approved by the 
County Council in February 2019.  

 
Resource Implications 

 
8. The MTFS is the key financial plan for the County Council. This covers not only 

the allocation of resources but also how the transformation activity, which allows 
the County Council to respond to the financial challenge, will be funded. 
 

9. Any resource implications that arise from the outcome of the consultation will be 
considered when the MTFS is updated in the autumn. This consultation will inform 
the County Council’s priorities, but proposals to change individual services are 
likely to require a specific consultation prior to implementation. 
 

10. Local Government continues to operate in an extremely challenging financial 
environment due to several years of funding cuts coinciding with increasing 
demand for services, particularly social care. Greater clarity on the financial 
outlook is expected this year from the Comprehensive Spending Review, Fair 
Funding Review and Adult Social Care Green Paper. Whilst these events may be 
delayed or not provide all of the desired clarity the timing of the consultation will 
allow the view of stakeholders to be considered alongside the latest information 
from Government. 
 

11. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this 
report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 

 
Officers to Contact 

 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 

118

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/dkeegan/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/CJMNC7N7/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


 
 

PART B 
Background 

 
Current Financial Position 
 

12. The financial position faced by the County Council is both serious and extremely 
challenging. This is particularly so for a low funded authority such as 
Leicestershire, as room for further savings is limited. 
 

13. The combination of reducing Government grants, inflationary pressures and rising 
service demand has resulted in a savings requirement of £75m to be made from 
2019/20 to 2022/23. The current MTFS sets out in detail £35m of savings and 
proposed reviews that will identify further savings to offset the £20m funding gap 
in 2022/23. A further £20m of savings will be required to ensure that High Needs 
funding can be contained within the Government grant. 

 

14. The Government’s ending of austerity coupled with the Fair Funding Review 
potentially indicate a reducing of the financial pressure in the future. However, 
even the most optimistic commentators do not suggest that Local Government will 
be placed in the position that demands are fully funded and resources will no 
longer need to be prioritised.  
 

15. Therefore, when the MTFS is updated to include 2023/24 it is likely that an 
additional savings requirement will be created. Cost increases, driven by the 
National Living Wage, and additional service demand mean that income either 
has to increase at a faster rate than inflation or expenditure reductions will be 
required. 

  
16. The priority for savings has and will continue to be efficiencies or additional 

income. The scale of the financial challenge has meant that reductions in services 
provided have been inevitable. This is likely to be a consideration in the future due 
to the existing £20m funding gap and on-going cost pressures. 

 
MTFS Refresh 
 

17. The MTFS will be refreshed over the autumn, with a similar approach taken to that 
in previous years, namely, continued investment in organisational change, 
planning and robust delivery of savings and a realistic allowance for growth. This 
needs to be done in the context of significant uncertainty ahead that will need to 
be mitigated by the use of contingencies.  
 

18. The results of the consultation will be known in advance of the draft MTFS being 
received by the Cabinet in December 2019. This will allow proposals to be 
influenced by stakeholder views. The consultation results will also support the 
scrutiny review process in January 2020. 

119



 
 

 
19. The broad MTFS timetable is: 

 

 June to September 2019 – Stakeholder consultation 

 September to November 2019 – refresh growth and savings including 
consideration by Lead Members, incorporating the results of the stakeholder 
consultation. 

 December 2019 – the Cabinet is requested to approve the draft MTFS for 
consultation. 

 December 2019 – receipt of the Local Government Finance Settlement 

 January 2020 – consultation on the draft MTFS, including Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission. 

 February 2020 – the Cabinet is requested to approve the final draft MTFS for 
submission to the County Council. 

 
20. In the current MTFS a series of Savings Under Development were identified. 

These initiatives are primarily efficiency focused and will continue to be developed 
for consideration in the refresh of the MTFS.  
 

21. The approach for refreshing the MTFS will be to maintain a strong financial 
position until the outcome of funding reforms and future Government policy 
towards Local Government is clearer. 

 
 Budget Consultation 
  

22. The last widespread stakeholder consultation exercise was undertaken in 2013. 
Since that time the organisation has changed significantly and stakeholders’ views 
on priorities are likely to have evolved. It is proposed that a detailed and 
widespread budget consultation exercise is undertaken over the summer and 
early autumn.  
 

23. The consultation will involve engagement with stakeholder groups, establishing 
focus groups of members of the public and a questionnaire that will be sent to all 
households in Leicestershire. 
 

24. The aim of the consultation is to identify high and lower priorities including areas 
for further savings; also to develop thinking about the future shape and direction of 
the County Council including the scope for generating savings through working 
with other public sector organisations.  

 
25. The appendix to this report sets out the proposed consultation process in detail. 

This is an important element of the development of the MTFS given the scale of 
the financial challenge. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

26. In line with any proposed change to the County Council’s policies, procedures and 
services, due consideration is being given in the MTFS to ensuring that 
disadvantaged people and groups are not adversely impacted. Where proposed 
savings are likely to affect service users protected under equalities legislation, 

120



 
 

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments must be undertaken at an 
appropriate stage in the process of developing proposals. A high-level 
assessment will be completed as part of the consultation planning process, 
followed by more detailed assessments on the specific impact of any proposals. 
 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 

27. Some aspects of the County Council’s MTFS are directed towards providing 
services which will support the reduction of crime and disorder.   
 
Environmental Implications 

  
28. The MTFS includes schemes that support the carbon management programme 

and other environmental improvements.  
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

29. The consultation will seek views on partnership working and services that are 
provided with partners. Partners will be consultant on any proposals that affect 
them from the updated MTFS. 
 
Risk Assessments 
 

30. As this report states, risks and uncertainties surrounding the financial outlook are 
significant. The risks are included in the Corporate Risk Register which is regularly 
updated and reported to the Corporate Governance Committee. 
 
Background Papers 

 
Report to County Council - 20 February 2019 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2019/20 to 2022/23 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125&Ver=4  

 
Appendix 

 

Proposed approach to consultation and engagement 
 

121

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 

Proposed approach to consultation and engagement 

Purpose 

To engage residents, staff and relevant stakeholders and partners in the development of the 

council’s future plans and services, seeking views on priorities and challenges and gathering 

feedback which will help inform decision making.  

Format and timescales 

A consultation and engagement exercise of this scale is complex and broken down into the 

stages below: 

Stage Timescale 

Consultation starts 

An initial Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment will be 

completed 

Jun 

Online budget tool 

An interactive tool - enabling people to gain a deeper 

understanding of the council’s budget. 

Jun 

Questionnaire 

A questionnaire and supporting information will be published 

online and also sent to households in the county in a special 

edition of the council’s residents’ newsletter, Leicestershire 

Matters. 

Mid-Jun 

Stakeholder briefing 

Key stakeholders and influencers will be invited to events to 

provide challenge and insight. 

Jun - Sep 

Deliberative workshops 

A series of workshops will be held with a selected, 

representative sample of residents. These will be independently 

recruited to and facilitated. 

Jul 

Staff engagement 

Staff and managers will be invited to feedback at a series of 

Jun - Sep 

123



Corporate Management Team roadshows and a Senior 

Managers’ Conference and complete the questionnaire. 

Updates will be provided through News For All, the intranet, 

Yammer and newsletters. 

Public events 

Residents will be targeted at public events with high footfall 

identified across the county which will provide an opportunity 

to complete the questionnaire. 

Jun – Sep 

Consultation ends Sep 

Analysis of results 

Feedback will be collated, analysed and reported. 

Further Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment to be 

undertaken as appropriate 

Sep - Oct 

Feedback to stakeholders, partners, respondents and residents 

A programme of communication and engagement will be 

developed. 

Oct - Nov 

 

124



 
 

          
      

 
CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 

 
ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2018/19 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the action taken and the 

performance achieved in respect of the treasury management activities of the Council 
in 2018/19. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Cabinet is asked to note this report. 
 
Reason for Recommendation 
 
3. The Authority’s full adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice for treasury 

management requires an annual report on Treasury Management activity and 
performance to be considered by both the Cabinet and the Corporate Governance 
Committee before the end of September each year. 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. Under the CIPFA Code of Practice it is necessary to report on treasury management 

activities undertaken in 2018/19 by the end of September 2019.  
 
5. The Corporate Governance Committee considered the matter on 10 May 2019 and 

noted the report. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. The Authority adopted the revised CIPFA Code of Practice for treasury 

management in February 2010. Treasury management issues are now reported to 
either the Corporate Governance Committee or the Cabinet. Approval of the annual 
treasury management strategy remains the responsibility of the County Council 
which it considers as part of the MTFS each year.    

 

125 Agenda Item 10



 
 

Resource Implications 
 
7. Treasury management is an integral part of the Council’s Finances. Interest generated 

by treasury management activities of £2.3m was earned in 2018/19 and interest paid 
on external debts was £15.1m 

 
Circulation under the local Issues Alert procedure 
 
8. None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mr Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
Tel: 0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
Tel: 0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

126

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

PART B 
 
Background 

 
9. The term treasury management is defined as:- 
 

“The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks”. 

 
10. The Director of Corporate Resources is responsible for carrying out treasury 

management on behalf of the County Council, under guidelines agreed annually by 
the County Council. 

 
Treasury Management 2018/19 
 
11. The Treasury Management Policy Statement for 2018/19 was agreed by the full 

Council on 21st February 2018, in relation to the sources and methods of borrowing 
and approved organisations for lending temporarily surplus funds. 
 

12. The criteria for lending to Banks are still derived from the list of approved counter 
parties provided by the County Council’s advisors, Link Asset Services.  The list is 
amended to reduce the risk to the County Council by removing the lowest rated 
counterparties and reducing the maximum loan duration. 

 
13. During the year all outstanding loans were repaid on time with the interest due. 

 
14. For local authority lending the policy is unchanged with no loans permitted in excess 

of 12 months duration or £10 million in value.  In May 2018, Moody’s, one of the 
world’s best-known credit rating agencies, re-affirmed its view that the UK local 
government sector has a high credit quality.  The implication being that the sector 
continues to be a good risk for lenders. 
 

15. During the year there were no divergences from the agreed policy.  
 

16. In 2016 it was agreed that any counterparty that was downgraded whilst a loan was 
active, and where the unexpired period of the loan, or the amount on loan, would 
then breach the limit at which a new loan could be made to that counterparty, this 
would be included in the quarterly treasury management report to the Corporate 
Governance Committee. There were no such incidents during 2018/19.  
 

17. Following the August 2018 increase in UK base lending rates to 0.75% the impact on 
short-dated investments in Money Market Funds improved in line with the increase by 
October 2018.  However, the medium to longer term rates included the impact of the 
rate increase immediately and also priced in expectation for future base rate rises 
which created opportunities to improve returns. 

 
18. At the August 2018 Bank of England (BoE) Monetary Policy Committee meeting, 

market guidance from the BoE indicated that any increases in Bank rate are likely to 

127



 
 

be at a gradual pace and to a limited extend.  The premium for lending long to highly 
rated UK financial institutions continued to out-weigh the risk of a rate increase, so 
investments for periods of 6 months and 12 months were made during the year.  
Rates have remained on hold since August 2018.   

 
19. BoE stated in the March 2019 Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting that any 

future rate changes will depend significantly on the nature and timing of the UK’s 
withdrawal from the EU and the movement could be in either direction.  However, 
BoE Governor, Mark Carney, has remained dovish due to the prospect of Brexit, but 
did imply in his press conference that in case of a long Brexit extension, the MPC 
may move to raise rates in the summer.  However, the Council’s treasury advisers 
suggest the chances of a near term rate hike are slim at best and the prospect of a 
move towards the end of the year is only 50%. They also reiterated their stance to 
always act to achieve the 2% inflation target. 

 
20. On the debt portfolio, no new loans were taken.  A total of £0.5m was repaid in the 

year which was in respect of three Equal Instalments of Principal loans, thereby 
reducing the overall balance of the loan portfolio, but marginally increasing the 
average ‘Pool’ rate.   

 
21. The Authority has not raised any external loans since August 2010 and external debt 

is around £100m lower than it was at its peak in November 2006.  There are no 
current plans to raise any further external debt, and opportunities to reduce it will be 
considered if they are cost effective. 

  
Position at 31st March 2019  

 
22. The Council’s external debt position at the beginning and end of the year was as 

follows: - 

Average Average Average Average

Rate Life Rate Life

Fixed Rate 

Funding

- PWLB £161.1m 6.77% 32 yrs £160.6m 6.77% 31 yrs

-Market £    0.0m n/a n/a £    0.0m n/a n/a

Variable 

Rate 

Funding:

- Market (1) £103.5 m 4.37% 1 yr 103.5m 4.37% 1 yr

Total Debt £264.6m 5.83% 20 yrs £264.1m 5.84% 20 yrs

31st March 2018 31st March 2019

Principal Principal

 
  

(1) The lenders all have an option to increase the rates payable on these loans on certain pre-set dates, and if 
they exercise this option we can either repay or accept the higher rate. The average life is based on the next 
option date. 

 

23. The position in respect of investments varies throughout the year as it depends on 
large inflows and outflows of cash.  Over the course of the year the loan portfolio 
(which includes cash managed on behalf of schools with devolved banking 

128



 
 

arrangements) varied between £204.1m and £299.8m, and averaged £248m. 
Investments as at 31 March 2019 were £247.5m. 
 

Debt Transactions 
 
24. The Council began the financial year £7.7m over-borrowed compared with the 

amount required to fund the historic capital programme - the Capital Financing 
Requirement.     
 

25. Although the term over-borrowed suggests an unusual situation it is simply caused 
by the County Council setting aside money each year so that when the loan becomes 
due it can be repaid.  Historically this situation did not arise because new borrowing 
was undertaken each year. Recently there has been no requirement to borrow to 
fund the capital programme (which leads to debt financing costs that fall on the 
revenue budget), and also the Government’s change a number of years ago to award 
grants to fund the capital programme rather than the previous approach of supporting 
borrowing.  Ideally the situation would be remedied by repaying loans early.  
However, given the large penalties that would be incurred from early repayment the 
position is unlikely to change unless long-term interest rates rise significantly. 
  

26. At the end of the financial year, after the repayment of debt and setting aside funding 
for the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) - a charge (circa. £10m) that is intended 
to ensure that loans raised to finance capital expenditure are paid off over the longer 
term - the Council was £17.6m over-borrowed.  

 
27. The lack of opportunity to reduce the debt portfolio because of historic stagnant 

interest rates makes the punitive redemption costs prohibitive.  The debt portfolio 
stands at £264.1m and the average pool rate 5.84%. 

 
28. Only £0.5m of repayments were made during the year meaning that the average pool 

rate was stagnant.  
 
Investments 
 
29. The loan portfolio produced an average return of 0.83% in 2018/19, compared to an 

average base rate of 0.67% and the average 7-day LIBID (London Interbank Bid 
Rate) index (representative of what could be achieved if only short-term loans within 
the money market were made) of 0.52%.  
  

30. The loan portfolio has outperformed both the average base rate and the average 7-
day LIBID in every one of the last 24 years, which is when the figures started to be 
produced.  The level of the outperformance is flattered somewhat by the significant 
over-performance achieved both during and in the immediate aftermath of the credit 
crunch.  The average rate of interest earned on the portfolio in the last 24 years is 
3.84%, and this compares to an average base rate and the average LIBID index 
which have both produced a return of 3.2%.  
 

31. The variability of balances makes it difficult to calculate the excess interest that the 
over performance has achieved over the whole of the 20+ year period for which 
performance records are available, but it is estimated to be at least £28m.  Almost 
half of this added value came in the five financial years from 2008 to 2013, which can 
be categorised as the start of the financial crisis and a period in which a number of 

129



 
 

loans placed during the financial crisis were earning interest at rates that (relative to 
base rates) were extraordinary. 
 

32. The numbers detailed in paragraphs 29 to 31 above exclude investments relating to 
private debt.  The total value of private debt investment as at 31st March 2019 was 
£20m and is performing in line with expectations. 

 
Summary 
 
33. Treasury Management is an integral part of the Council’s overall finances and the 

performance of this area is very important.  Whilst individual years obviously matter, 
performance is best viewed on a medium / long term basis.  The action taken in 
respect of the debt portfolio in recent years has been extremely beneficial and has 
resulted in significant savings.  Short term gains might, on occasions, be sacrificed 
for longer term certainty and stability.  

 
34. The loan portfolio has produced an exceptional level of over-performance in the 

period in which performance figures have been calculated.  Adding significant value 
in a period of extremely low interest rates is very difficult.  Ironically a period in which 
there begins to be differentiation in expectations for both the pace and extent of 
future base rate rises will make the cash sums that can be gained larger, whilst also 
giving a higher level of risk that the decisions taken might be wrong.  Such a period 
has intermittently seemed to get closer in recent years, only to be consistently put 
back. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
35. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report. 
 
Background Papers 

 
Report to County Council on 22nd February 2018 – ‘Medium Term Financial Plan’ and 
Appendix L to that report - ‘Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 2018/19’  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5105&Ver=4  
 
 

130

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5105&Ver=4


 
CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 

 
2018/19 PROVISIONAL REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN  

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
PART A 

 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the provisional revenue and capital outturn 

for 2018/19 and seek the Cabinet’s approval for additional commitments. 

Recommendations 

 
2. It is recommended that: 

 
(a) The 2018/19 provisional revenue and capital outturn be noted; 

 
(b) The additional commitments as set out in paragraphs 51 and 52 of the report be 

approved; 
 

(c) The prudential indicators for 2018/19 as shown in Appendix E be noted. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. To inform the Cabinet of the provisional revenue and capital outturn for 2018/19, 

and to set aside funding for additional commitments. 
   

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. A report on the provisional revenue and capital outturn will be considered by the 

Scrutiny Commission on 12th June 2019. 
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

5.  The County Council approved the 2018/19 to 2021/22 Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) in February 2018.  The key aim of the Strategy is to ensure that 
the Authority has appropriate resources in place to fund key service demands over 
the next few years.  The Strategy includes the establishment of earmarked funds 
and the allocation of ongoing revenue budget and capital resources for key 
priorities. 
 
 

131 Agenda Item 11



Resource Implications 
 
Revenue Outturn 

  
6. A summary of the revenue outturn for 2018/19, excluding schools grant, is set out 

below: 
 

 £000 

Updated budget  362,489 
Less provisional outturn -352,865 
Add additional income 249 
Less additional commitments -8,873 

Net underspending 1,000 

 
7.  Overall there has been a net underspending of £1.0m after additional 

commitments. 
  
8. The underspend will be added to the uncommitted General Fund. The General 

Fund balance as at 31st March 2019 stands at £15.8m, which represents 4.2% of 
the 2019/20 revenue budget, in line with the County Council’s policy and the 
MTFS approved in February 2019.  The Fund will be reviewed again during 2019 
taking into account the risks faced by the County Council. 

 
9. The Authority has made significant progress in achieving the savings in the MTFS, 

but there is still a long way to go. The underspend to a large extent reflects the 
early achievement of efficiency savings. Price and service demand pressures 
have been largely contained in the year. Inflation and demographic pressures 
mean that this position will not be maintained beyond the short term.  In the MTFS 
for the period 2019/20 to 2022/23 the savings requirement totals £74m, of which 
£20m still needs to be identified.   
  

Capital Outturn 
 
10. A summary of the capital outturn for 2018/19, excluding schools devolved formula 

capital, is set out below: 
 

 £000 

Updated budget 112,404 
Less provisional outturn             86,057 

Net Underspending (slippage)           -26,347 
  

 
11. Overall there has been a net underspending of £26.3m compared with the 

updated budget. The net underspending will be carried forward to 2019/20 to fund 
schemes that were not completed in 2018/19.  
  

12. Details of the variances and key achievements in delivery of the 2018/19 capital 
programme are included in the report.  

132



Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
13. None.   

Officers to Contact 

 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property), Corporate 
Resources Department,  
Tel: 0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
../P10/Scrutiny%208%20March/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
 
Overall Position - Revenue 
 
14. Appendix A shows the provisional outturn position for 2018/19.  This compares the 

actual net expenditure incurred with the updated budget.  The original budget has 
been updated for 2017/18 carry forwards and transfers between services.   

 
15. The overall net underspend is £1.0m, which is proposed is added to the General 

Fund. 
 

16. Appendix B gives details of significant variances on departmental revenue 
budgets for 2018/19 

 
Children and Family Services  

 
Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
17. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) expenditure is overspent by £0.5m due to 

continued pressure within the High Needs Block. 
 
18. The number of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) is increasing through 

population increases and as a result of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) reform has resulted in an overspend of £3.9m. Lower cost local provision 
continues to be developed as an alternative to more costly independent provision; 
three further units for children with Autism Spectrum Disorders opened in the new 
academic year. Under SEND reform, students are able to access high needs 
support where they have an EHCP up to the age of 25, and numbers are 
increasing. This overspend position is partly offset in 2018/19 by an additional 
£1.6m DSG High Needs Block Grant allocated in December 2018. 

 
19. Schools Growth in 2018/19 has now been confirmed and is £1.1m less than 

budgeted. The funding has been approved by the Schools Forum to meet the 
revenue costs associated with new schools and also for meeting the costs of 
some funding protection for schools with falling rolls as a result of age range 
change in other schools.  This funding will be set aside within the DSG earmarked 
fund to meet the future costs of new schools arising as a result of housing 
developments across Leicestershire. The revenue cost of commissioning a new 
school is estimated in total to be £0.5m to £0.8m for a primary and £2.3m to 
£2.5m for a secondary depending upon size and opening arrangements. 23 new 
primary and 2 new secondary schools are expected to be built in Leicestershire in 
the medium to long term. 
 

20. There is also net underspend of £0.5m on the Early Years grant which reflects a 
surplus of grant over expenditure as at March 2019.  The Department for 
Education will finalise the grant allocation in July 2019. The current unspent 
balance will be held in the DSG earmarked fund. The Early Years grant is paid to 
providers on a termly basis and the grant income from the Department for 
Education is calculated based on annual censuses. The grant does not therefore 

134



equal the expenditure. Any differences are transferred into or out of the DSG 
earmarked fund. 

 
21. Based on the year end position the net DSG overspend has been funded from the 

DSG earmarked fund, resulting in a balance of £1.7m.  
  
Local Authority Budget 
 
22. There is an overspend of £0.5m (0.8%) on the local authority budget. The main 

variances are explained below. 
 
23. The recruitment of social workers is a concern nationally and that position is 

reflected in Leicestershire resulting in the need to use agency workers to fill 
vacancies. The financial impact is an overspend of £0.7m (children’s social care, 
safeguarding and quality assurance budgets). 

 
24. Expenditure on placements for Looked after Children (LAC) overspent by £0.7m. 

This is due to some unusually higher than average placement costs across both 
the residential and supported accommodation budget areas. For example, one 
residential placement with a weekly cost of over £8,000 to ensure the needs of the 
child can be met fully, in comparison to the weekly average of £3,500. This budget 
also includes additional costs arising from the increase in foster fees and invest to 
save costs arising from the Therapeutic Wrap Around Support contract (MISTLE). 

 
25. The Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) budget overspent by 

£0.4m. This is a volatile area of the budget where numbers of children and 
associated costs can change rapidly. For example, in the last 3 months on the 
financial year UASC numbers increased from 68 to 83. The grant received from 
the Home Office does not fully cover costs. 

 
26. The departmental Business Support function underspent by £0.6m. This is largely 

as a result of a number of vacant posts as the new service was established and 
staff turnover following the implementation of the Business Support Review.  

 
27. The CFS Early Help service also under spent by £0.6m. This is due to managed 

vacancies and staff turnover as a result of transition to the new service from the 
Early Help Review.  

  
Adults and Communities 

 
28. The department has a net underspend of £5.1m (3.7%).  The main variances are: 

 

 Residential Care £2.1m underspend due to a reduction in number of service 
users and a reduction in the cost of packages (£0.6m), and an increase in 
service user income (£1.5m). 

 Direct Payments £1.0m underspend due to a higher than expected clawback 
of unused balances and falling service user numbers (£2m) offset by 
increasing cost of care packages (£1m). 

 Homecare £1.4m overspend relating to increased number of adult social care 
service users and higher 2017/18 payments than were accrued. 

135



29. Staffing and overhead budgets are underspent by £1.6m. Following the 
restructure of the department in last year there continues to be a high number of 
social care vacancies. Some of these have been offset by the use of agency staff 
or are held in advance of savings. Recruitment is in progress and the level of 
agency staff is reducing. 

  
30. An additional 2018/19 grant for Adult Social Care winter pressures was 

announced in October 2018. The County Council’s allocation was £2.4m and was 
used to fund additional expenditure across Adults and Communities budgets. The 
grant determination states that the funding may only be used for supporting the 
local health and social care system to manage pressures on the NHS between 
November 2018 and March 2019 including interventions which support people to 
be discharged from hospital, which would otherwise be delayed, with the 
appropriate social care in place. 

 
Public Health 
 
31. The departmental outturn is in line with the budget.   
  
32. There has been a reduction in the use of earmarked funds of £0.1m, which is 

offset by reducing numbers of health checks to a targeted provision and improved 
software to check claims received (£0.1m).  The Public Health grant for the year is 
£24.9m. 

 
Environment and Transport 
 
33. The outturn position is a net underspend of £0.7m (1.0%). 
 
Highways 
 
34. Net overspend of £0.2m, mainly due to the following variances:  
 

 Staffing and Administration overspend £0.2m - delay in the introduction of 
charging for the pre-application advice service and additional agency staffing 
to cover long term sickness, slightly offset by additional savings from some 
vacant posts.  

 Winter maintenance overspend £0.2m - necessity to treat roads in April 2018 
and additional costs to fill empty barns;   

 Environmental maintenance overspend £0.2m - additional costs for 
outsourced strimming services of alleyways and additional sign cleaning 
costs required during the summer. 

 Street Lighting maintenance underspend (£0.2m) - routine maintenance 
costs being less than expected and small savings in the energy budget. 

 Traffic controls underspend (£0.1m) - additional income and savings on 
traffic signals energy costs. 

 

136



Transportation 
 
35. Net overspend of £0.6m, mainly due to the following variances:  
 

 Special Educational Needs (SEN) transport overspend £1.0m - increased 
demand and an increased number of solo occupancy journeys. 

 Social Care Transport overspend £0.2m - additional spending on children’s 
social care transport and delays implementing savings. 

 Public Bus Services overspend £0.2m - due to the costs of subsidising 
additional bus routes that are no longer commercially viable. 

 Mainstream School Transport underspend (£0.6m) - arising from a reduction 
in pupil numbers being transported. 

 Fleet Transport underspend (£0.2m) - due to lower staffing costs arising from 
improving sickness absence rates and reduced fuel costs due to the use of 
new vehicles. Additional income has also been received. 

 
Environment and Waste 
 
36. Net underspend of £1.4m, mainly due to the following variances: 

 

 Dry Recycling underspend (£0.5m) - higher than anticipated receipts for dry 
recycling materials. 

 Treatment Contracts underspend (£0.4m) - lower waste tonnages at 
Mechanical Biological Treatment plants and Energy from Waste sites.  

 Composting Contracts underspend (£0.2m) - decrease in green waste 
tonnage due to weather conditions (dry summer and therefore lower 
growth). 

 Haulage and Waste Transfer underspend (£0.2m) - lower than expected 
haulage requirements in 2018/19. 

 Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) overspend £0.3m - 
increased RHWS haulage costs. Site repair and maintenance and 
improvement costs were also higher than budgeted. 

 Income (£0.2m) - additional income received from extra trade waste. 
 
Chief Executive’s 
 
37. The department has a net underspend of £0.5m (5.1%) which is mainly due to 

staff vacancies (£0.2m) and increased income, mainly relating to planning (£0.3m). 
 

Corporate Resources 
 
38. The department has a net underspend of £0.2m (0.7%).  

 
39. Underspends across the department mainly due to staff vacancies are offset by a 

shortfall in the achievement of the full Commercial Services income targets, which 
delivered a contribution of £1.6m, against a target of £2m. While both sales and 
net contribution were ahead of budget in most areas, an underachievement of 
income in Sites Development, alongside a below-budget contribution from 
Beaumanor Hall and Activity Centre resulted in the variance. An overspend of 

137



£0.4m is also reported on Corporate Projects due mainly to savings on the Key 
supplier contract not being achieved. 

 
Contingencies 
 
40. An underspend of £0.1m has been achieved on the Carbon Reduction 

Commitment budget. There has been a significant fall in the levels of CO2 
tonnages relating to energy consumption, particularly following the Council’s 
investment in switching street lighting to LEDs. 

 
41. Inflation underspend of £2.9m. Transfers of £12.0m have been made from the 

inflation contingency, mainly relating to the 2018/19 pay award, increases in 
employer pension contributions, the Adult Social Care Fee Review and inflation 
pressures on highways, transport, waste and energy budgets.  This results in a 
residual budget of £2.9m in the contingency. This includes £2m held back due to a 
lower net inflation requirement for Adults and Communities as a consequence of 
additional income continuing from 2017/18. 

 
Central Items 

 
42. The Revenue Funding of Capital line shows an increase of £3.7m. This relates to 

the equivalent of £1.6m of Adults and Communities spend funded from the Winter 
Pressures grant, £1.5m Adult Social Care support grant and additional £0.6m 
interest income (see below) to provide funding for the Future Developments Fund. 

 
43. There is a net underspend of £0.6m on Central Expenditure. The underspend is 

made up of several small items, the largest relating to additional ESPO surplus 
income. 

 
44. The Central Grants and Income budget shows additional income of £2.2m, mainly 

relating to the following: 
 

 The late notification of the Adult Social Care Support Grant (£1.5m, 2018/19 
only).  The additional income has been added to the Future Developments 
Fund (and is shown on the Revenue Funding of Capital line) to provide 
funding for proposals to reconfigure the Council’s in-house learning disability 
residential accommodation, approved by the Cabinet on 12th June 2018.  

 Bank and other interest, additional income of £0.6m has been received due to 
an increase in the Bank of England base rate in August and a further £2.5m 
investment in Pooled Property investments midway through the year. As in 
previous years the additional income has been added to the Revenue 
Funding of Capital budget for the Future Developments Fund.     

 
45. There is a net underspend of £1.4m on prior year adjustments, mainly due to 

provisional estimates from a detailed review of prior year open purchase orders 
that are no longer required.  

 
46. Additional business rates Section 31 grant of £0.3m is anticipated. The 

Government has adjusted an element of the calculation regarding 2017/18 and the 
County Council has received £0.1m more income than originally forecast. In 

138



addition, the provisional returns of 2018/19 business rates income show increased 
income of £0.2m. 

 
47. The Government has also allocated £0.9m to the County Council from surplus 

levies accumulated in the national business rates levy fund. The allocation was 
announced alongside the 2019/20 Local Government Finance Settlement and the 
County Council 2019/20 budget reflects this one-off income. The income was 
received at the end of March 2019 and has been carried forward to 2019/20 via 
the Business Rates earmarked fund. 

 
Business Rates Pooling  

 
48. The County Council undertakes quarterly monitoring with the District Councils and 

Leicester City Council regarding the 2018/19 Leicester and Leicestershire 
Business Rates Pool.  The provisional outturn shows a surplus of c£8.5m in 
2018/19 compared with a forecast of around £6.0m in January 2018. The final 
position will be confirmed in July 2019. The Pooling agreement allows for the 
surplus to be allocated to the LLEP. 

 
49. The partners of the Business Rates Pool were successful with a bid to central 

government to be a pilot for 75% business rates retention in 2019/20. The latest 
forecasts show that the Pilot could lever an additional circa £15m in funding for the 
Leicester and Leicestershire area, in addition to the continuation of the Pool which 
is forecasting a surplus of circa £9m for 2019/20. 

 
Additional Commitments 

 
50. Overall there is a gross underspend of £9.9m. 
 
51. A total of £8.9m is proposed to be used to fund the following additional 

commitments: 
  
Previously reported 

 Highways Maintenance (2019/20) £2.0m – summer heat damage to roads.  

 Long Term Prepayments £2.7m – two long-term prepayments in respect of 
payments made upfront for leases of office accommodation. The 
prepayments are recharged to the revenue budget at £110,000 per annum. 
Following a review of the accounting treatment it is possible to charge the 
remaining amount in full to the revenue budget to remove the ongoing 
liability and create an annual saving equal to the amount that would have 
been recharged. This is a technical accounting adjustment only; the leases 
of the properties remain unaffected. 

 Chief Executive’s Department £0.2m – contribution to the revenue costs of 
the Broadband Project Team to complete Phase 3. 

 Future Developments £3.6m - to reduce the forecast shortfall on the Fund.    
 

139



New 
 
52. Increased demands on the Authority due to unprecedented levels of infrastructure 

growth, additional funding is required in the following areas. The ongoing impacts 
of these new requirements will be included in the refresh of the MTFS for 2020-24. 
 

 New Growth Unit, £0.25m – part year funding 2019/20, see separate report 
to the Cabinet meeting 24 May 2019. Establishment of a Growth Unit within 
the Chief Executive’s Department to strengthen the County Council’s internal 
co-ordination and management of growth projects. 

 Environment and Transport - £0.15m part year funding for new posts in 
2019/20, required for increased workload in delivering the growth agenda. 

 
53. The balance of £1m is proposed to be added to the General Fund, bringing the 

balance to £15.8m at 31 March 2019. This reflects the increasing uncertainty and 
risks over the medium term; these include legal challenges or national matters 
requiring funding, legislative changes that come with a financial penalty, and 
service provision issues that require investment.  

 
General Fund and Earmarked Funds 
 
54. The uncommitted General Fund balance as at 31 March 2019 stands at £15.8m, 

after the additional £1m mentioned earlier in the report, which represents 4.2% of 
the 2019/20 revenue budget, in line with the County Council’s policy.  The MTFS 
includes further analysis of the County Council’s earmarked funds including the 
reasons for holding them.  A detailed review of earmarked funds will be reported 
to the Cabinet in the autumn.  

 
55. The total level of earmarked funds held for revenue purposes as at 31 March 2019 

is £38.1m, excluding the ring-fenced Dedicated Schools Grant earmarked fund 
and monies held on behalf of partnerships, which compares to £38.7m as at 31 
March 2018.  Earmarked funds for capital purposes total £98.2m as at 31 March 
2019 compared with £81.7m at 31 March 2018.  Earmarked funds are shown in 
detail in Appendix C.  The main earmarked funds are set out below. 

 
Renewals of Vehicles and Equipment (£4.2m) 

 
56. Departments hold earmarked funds for the future replacement of vehicles (the 

County Council has a fleet of around 350 vehicles) and equipment such as ICT.   
 

Industrial Properties (£1.6m) 
 

57. These are funds generated from in-year underspends over a number of years on 
the industrial property revenue budgets.  

 
Insurance (£12.9m) 
   
58. Earmarked funds of £7.6m are held to meet the estimated cost of future claims to 

enable the Council to meet excesses not covered by insurance policies and 

140



smooth fluctuations in claims between years.  The levels are informed by advice 
from independent advisors.  Excesses include: 

 Property damage (including fire) £500,000 

 Public / Employers’ liability £375,000 

 Professional indemnity £25,000 

 Fidelity guarantee £100,000 

 Money – completely self-insured 
59. The uninsured loss fund of £5.3m is required mainly to meet potential liabilities 

arising from Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) that is subject to a run-off of claims 
following liquidation in 1992.  The fund also covers the period before the Council 
purchased insurance cover and any other uninsured losses. 

 
Children and Family Services 
 
60. Supporting Leicestershire Families (£1.6m).  This earmarked fund is used to fund 

the Supporting Leicestershire Families service which is providing early help and 
intervention services for vulnerable families across Leicestershire. 

 
61. Children and Family Services Developments (£1.0m).  This general earmarked 

fund provides funding for a number of projects within the department such as 
improving management information, information access and retention and 
responding to changing requirements as a result of OfSTED and legislation. 

 
Adults and Communities 
 
62. Adults and Communities Developments (£5.6m).  This earmarked fund is held to 

fund a number of investments in maintaining social care service levels and 
assisting the department in achieving its transformation.  The increase in the fund 
balance compared to the forecast is mainly due to changes to the timelines of 
some transformation projects. 
 

Environment and Transport 
 
63. Commuted Sums (£3.0m).  This funding, received from developers, is used to 

cover future revenue costs arising from developer schemes, where the 
specifications are over and above standard developments (e.g. block paving, 
bollards or trees adjacent to the highway).  These liabilities can arise many years 
after the funding is received and therefore the balance on this earmarked fund has 
built up over time. 

 
64. Leicester and Leicestershire Integrated Transport Model (LLITM) (£2.4m).  This 

earmarked fund is for money generated from charging other local authorities for 
using the model. Surplus income is added into the fund and will be used to finance 
activity to refresh the model when required in around 2 years’ time.   

 
65. Environment and Transport Developments / advanced design (£0.9m).  This 

earmarked fund is used to fund feasibility studies and advance design works to 
enable bids to be made (and provide some match funding) for major capital 
schemes to improve the transport infrastructure supporting expected growth in 
Leicestershire. 

141



 
66. Other £1.3m. These earmarked funds will be used to manage funding of schemes 

where grant awards and scheme expenditure relate to/occur in different years and 
will also will fund plant renewal for highway services. 

 
Corporate 
 
67. Transformation Fund (£11.7m).  The fund is used to invest in transformation 

projects to achieve efficiency savings and also to fund severance costs.  To 
achieve the level of savings within the MTFS the Council will need to change 
significantly, and this will require major investment, including in some of the core 
‘building blocks’ of transformation such as improvements to data quality, and 
improvements to digital services enabling more self-service.   

 
68. Broadband (£3.6m).  This fund was established to allow the development of 

super-fast broadband within Leicestershire. There is a significant time lag in 
spending County Council funds as a result of securing grant funding from Central 
Government and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) that required 
those funds to be spent first and within a set period. The change in the outturn 
compared with the forecast is due to slippage on the capital programme as 
explained later in the report.  

 
69. Business Rates Retention (£2.5m).  This fund was established following the 

introduction of the Business Rates Retention system in 2013 and is held as a 
contingency to fund potential shortfalls in business rates income in later years, 
especially the risk of large appeals and fluctuations in Business Rates income. 
The fund includes a sum of £0.6m, which represents the County Council’s element 
of the Business Rates Pool contingency of £2m. The fund also contains income of 
£0.9m received from Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
regarding an allocation of the surplus on the national levy fund, which has been 
reflected in the County Council’s 2019/20 revenue budget. 

 
70. Inquiry and other costs (£1.2m). This fund is held to provide funding for inquiry 

and other costs associated with historical child sexual exploitation. 
 

71. Pooled Property Fund(s) (-£22.5m). The Cabinet on 11 September 2015 and 11 
October 2016 approved the investment of £15m and £10m respectively of the 
Council’s earmarked funds into pooled property funds.  To date £22.5m has been 
invested with the timing of the final investment of £2.5m uncertain at this stage. 
The investments are held to achieve higher returns than if the funds were invested 
as cash.  The investment is funded from the overall balance of earmarked funds 
and can be realised in the future when required. 

 
Capital 
 
72. Capital Financing (£54.8m).  This fund is used to hold MTFS revenue 

contributions required to fund the approved capital programme in future years.  
The increase at year-end is due to additional funding allocated from the revenue 
outturn. 

 

142



73. Future Developments (£42.6m).  This funding is held to support mainly future 
capital programme developments. After planned commitments in the approved 
MTFS 2019-23, the latest estimated balance of available resources in the Fund is 
£9m. 

  
74. The balance on the Future Developments Fund is held to contribute towards 

schemes that have been identified but are not sufficiently detailed for inclusion in 
the capital programme at this time. There is a long list of projects that may require 
funding over the next 4 years.  The latest estimate of funding required is £66m. 
The main schemes identified are:  

 

 Additional investment in SEND provision £7m 

 Investment in Children’s Social Care £3m 

 Investment in Adult Social Care Accommodation £10m 

 Collections Hub £3m 

 Investment in highways Infrastructure £17m 

 Major IT Replacements £6m 

 County Hall Infrastructure Improvements £3m 

 Forward funding Infrastructure pending receipt of s106 funding £7m 
 
75. Compared with the funding available of £9m, the current estimate of £66m leaves 

a potential shortfall of £57m. 
 

76. Closing the gap by taking on new loans is not the preferred option, as this 
increases the requirement for future savings.  Several actions are still possible to 
manage the position over the medium term, but the short-term position is tighter 
than envisaged a few months ago.  

 
77. A review of the Capital Programme priorities and Earmarked funds will be 

undertaken to try and generate some short-term capacity. 
 
Other / Partnerships Earmarked Funds 
 
78. Dedicated Schools Grant (£1.7m).  DSG is ring-fenced and can only be applied to 

meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as defined in the 
School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations.  This fund is earmarked 
to meet the revenue costs of commissioning places in new schools, early years 
and to support pressures on the high needs block. A summary is shown below: 

 
 Schools 

Block 
Early Years 

Block 
High Needs 

Block 
Total 

 £m £m £m £m 

     

DSG 1.3 0.5 -0.1 1.7 

 
79. While the overall DSG earmarked fund is in surplus there are significant pressures 

on the schools and high needs blocks.  Within the schools block funding, future 
DSG allocations for schools growth will be retained and added to the earmarked 
fund to support the revenue costs of commissioning new schools. The deficit on 
the high needs block will increase in the medium term until the savings arising 

143



from the High Needs Development Plan are delivered. In the short term the 
surplus on the schools block will partially offset the high needs deficit. The 
expectation of the Development Plan is to replenish the DSG earmarked fund so 
that new school funding is not impacted. 
  

80. Leicestershire and Rutland Sport (£1.3m).  The main purpose of this earmarked 
fund is to hold partner contributions until expenditure on the agreed activities has 
been incurred. A significant part of the services’ funding from external agencies is 
uncertain in nature, so the earmarked fund also allows management of funding 
variations and a redundancy provision. 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 
81. The updated capital programme for 2018/19 totals £112.4m, including net 

slippage of £0.4m from 2017/18.   
 
82. A summary of the capital outturn for 2018/19, excluding schools devolved formula 

capital, is set out below: 

 
83. A summary of the key achievements and main variations are set out below. 

Further details of the main variations are provided in Appendix D. 
 
84. Appendix E compares the provisional prudential indicators with those set and 

agreed by the Council, at its budget meeting in February 2018.  These are all 
within the limits set. 

 
Children and Family Services 

Key Achievements 

 
85. The 2018/19 programme delivered an additional 1,102 school places, delivered 

three new units to meet the needs of pupils with Autism Spectrum Disorder and 
began the development of local provision to support the High Needs Development 
Plan. 

 
Main Variances 

 
86. The year-end position shows an underspend of £5.9m compared with the updated 

budget. The main variance relates to the provision of Primary Places, £4.9m 

Programme Area 

 
Updated Budget 

 
£000 

Actual 
Expenditure 

£000 

(Under)/Over 
spend 
£000 

% 

Children and Family Services 22,630 16,745 (5,885) 74% 
Adults and Communities 7,110 6,541 (569) 92% 
Public Health 480 484 4 100% 
Environment and Transport 47,443 34,784 (12,659) 73% 
Chief Executive’s 5,508 2,918 (2,590) 53% 
Corporate Resources 5,909 3,457 (2,452) 59% 
Corporate Programme 23,324 21,128 (2,196) 91% 

Total       112,404 86,057 (26,347) 77% 

144



contingency held within the programme for any issues arising from September 
2018 admission which was not required. This has been reflected in the new capital 
programme for 2019-23. 

 
Adults and Communities 

Key Achievements 

 
87. Smart Libraries - the Council has installed Smart technology across Leicestershire 

libraries. The roll out of Smart Libraries began in April 2019. 
 
88. Danemill Annex - refurbished allowing for the co-location of the Adult Learning 

Service into this building. The move ensures a revenue saving for the authority. 
 

89. Brookfields Supported Living Scheme – purchase completed in 2018/19 with 
refurbishment works planned to take place in 2019/20. The site will provide new 
accommodation for Supported Living service users. 

 
Main Variances 
 
90. The outturn shows net slippage of £0.6m compared with the updated budget. The 

main variances are due to slippage on the Mobile Library Vehicles programme 
£0.2m, Changing Places £0.2m, and Smart Libraries £0.2m.  

 
Environment and Transport  

Key Achievements  

 
91. A total £17m was invested in Highways Asset Maintenance. This included: 

 

 £14.6m carriageways 

 £0.8m footways and rights of way 

 £0.9m bridge maintenance and strengthening 

 £0.6m flood alleviation. 
 

92.  A total of £5m invested in the preparation of major projects: 
 

 Melton Mowbray Eastern Distributor Road, £2.2m – new distributor road to 
the east of Melton Mowbray to ease congestion in the town centre and 
facilitate growth commence. 

 A50 Overbridge Markfield/Whitwick £1.4m – major safety repairs to 
strengthen the bridge commenced in 2018/19 and will be completed in 
2019/20. 

 A46 Anstey Lane, £0.8m – detailed design of improvements to ease 
congestion and mitigate the Aston Green housing development. 

 M1 J23/A512, £0.8m – detailed design of improvements to ease congestion 
and provide access to the West of Loughborough housing development. 

 
93. A programme of works at the Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) and 

Waste Transfer Stations (WTS) has continued to ensure ongoing environmental 

145



compliance and efficient service provision. This included significant improvements 
at Loughborough WTS, and a range of preparatory work in readiness for further 
site enhancement and development in 2019/20. 

 
Main Variances 
 
94. The year-end position shows net slippage of £12.7m compared with the updated 

budget.  
 

95. The main variances are: 
 

 Advanced Design £1.1m acceleration - due to works advanced on the 
microsimulation project which will enable the project to finish earlier and the 
tool available for use, additional emerging priorities work, and additional 
works identified for the Housing Infrastructure Fund bidding process.  

 County Council Vehicle Programme £0.7m acceleration - evaluation of the 
fleet leading to some assets being identified as no longer being economical / 
safe to continue repairing and running as well as additional vehicle 
requirements. 

 M1 Junction 23 / A512, £4.1m slippage - delay in negotiating with land 
owners and finalising financial payment agreement with developers. After 
reviewing the scheme with the newly appointed contractor more appropriate 
timescales have been agreed. 

 Anstey Lane A46, £4.1m slippage - delay in negotiating with land owners 
and finalising financial payment agreement with developers. After reviewing 
the scheme with the newly appointed contractor more appropriate timescales 
have been agreed. 

 Zouch Bridge £2.5m slippage - due to a public enquiry which took place in 
August 2018. The Department of Transport confirmed the Orders in January 
2019. The latest estimates of costs have increased significantly since the 
original budget was set. Work is underway to review the costs and propose 
options to fund the increased estimates. A separate report is on the agenda 
for this meeting of Cabinet to provide an update. 

 Hinckley Hub (National Productivity Investment Fund) £1.3m slippage - 
delays in land acquisition. 

 Leicester North West Major Scheme £0.7m slippage - delivery partner using 
other funding source first, County Council contribution anticipated in 
2019/20. 

 Hinckley Area Approach £0.7m slippage - delays in assessing the full costs 
for works on Lancaster Road. 

 
96. In the Autumn Budget 2018 the government announced additional one off grant 

funding for highways maintenance in 2018/19, to repair potholes, bridges and 
structures, and other minor highways work.  The County Council’s allocation was 
£6.3m.  Additional corporate funding of £7m was also added to the Environment 
and Transport capital programme in 2018/19 and 2019/20 to deal with urgent 
maintenance issues that had been identified (£5m highways maintenance and 
£2m for summer heat damage). Given the future financial position of the Authority 
there would have been an expectation that this would need to be repaid in future 
years. However, as a result of the new funding, which has to be spent by the end 

146



of March 2019, this can now be used instead. As a result, corporate funding of 
£6.3m has been removed and added to the future developments fund for future 
capital works. 
 

Chief Executive’s 

Key Achievements 

 
97. Rural Broadband Scheme.  The County Council is the lead body for the Superfast 

Leicester and Leicestershire Programme ensuring access to high-speed fibre 
broadband to rural businesses and communities.  Phase 2 has been completed 
with 96% of properties in Leicestershire having access to superfast broadband. 
Phase 1 and 2 together have delivered superfast broadband to 75,000 properties.  

 
Main Variance 
 
98. The year-end position shows slippage of £2.6m due to delays on phase 3 of the 

Rural Broadband Scheme. A longer than expected open market review stage of 
the procurement, due to additional information being requested from a potential 
supplier to support their response, has led to the delay. This was necessary to 
ensure the procurement met the requirements of the Broadband Programme 
Authority (BDUK).  

 
Corporate Resources 

Key Achievements 

 
99. Investment in the ICT infrastructure of £2m:  

 

 Replacement of the Geographical Information System  

 Replacement of the Wireless Area Network and the introduction of Public 
Wi-fi at County Hall 

 New Storage Area Network  

 Rollout of Windows 10 and Microsoft Office 2016 to all Council users to 
replace Windows 7. 

 
Main Variances 
 
100. The year-end position shows net slippage of £2.5m compared with the updated 

budget.  
  

101. The main variances relate to slippage on Snibston Country Park Future Strategy 
£1.1m due to issues with planning permission and the Fit for the Future (Oracle 
Systems Replacement) project £0.9m following a review of the timing of when the 
capital funding is required.  

 

147



Corporate Programme 

Key Achievements 

   
102. During 2018/19 the following investments were made as part of the Corporate 

Asset Investment Fund: 
 

 Purchase of the Citroen Garage in Leicester (£3.1m) 

 £7m land acquisition and associated costs for planning and consultancy services 
as part of the East of Lutterworth Strategic Development 

 £5m land and preparatory works at Loughborough University Science and 
Enterprise Park 

 £3m development of new industrial units at Coalville Workspace, Vulcan Way 

 £2m to develop the Leaders Farm Office projects. 
 
103. Corporate Energy Strategy, £0.2m investment in upgraded lighting, boilers and 

heating controls at County Council premises.  
 
104. Farms and Industrial Properties, £0.6m investment on schemes to improve the 

condition of the Councils holdings of Industrial Properties and Farms. 
 

Main Variances 
 

105. The year-end position shows net slippage of £2.2m compared with the updated 
budget. The main variances relate to the Corporate Asset Investment Fund:  
 

 East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area (land purchase for 
residential and employment development) – £3.6m acceleration due to land 
purchase occurring sooner than anticipated. 

 Citroen Garage, Leicester – £3.1m acceleration, purchase completed in 
December 2018. 

 Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park (development of an 
office block plus car parking spaces) - £4.5m slippage due to delays with 
legal agreements and consents. Contracts have been exchanged and works 
commenced on site in February 2019. 

 Airfield Business Park (development of industrial units on part of site) – 
slippage £2.3m due to delay in the open tender procurement process. Works 
commenced on site in February 2019. 

 
106. In addition, slippage has also occurred on the Energy Strategy programme, £0.9m 

as a result of staff changes and a delay to some schemes being delivered. 
 
Capital Receipts 
 
107. The target for capital receipts for 2018/19 was £15.4m. The actual receipts 

received were £4.5m, a shortfall of £10.9m. The reduction was due to timing 
delays with the sale of seven sites which are now expected to take place in early 
2019/20. £9.0m of the shortfall was adjusted for when compiling the MTFS 2019-
23, with the balance being managed against the overall level of slippage on the 
capital programme.  

148



 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
108. There are no direct equality or human rights implications arising from the 

recommendations in this report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2018/19 - Outturn Statement 
Appendix B - Revenue Budget 2018/19 – main variances 
Appendix C - Earmarked Fund balances 31/3/19 
Appendix D - Capital Budget 2018/19 – main variances 
Appendix E - Prudential Indicators 2018/19 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the County Council – 21st February 2018 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2018/19 to 2021/22 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5105&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet – 22nd May 2018 – 2017/18 Provisional Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5402&Ver=4 
 
 

149

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5105&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5402&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2018/19 - OUTTURN STATEMENT

Updated Actual Difference

Budget Expenditure from Updated

Budget

£000 £000 £000 %

Schools Budget

Delegated 116,511 116,511 0 0.0

Centrally Managed 99,379 99,899 520 0.5

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) -215,890 -215,890 0 0.0

Balance to/from DSG Earmarked Fund 0 -520 -520 n/a
0 0 0 n/a

LA Budget

Children & Family Services (Other) 71,812 72,360 548 0.8

Adults & Communities 137,139 132,038 -5,101 -3.7

Public Health * -616 -616 0 0.0

Environment & Transport 66,642 65,976 -666 -1.0

Chief Executives 10,403 9,868 -535 -5.1

Corporate Resources 32,983 32,749 -234 -0.7

DSG (Central Dept. recharges) -922 -922 0 0.0

Carbon Reduction Commitment 275 136 -139 -50.5

Contingency for Inflation 2,929 0 -2,929 -100.0

Total Services 320,645 311,589 -9,056 -2.8

Central Items

Financing of Capital 22,500 22,404 -96 -0.4

Revenue Funding of Capital 29,700 33,449 3,749 12.6

Central Expenditure 3,084 2,454 -630 -20.4

Central Grants and Other Income -13,440 -15,633 -2,193 16.3

Other Items (including prior year adjustments) 0 -1,398 -1,398 n/a

Total Central Items 41,844 41,276 -568 -1.4

General Fund - 2017/18 carry forwards -314 -314 0 0.0

Total Spending 362,175 352,551 -9,624 -2.7

Funding

Revenue Support Grant -8,549 -8,549 0 0.0

Business Rates - Top Up -38,813 -38,810 3 0.0

Business Rates Baseline / Local Share -22,960 -22,959 1 0.0

S31 Grants - Business Rates -2,822 -3,075 -253 9.0

Council Tax Collection Funds - net surplus -3,556 -3,556 0 0.0

Council Tax -285,475 -285,475 0 0.0

Total Funding -362,175 -362,424 -249 0.1

Net Total 0 -9,873 -9,873

Additional Commitments

E&T - summer heat damage to roads 0 2,000 2,000

Long Term Prepayments 0 2,695 2,695

Chief Executives - Broadband 0 200 200

E&T - additional resources 0 150 150

Growth Unit 0 250 250

Future Developments 0 3,578 3,578
0 8,873 8,873

Balance transferred to General Fund 0 -1,000 -1,000

* Public Health funded by Grant (£24.9m)

151



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Revenue Budget 2018/19 – main variances

Children and Family Services

Dedicated Schools Grant

There is a net overspend of £0.5m, which will be funded from the DSG earmarked fund. 

The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

High Needs Block (HNB)

Special Educational Needs (SEN) 3,918 7%

Inclusion Partnerships 153 n/a

Dedicated Schools Grant HNB -1,614 3%

Specialist Services to Early Years -118 10%

Schools

School Growth -1,108 84%

Early Years

Early Years Dedicated Schools Grant -502 

Other variances -209 n/a

TOTAL 520 n/a

Local Authority Budget 

The Local authority budget is overspent by £0.5m  (0.8%). The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Children's Social Care Field Work Teams / First Response / CSE 739 7%

Pilot at Loughborough Inclusion Partnership - new initiative, inclusive practices and reduce the number of 

children attending more expensive provision.

Additional 2018/19 HNB DSG allocated in December 2018.

The 2018/19 MTFS included potential savings of £1.5m. Some savings have been achieved but the 

increased school population, increased demand for support and full year effect of changes in SEND 

legislation is offsetting these savings. The final choice of place often is not made until the young people 

get their exam results in August and is not known at the time of budget setting. Additional complex cases 

moved into the county after the budget was set and the actuals reflects these additional costs.  A High 

Needs Recovery Plan has been established and consultation is underway on the development of 

additional local provision.

Underspend largely due to the service restructure and subsequent resignations.

The Schools Forum approved a £1.3m allocation within the 2018/19 for meeting the revenue costs 

associated with new schools and also for meeting the costs of some  funding protection for schools with 

falling rolls as a  result of age range change in other schools. The funding requirements have now been 

confirmed and a subsequent underspend of £1.1m in 18/19; this will be transferred to the DSG earmarked 

fund to fund pupil growth in future years.

Surplus of grant over expenditure.  The Department for Education will finalise the grant allocation in July 

2019. The current unspent balance will be held in the Dedicated Schools Grant earmarked fund. The Early 

Years Grant is paid to providers on a termly basis and the grant income from the DfE is calculated based 

on annual censuses. The grant does not therefore equal the expenditure. Any differences are transferred 

into or out of the Dedicated Schools Grant earmarked fund.

Recruitment and retention pressures among the Children's Social Workers workforce across various 

teams have resulted in a number of positions being filled by agency workers.  Agency workers have also 

been engaged to provide additional capacity while new permanent staff gain experience.

153



CFS Placements Budget (LAC) 691 3%

Fostering and Adoption Service 357 12%

Asylum Seekers 353 108%

Children in Care Service 272 14%

Psychology Service 171 27%

Early Help -623 6%

Admin and Committees / Business Support -588 13%

Disabled Children Service -320 7%

Education Quality Improvement -57 21%

Social Care Legal Costs -118 11%

Safeguarding and Improvement -73 4%

Governor Development Service -60 97%

Virtual School -199 25%

Other variances 3 n/a

TOTAL 548 n/a

This is because of some unusually higher than average placement costs in the residential and supported 

accommodation budget areas. For example, this has resulted in one residential placement with a weekly 

cost over £8k to ensure the needs of the child, which are of a CSE nature, can be met fully, in comparison 

to the weekly average of £3.5k. The average weekly unit cost of supported accommodation has also risen 

by £200 from last financial year and is due to a planned step down approach and transition of children with 

more complex needs from residential placements in preparation for adulthood.  This budget also includes 

additional costs arising from the increase in foster fees and invests to save costs arising from the 

Therapeutic Wrap Around Support contract (MISTLE). The position will continue to be closely monitored in 

the new financial year.

Impact of in year restructuring resulted in a number of vacant posts for a period of time. Additional income 

received through its traded activities also contributes to the overall underspend for the service. 

Combination of staff turnover and additional income generated through traded activities with out of county 

schools. 

Legislation changes around the Personal Advisor duty has resulted in budget pressures for 2018/19 which 

will require close monitoring. The Social Care Act 2017 has extended the duty for local authorities to 

provide support for young people through personal advisors from age 21 to age 25.

Demand on this budget has significantly increased over the last couple of financial years and has done the 

same this financial year, which has resulted in increased need for additional staffing to manage demand. 

In the last 3 months of the financial year UASC numbers increased from 68 to 83 . The majority of these 

children arrive ‘spontaneously’ and on arrival are the statutory responsibility of the local authority in which 

they arrive. 

Some substantive positions within the service are being filled by agency workers. Increased volumes of 

assessments which require completing in relation to kinship, mainstream and adoption as resulted in 

externally commissioning these assessments to ensure compliance within court timescales.

Transition planning for the 2019/20 MTFS savings requirement has resulted in early achievement of the 

required £200,000 saving.

Demand for first time statutory assessments exceeding service capacity which has resulted in additional 

Locums to manage demand.

Underspend of £464k due to managed vacancies during the implementation of the Business Support 

review. The actual charge in relation to the business support Service Level Agreement between children's 

social care and adults resulted in  £124k underspend for 2018/19.

Early Help cost centres forecasting an underspend largely due to managed vacancies and staff turnover 

as a result of transition to the new service as a result of the Early Help Review.

Reduced demand on direct payments budget.

Underspend due to vacancies and DfE grant above what was expected.

The number of care cases that have been instructed to issue proceedings continues to be needs led, and 

whilst there is a continuing pressure on this budget, actual expenditure in 18/19 is slightly less than 

anticpated based on the asumptions which the budget was set. Demand will continue to be monitored in 

the new financial year. 

154



Adults & Communities

There is a net underspend of £5.1m (3.7%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Home Care 1,439 9%

Extra Care 157 22%

Community Life Choices (CLC) 153 4%

Care Pathway West - Countywide Services 134 11%

Residential Care and Nursing -2,106 -4%

Better Care Fund and Winter Pressures Grant -1,859 n/a

Direct Payments (DP) -964 -3%

Reablement (HART) & Crisis Response -689 -15%

Community Life Choices (CLC) / Day Services -387 -15%

Business Support -265 -16%

Supported Living -143 -1%

Community Care Finance -170 -12%

Supported Living, Residential and Short Breaks -138 -3%

Care Pathway East - Review Teams -132 -10%

Care Pathway West - Older Adults Team -101 -4%

Staffing vacancies pending action plan.

Transforming Care service users have  transferred more slowly than expected from in patient placements 

in health to supported living community based settings.  Current service user numbers are 315.

Underspend due to changes within the services and numbers of service users (CLC policy) and vacancies 

being held pending the implementation of action plans for co-location as part of saving. Review of service 

users is still ongoing, action plan will take place once this has occurred.

The underspend mostly relates to clawback achieved in excess of the MTFS saving for 2018/19 of £2.0m 

and in part to a fall in the number of service users linked to new starters choosing HTLAH arrangements 

instead of taking a Direct Payment. This is offset by the increase in average package size of £1.0m. In 

2016/17 there was a significant migration from homecare to cash payments which allowed service users 

to retain their provider ahead of the HTLAH lead providers taking over lots, this is now unwinding.  There 

are 2,498 service users per week receiving an average package of £292.11 and 492 carers per week 

receiving an average package of £45.32.

Staffing vacancies pending stabilisation of services and possible changes to internal service provided to 

C&FS.

Overspend due to a combination of factors. New contracts from November 2018 to March 2019 are more 

expensive than budgeted for £45k and other one off contract payments of £100k.

Staffing underspend caused by vacancies.

Element of £2.4m Winter Pressures specific grant and additional Better Care Fund Income offset by a 

contribution to the A&C future developments fund.

Staffing underspend caused by a high level of vacancies to deliver savings and significantly lower health 

referrals.

Reduction in service users in Hamilton Court residential and managing vacancies at Hamilton Court and 

The Trees. Reviews of service users are still ongoing. 

Additional agency staffing recruited To cover vacancies in a range of services e.g. emergency duty team, 

CSC and additional support for mental health assessment.

Over the course of the financial year, average costs per service user have increased as more service 

users have been placed on the higher cost CLC bands. In addition accruals for Health funded service 

users were higher than expected in Period 12. 

There has been an increase in ASC service users being managed through Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) 

providers partially corresponding to a decrease in numbers in direct cash payments.  Efforts to keep Older 

Adults out of residential placements either in their own existing homes or transfer to supported 

accommodation Waterside Court Extra Care scheme in Loughborough has reduced residential costs but 

increase homecare costs. In addition approximately £300k of the overspend relates to late 2017/18 

payments being greater than accrued.  This overspend is offset in small part through falling health funded 

clients.  Currently there are 1,865 packages with average package costs of  £175 per week.

Reduction in number of service users and lower average cost of packages (£0.6m) and increased service 

user income is anticipated (£1.5m). There are an average of 2,355 service users with an average gross 

care package cost of £727per week.

155



Aids, Adaptations and Assistive Technology -110 -4%

Other variances (under £100k) 80 n/a

TOTAL -5,101 n/a

Public Health

The outturn is in line with the budget. The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Public Health Leadership 125 6%

Health Checks -111 -20%

Other variances (under £100k) -14 n/a

TOTAL 0 n/a

Environment and Transport

There is a net underspend of £0.7m (1.0%). The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Highways

Environmental Maintenance 155 4%

Winter Maintenance 154 9%

Highways Commissioning  - Staffing & Admin Commissioning 130 7%

Road Safety 109 43%

Speed Awareness 50 n/a

Street Lighting Maintenance -192 -8%

Overspends on Transport Strategy and Policy (£197k) due to lower than expected recharges to the capital 

programme, Highway Development Management (£467k) due to a delay in commencing charging for pre 

application advice and additional consultancy to cover long term sick, HS2 (£58k) arising from  staffing 

costs over and above the budgeted level, a growth for this has been approved for next financial year.

These overspends are partially offset by forecast underspends for, Safe and Sustainable Travel (£231K) 

additional contribution from the Access fund and revised procedures to enable drawdown of income from 

S106 contributions, Additional income of (£123K) from the Network Data & Intelligence team, Asset 

Management & Major Projects (£180k) arising from additional recharging to capital projects and traffic and 

signals (£73K) additional income.

Staffing underspend caused by vacancies.

Overspend due to the overall departmental position being able to fund the road safety activity. The funding 

from earmarked funds not used in 2018/19 will be retained and reviewed to fund emerging capital 

pressures, for example Zouch Bridge.

Overspend forecast due to:

- necessity to treat roads in April,

- under-accruing for the cost of farmers ploughing roads in 2017/18 on behalf of the County Council,                                                                                                                                       

- additional costs for yardmen and loading shovel to fill empty barns with salt,                                                                                                                                                                         

-additional runs being completed to ensure road safety.      

Underspend due to works costs on routine maintenance being less than expected and small savings in 

energy budgets. 

Overspend due to additional costs for outsourced strimming services of alleyways. A review of this service 

is now underway. There is also additional sign cleaning costs undertaken in the summer.

Overspend due to average speed camera pilot. It is anticipated there will be no ongoing cost for this 

scheme but due to the gap between people being captured on average speed cameras and attending 

driver education courses there is  a cost in 2018/19.

Numbers of checks are reducing due to a targetted provision and improved software to check claims 

received.

Reduction in contribution from earmarked funds due to underspends across the department.

Staffing underspend caused by vacancies.

156



Sustainable Travel -122 -39%

Traffic Controls -56 -4%

Highways Delivery - Staffing, Admin & Depot Overhead Costs -55 2%

Reactive Maintenance -54 -3%

Transportation

Special Educational Needs 1,030 10%

Public Bus Services 199 8%

Social Care Transport 193 5%

Developer Funded Projects 109 n/a

Mainstream School Transport -556 -12%

Fleet Transport -152 -72%

Concessionary Travel & Joint Arrangements -59 -1%

Transport Operations: Staffing & Admin -50 -4%

Environment & Waste Management

Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) 301 11%

Dry Recycling -580 -34%

Overspend due to the cost of subsidising additional bus services / routes that are no longer commercially 

viable. 

Underspend due to reduction in pupil numbers and fewer contracted services required.

Underspend has arisen partly due to £93k underspend of staffing that has been achieved by a drive to 

reduce high sickness absence rates (and therefore agency costs). In addition, fuel costs have been £94k 

lower than budget in 2018/19 due to the use of new vehicles since September 2018 and additional income 

of £55k has been received (including unbudgeted additional income from Health to reflect the true cost of 

the service being received). These underspends are partially offset by a £95k overspend on vehicle 

repairs and maintenance due to higher charges and vehicle repairs to older vehicles in the fleet.

Spending on children's social care transport has been higher than expected due to more contact visits 

being arranged and more corporate parenting transport requests. In addition, there have been delays 

implementing contract and service changes that are due to deliver savings.

Underspend of £59k realised due to production of a lower number of concessionary travel passes during 

2018/19 (13% fewer passes produced due to lower demand). This has resulted in lower operational 

equipment and printing costs. Contract re-procurements during 2018/19 have also led to lower costs.

Underspend due to ongoing vacant posts.

Bus route spending has been funded by the E&T department in 2018/19 rather than using earmarked 

funds. The funding from earmarked funds not used in 2018/19 will be retained and reviewed to fund 

emerging capital pressures, for example Zouch Bridge.

Underspend due to additional recharges to capital works, external bodies and network management 

income.

Overspend due to increased demand and complexity of need. There have been an increased number of 

solo occupancy journeys for pupils during 2018/19, the need for which has been highlighted as part of the 

risk assessment process. The average daily cost of transport has increased significantly in 2018/19.  

Growth has been included in the 2019/20 budget to fund these ongoing increased costs.

Underspend due to Wheels to work scheme being cancelled earlier than anticipated.

Underspend due to Public Rights of Way budget not being fully utilised this financial year.

Underspend from additional income relating to Developer Traffic Regulation Order and savings in the 

traffic signals energy budget.

Overspend includes £176k relating to RHWS haulage. This overspend has arisen due to prolonged 

vehicle hire following a road traffic accident (£28k additional costs), hire of agency staff to cover long term 

sickness / vacancies and higher vehicle repair & maintenance and fuel costs.

Final spend figure also includes additional spending at RHWS sites on repairs and maintenance, CCTV 

improvements, concreting works, tree maintenance, office refurbishments, compaction refurbishments 

and container upgrades.

Market values received for Dry Recycling Materials (DRM) were considerably higher than budget leading 

to greater than expected income. In particular, there was a significant increase in paper and card prices. 

Changes to district collection services did not impact on the material composition and tonnages as much 

as expected.

157



Treatment Contracts -448 -4%

Composting Contracts -194 -12%

Income -184 15%

Haulage & Waste Transfer -170 -10%

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Funding -84 n/a

Environment & Waste Management, Policy and Strategy - Staffing & 

Admin.
-82 -8%

Landfill -56 -1%

Other variances -2 n/a

TOTAL -666 n/a

Chief Executives

There is a net underspend of £0.5m (5.1%). The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Planning Services -300 -63%

Strategy & Business Intelligence -110 -3%

Democratic Services and Administration -81 -5%

Other variances -44 n/a

TOTAL -535 n/a

There are vacancies due to staff turnover; these are being held whilst a review of support staff across 

Member Services and Civic Support is carried out. 

Extra income achieved due to increased trade waste. This income is offset by additional costs for 

treatment and disposal.

Landfill tonnage was lower than forecast in 2018/19, against both budget profile and compared to 2017/18 

tonnage. Additional tonnage was sent to Coventry Energy from Waste (EfW) plant and more waste to 

Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) plants.

The underspend is due to vacancies across the service, including some difficult to fill posts. There has 

also been an increase in external income within the Business Intelligence Service.

Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) tonnage has been lower than expected during 2018/19 leading to 

an underspend of £61k in this area.

Energy from Waste (EfW) tonnages to Stoke are also significantly lower than the budgeted level resulting 

in a £295k underspend. This has arisen due to to a restriction on tonnages imposed by Stoke.

A further underspend of £53k has arisen for Hazardous Waste due to lower than anticipated chemical and 

paint spend, which may be a result of the paint reuse trial.

The remaining £39k underspend is due to lower than budgeted expenditure on Refuse Derived Fuel 

(RDF) and other treatments.

The underspend is due to an increase in planning fee income and also there are a number of vacancies 

for which recruitment is proving difficult.

Underspend due to staffing vacancies.

Increased tonnages and favourable market values for WEEE have led to additional income of £84k.

The budget for 18/19 was set on the basis that the New Albion landfill site would be closed. The affected 

district would therefore deliver to the Waste Transfer Station and require bulk haulage. New Albion Landfill 

had planning permission extended until December 2018 however, meaning the forecasted bulk haulage 

was not required for the full year. This led to a £138k underspend.

An additional underspend of £31k arose from Waste Transfer Station haulage.

Underspend forecast due to significant decrease in green waste tonnage due to weather (dry summer and 

therefore lower growth).

158



Corporate Resources

There is a net underspend of £0.2m (0.7%). The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Corporate Projects 416 149%

Commercial Services 367 18%

Library & Community Premise Costs 128 14%

Locality Premises Costs 102 8%

Major Condition Improvement Works 75 3%

EMSS 71 5%

Information & Technology -664 -7%

Commissioning Support Unit -163 -16%

Learning & Development -147 11%

Human Resources -75 -8%

Internal Audit -65 -18%

County Farms -58 -12%

Support Service -51 -4%

Other variances -170 n/a

TOTAL -234 n/a

Overall, Leicestershire Traded Services, delivered a contribution of £1.6m, which was £0.4k below the 

£2m target. Sales in Sites Development were down (£240k short), and while income at Beaumanor Hall & 

Activity Park was up, additional costs resulted in a shortfall to budget of £166k. These were partly offset by 

better than expected sales performance in School Food, HR and H&S Trading, Soft FM and Traded 

Premises Officers. 

Mainly relates to Key Supplier saving not achieved in 2018/19 (£250k) and also funding for Ash Dieback 

identification work.

Underspends as a result of vacancies and staff turnover across several teams within the service. The 

impact on service provision has been managed and will be reviewed in 2019/20 for potential future 

savings.

Overspend reflects large Rates bill for former Snibston Industrial Heritage Museum site, which is currently 

being reviewed with the hope that this charge can be challenged. Additionally, security costs for the 

Snibston site have increased to reflect additional security required while the Snibston Masterplan is being 

delivered. 

Variance relates to  charge from Harborough District Council for Capital works at Symington Building 

which the Authority rents. These charges were not budgeted for and are being challenged. 

Increased ICT costs to end the contract with the external hosting provider of the ERP system earlier than 

planned - will lead to reduced costs in future years.

Variance has occurred as a result of long term staff absences and vacancies held. Despite this, income 

has remained strong as the service has still been able to deliver its service requirements both internally 

and for external clients. 

Expenditure on the School Maintenance Fundexceeded the level of contributions to the Fund from 

schools. Consideration is being given as to how this has occurred and what can be done to control this in 

future years. This has been offset in part by an under spend on the Central Maintenance Fund, as a result 

of more efficient procurement practices. 

Variance principally as a result of staff vacancies which were not filled (including a post being funded by 

the Fit For The Future project). 

Underspend as a result of unplanned retirements and delays in replacing posts

Service carrying vacancies which it was unable to fill, alongside additional income generation for external 

works. 

The County Farms estate produced a surplus as a result of a reduced amount of expenditure required on 

maintenance of the estate.

A small underspend was a result of the service carrying some vacancies, alognside a reduced 

expenditure on Occupational Health reviews and the Storafile contract. 

159



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

EARMARKED FUND BALANCES

Revised Forecast Actual

Balance Balance Balance

01/04/18 31/03/19 31/03/19

£000 £000 £000

Renewal of Systems, Equipment and Vehicles

Children & Family Services 1,800 1,000 1,371

Adults & Communities 70 70 74

Environment & Transport 2,120 520 996

Corporate Resources 1,660 1,610 1,711

Trading Accounts

Industrial Properties 1,260 1,010 1,561

Insurance

General 6,420 7,520 7,105

Schools schemes and risk management 450 450 505

Uninsured loss fund 5,560 5,560 5,331

Committed Balances

Central Maintenance Fund 350 0 107

Community Grants 300 300 295

Other

Children & Family Services

Supporting Leicestershire Families 1,580 1,730 1,584
C&FS Developments 1,360 960 1,044
Youth Offending Service 510 510 567
Special Educational Needs Disability (SEND) 1,110 330 451
School Based Planning 510 390 386

Innovation Fund - Practical Excellence 210 170 210

Adults & Communities - Developments 1,330 4,190 5,583

Public Health 400 340 321

Environment & Transport

   Commuted Sums 2,590 2,130 3,047

E&T Developments/ advanced design 1,130 860 790

Civil Parking Enforcement 200 200 326

Waste Developments 730 730 725

Section 38 Income 490 0 487

Section 106 360 250 244

Leicester & Leicestershire Integrated Transport Model (LLITM) 2,210 1,830 2,351

Other 1,040 1,080 1,337

Chief Executive

Community Planning 20 0 16

Economic Development 750 590 652

Legal 150 150 149

Signposting and Community Support Service 230 70 78

Chief Executive Developments 450 450 445

Corporate Resources

Corporate Resources Developments 190 130 257
Leicestershire Schools Music Service 250 200 225
Other 120 0 78

Corporate:

Transformation Fund 14,720 10,720 11,709

East Midlands Shared Services - IT development 390 390 391

Elections 180 380 377

Broadband 5,750 3,920 3,616

Business Rates Retention 1,570 1,570 2,502

Inquiry and other costs 1,170 1,050 1,157

Corporate Projects 0 0 400

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS)* -3,000 0 0

Pooled Property Fund investment ** -20,000 -22,500 -22,496

TOTAL 38,690 30,860 38,066

Capital (Revenue Funding) / Other

Capital Financing (phasing of capital expenditure) 56,020 52,580 54,750

Future Developments 25,670 41,530 42,610

Pooled Private Debt interest - unrealised gains 0 0 888

Total 81,690 94,110 98,248

Other/ Partnerships

Dedicated Schools Grant 2,230 930 1,709

Health & Social Care Outcomes 840 820 819

Leicestershire Safeguarding Children Board 60 30 53

Leicestershire & Rutland Sport 1,110 970 1,326

Leics Social Care Development Group 100 0 38

East Midlands Shared Services - other 250 110 246

Strategic Partnership Development Fund (Child Sexual Exploitation) 10 0 0

Emergency Management 160 180 258

Total 4,760 3,040 4,449

* LAMS temporarily advanced from the overall balance of earmarked funds pending repayment in 2018/19

** Pooled Property Fund investments - funded from the overall balance of earmarked funds; £2.5m still to be invested

161



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D

Capital Budget 2018/19 – main variances

Children and Family Services

Net underspend of £5.9m compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Provision of Additional Primary Places -4,883

SEND Programme -362

10+ Provision -300

School Condition Maintenance -207

Other variances -133

TOTAL -5,885

Adults & Communities

Net slippage of £0.6m compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000
Mobile Library Vehicles -247

Smart Libraries -169

Changing Places / Toilets -159

Other variances 6

TOTAL -569

Public Health

The expenditure is in line with the original capital programme.

Contingency set aside for potential issues arising from September admissions not needed and underspend 

from 2017/18 was not required. One scheme identified for acceleration but 2018/19 spend was minimal.

Unallocated element not required, a late Easter break resulting in schemes slipping into 19/20 and some 

schemes delayed to the summer holidays due to size of scheme.

The scheme is nearly all completed, there is some residual property expenditure on building alteration 

works associated with Smart Library installation, therefore the remaining funding has slipped into 19/20. 

There is potential for an underspend on this scheme, the final position will be known in early 19/20.

Planning considerations, followed by a process seeking formal ratification in response to the High Needs 

Development Plan has meant re-profiling spend commitments and resulted in slippage. 

The purchase of a vehicle to allow for rotation of vehicles during maintenance periods has slipped into 

19/20.  The remaining funding will be slipped into next year for the delivery of the new vehicle.

Slippage as scheme passported to academy and linked to DfE funding, completion expected to be 

September 2019.

At this stage there are 2  schemes expected to be delivered in 18/19 for £55k, with the remaining funding 

unspent and carried forward to 19/20 while further applications are sought.

163



Environment and Transport

Net slippage of £12.7m compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

Environment and Transport - Transportation £000

Advanced Design 1,092

County Council Vehicle Programme 688

Transport Asset Management - Maintenance 544

Melton Mowbray Eastern Distributor Road 542

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) - M1 Junction 23 -4,145

SEP - Anstey Lane A46 -4,061

Zouch Bridge Replacement -2,526

National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) - Hinckley Hub -1,331

Leicester North West Major Scheme -653

SEP - Hinckley Area Approach -653

Safety Schemes -441

Transport Asset Management - Flood Alleviation -417

Croft Office Blocks Improvements -405

Works at the workshop have slipped, primarily due to changes in key personnel to progress the project. 

Acceleration of spend from future years' allocations after evaluating the fleet and some assets were 

identified that it was no longer economical/safe to continue repairing and running and some additional 

vehicle requirements have been identified from this evaluation.

Acceleration due to additional works advanced on the microsimulation project which will enable the project 

to finish earlier and the tool available for use, additional emerging priorities work which will be accelerated 

and a review of the budgets is underway, additional works identified for the HIF bidding process. These 

have been offset against slippage in the Coalville Growth Area Strategy which is subject to a Major Roads 

Network bid. 

There was an unanticipated increase in costs for work being completed on the Housing Infrastructre Fund 

Slippage of budget due to further site investigations identifying further surveying, design works to be 

completed and after some provisional works some schemes did not reflect a high risk status and have 

therefore been cancelled/deferred.

Slippage of budget due to a public enquiry which took place in August 2018. Orders confirmed by DfT on 

28th January 2019. Spend  is now not anticipated to be until 2019/20. Planned start Spring 2020. The latest 

estimates of costs have increased significantly since the original budget was set. Work is underway to 

review the costs and propose options to fund the increased estimates. A separate report is on the agenda 

for this meeting of Cabinet to provide an update.

Slippage due to delivery partner using other funding source first and LCC contribution is now anticipated 

19/20.

Slippage of budget due to delay in negotiating with land owners and finalising financial payment agreement 

with developers. After reviewing the scheme with the newly appointed contractor more appropriate 

timescales have been identified which has meant the project has been delayed.

Slippage of budget due to delay in negotiating with land owners and finalising financial payment agreement 

with developers. After reviewing the scheme with the newly appointed contractor more appropriate 

timescales have been identified which has meant the project has continued to slip.

Original profile was from the original NPIF bid but spend profile has now been updated to reflect actual 

delivery programme. Delays in land acquisition has led to slippage to 2019/20.

Acceleration of budget due to reassessment of recharging of staff time to capital schemes to ensure all 

costs are appropriately reflected in outturn forecasts. In addition there has been damage to the highways 

from the heat in the summer months. Additional works have been identified to be completed this year.

Acceleration of budget due to additional AECOM design work anticipated this year rather than next. 

Slipapge due to delays in assessing the full costs for works on Lancaster Road.

Slippage as the identified safety schemes cost less than expected and now further work can be 

commissioned but due to timeframes this will now not complete until 2019/20. In addition there is £50K for 

the safety camera car programme to be spent 2019/20.

164



Melton Depot - Replacement -301

National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) - Snibston Cycle Link -283

Other Commitments b/f - Design Fees -260

Traffic Counter Renewals and Surveys -156

Environment and Transport - Waste Management

Recycling Household Waste Sites - General Improvements 65

Other variances 42

TOTAL -12,659

Chief Executives

Net slippage of £2.6m compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Rural Broadband Scheme - Phase 3 -2,590

TOTAL -2,590

Corporate Resources

Net slippage of £2.5m compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Snibston Country Park Future Strategy -1,084

Oracle Systems Replacement / 'Fit for the Future' -886

County Hall Maintenance Major Works -105

CSC Telephony System Replacement -96

Unified Communications / Skype -88

Windows 10 & Office 2016 -83

As a result of the delay in being granted planning permission and the subsequent need to review plans to 

reflect planning conditions and changes to the scheme. 

There is slippage as delays have resulted from a longer than expected Open Market Review stage of the 

procurement, due to additional information being requested from a potential supplier to support their 

response. This was necessary to ensure the procurement met the requirements of the Broadband 

Programme Authority (BDUK). The contract is now expected to be awarded in May 2019.

The programme has now slipped into 2019/20. ICT Services have been identifiying the service requirements 

and the number of service users. These figures are being refined and will be tested in the market. 

Acceleration due to additional costs to repair the Loughborough pushwall, Waste transfer station and New 

compaction equipment is required at the RHWS. 

The refresh of this scheme is now scheduled for 2019/20 to ensure appropriate equipment and best 

available prices are achieved.

Unified Communications / Skype project has now been completed and closed. The project was delievered 

for less than the revised budget following the departure of the Project Manager. The rest of the project was 

delivered using internal resources, resulting in a project underspend. 

The completion of the High Voltage Rings Mains work has been delayed to reduce the impact on the car 

parking situation, with slippage of £55k required. The balance of £50k is not required and has been 

released as an underspend. 

A review of costs and classification of these has identified that the majority of costs associated with this 

programme are of a revenue nature. The balance slipped is the expected capital requirement needed for 

2019/20

Planning permission for the site at Sysonby Farm is due to be submitted imminently but there are unlikely to 

be significant works on site this financial year.

Slippage due to the figures were from the original bid but spend profile has now been updated to reflect the 

actual delivery programme.

Slippage due to lower than anticipated design fees on projects but with bigger projects in the future MTFS 

these costs are expected to start to increase.

165



Replacement Insurance System -75

Beacon Hill Café and Education Centre -51

Other variances 16
TOTAL -2,452

Corporate Programme

Net slippage of £2.2m compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:

£000

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) - East of Lutterworth Strategic 

Development 
3,648

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) - Citroen Garage Leicester 3,142

CAIF - Loughborough University Science & Enterprise Park (LUSEP) -4,460

CAIF - Airfield Business Park -2,286

Energy Strategy -937

CAIF - Coalville Workspace Project -521

CAIF - Leaders Farm: Site Infrastructure -506

CAIF - Industrial Properties Estate: General Improvements -228

Other variances -48

TOTAL -2,196

Slippage due to management and process change. 

Acceleration of scheme based on anticipated timing of land purchases.The negotiations for this purchase 

have been very complex.  It had been anticipated that the vendors would sign off the deal before now but 

this is now expected to fall into early next financial year.

Vulcan Court roof will now be undertaken in 2019/20. 

Works to the road will be completed in the next year. 

The potential to add a Café to one of the Authority's thriving Country Parks is considered to be a key 

component of the Country Park Strategy.  Work has now started on site and the facility is expected to be 

complete Summer 2019.

Slippage due to delays with legal agreements and consents. Contracts have been exchanged and works 

commenced on site in February 2019.

Slippage due to delay in the open tender procurement process, works commenced on site in February 

2019.

Delivery of the Windows 10 rollout programme is progressing and is on target to complete in july 2019. This 

element of underpend in year will slip into the new financial year and be used to fund additional resources 

to ensure delivery of the programme within the programme deadlines. 

The in-house Insurance function have procured and are implementing a new claims / underwriting 

management system, which will enable the service to modernise and benefit from further efficiencies. 

Implementation of the new system was delayed while project specifications were finalised. 

Resolution of tenant issues delayed the build programme. 

Acceleration of scheme as purchase was completed mid December 2018.

166



APPENDIX E 
 
 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2018/19 
 

 
Original 
Indicator 

Forecast 
as at 

31/12/2018 

Provisional 
Actual as 

at 
31/03/2019 

Actual Capital Financing Costs as a % 
of Net Revenue Stream 5.54% 5.52% 5.35% 

Capital Expenditure (£000’s) (excluding 
Schools devolved formula capital) 

                    
122,000  

                    
105,700  86,057 

Operational Limit for External Debt 
(£000’s) 

                  
265,900  

                  
265,900  

                  
265,900  

Authorised Limit for External Debt 
(£000’) 

                  
275,900  

                  
275,900  

                  
275,900  

 
Interest Rate Exposure – Fixed 50-100% 100% 100 % 

 
Interest Rate Exposure – Variable 0-50% 0% 0 % 

Capital Financing Requirement 
(£000’s) 

                  
257,000  

                  
247,000  247,000 

Actual debt as at 31/3/2019 (£000’s) 264,100 264,100 264,100 

 
 
 
 
 

167



This page is intentionally left blank



 
CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 

 

ZOUCH BRIDGE REPLACEMENT 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the case for the necessary replacement 

of Zouch Bridge with a new structure and to seek approval for the provision of 
the required funds to build the new bridge. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that - 

 
a) Zouch Bridge is replaced with a new bridge on land to the south; 

 
b) Additional funding of £5.548m required to construct a new bridge, over and 

above the £3.1m already allocated in the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
be identified through Environment and Transport Department reserves and 
the Department’s existing capital programme; 
 

c) It be noted that continued monitoring of the bridge will be undertaken to 
ensure safety. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. Continued monitoring of, and repairs to, Zouch Bridge combined with reactive 

weight restrictions (weight limits, lane closures and/or road closure) where 
necessary may suffice to keep it open for the next few years, but the bridge is 
nearing the end of its useful life and needs to be replaced. 

 
4. Replacement of the bridge with a new structure to the south will avoid serious 

adverse impact on Leicestershire’s road network, minimising disruption to traffic 
and business, and doing this at the earliest opportunity should enable the 
project to be completed before reactive weight restrictions are required. 
 

5. To ensure that any safety risks associated with the ageing bridge are identified 
and addressed. 

 
  

169 Agenda Item 12



Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. Subject to agreement by the Cabinet, it is intended that work on construction of 

the new bridge (Option A) would commence in spring 2020, with an anticipated 
duration of 22 months. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The Local Transport Plan (LTP3), which was approved by the Council in March 

2011, set out the Council’s approach to managing the network, including 
providing improved journey time reliability for the movement of materials, goods 
and people and promoting and supporting the efficient and safe movement of 
freight. 
 

8. In February 2014, the Council approved the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
which included capital funding of £3.0m for the replacement of Zouch Bridge.  
Subsequent approvals resulted in total funding of £3.1m being available. 
 

9. Previous reports to the Cabinet in July 2014 and February 2016 resulted in 
approval to make Compulsory Purchase Orders and other Orders necessary to 
proceed with a replacement bridge. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
10. The funding allocated to date for the replacement of Zouch Bridge in the 

Department’s capital programme is £3.1m.  As explained in Part B of the report 
below, the total scheme cost for construction of a new bridge is now estimated 
to be £9.379m.  The Cabinet is therefore being asked to agree an additional 
£5.548m for the work as follows:- 

 

 £000 

Estimated total cost (Option A) 9,379 

Spend to date -731 

Funding requirement 8,648 

Environment and Transport Capital programme -3,100 

Additional funding requiring the Cabinet’s approval  5,548 

 
11. As with any construction contract, there is a potential for increased costs, 

mainly due to unforeseen ground conditions and working in the River Soar flood 
plain.  Ground investigation work has been undertaken and the works would 
commence in spring, thus minimising the potential for such events.  A risk 
contingency sum is included in the Works Budget Price. 
 

12. There is a possibility that Department for Transport Challenge Funding may 
become available, but the timescale for that is uncertain at this time.  If the 
opportunity was to arise within the appropriate timescale, the Council would 
investigate the opportunity to bid for this funding, but a successful outcome 
could not be guaranteed. 

170



13. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 
have been consulted on this report. 
 

Comments of the Director of Corporate Resources 
 
14. A review and prioritisation of the Environment and Transport Department 

reserves and future capital programme is underway to release funding to be 
allocated to the scheme.  The additional funding will be required in financial 
years 2020/21 and 2021/22. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
15. Mrs. M. E. Newton CC, Loughborough North. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers – Director, Environment and Transport  
Tel: (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Ian Vears – Assistant Director, Environment and Transport. 
Tel: (0116) 305 7966 
Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 

 
 

  

171

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

 
Background 
 
16. The existing bridge was built in 1930.  It forms part of the A6006 which is 

strategically important in terms of transport infrastructure and the regional 
economy.  It links Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire by crossing the River 
Soar between the villages of Hathern, in Charnwood, and Zouch, in Rushcliffe 
Borough (see Appendix A).  It comprises two main river spans and eight flood 
spans.  The cumulative span is approximately 80m. 
 

17. It became clear that the bridge was approaching the end of its useful life and a 
Condition Survey (Special Bridge Inspection) was carried out by the Council’s 
Structures Team in February 2013 which recommended that the bridge be 
demolished and replaced. 
 

18. A total of £270,000 had been spent on concrete repair works since 1999 and an 
ongoing problem has been identified with the integrity of the ageing concrete.  
The waterproofing system is no longer fully bonded to the failing concrete in the 
deck, resulting in numerous failures in the carriageway surfacing (see Appendix 
B).  The design work and feasibility of the required works has been progressed 
and is indicating significant increases will be needed from the original budget.  
 

19. The bridge continues to deteriorate and, in the medium term, is likely to require 
a weight restriction and, ultimately, closure.  If the bridge was closed before the 
replacement was built, this would have an impact on the effectiveness of 
Leicestershire’s road network, increasing journey times and business costs, and 
would affect the delivery of the Council’s strategic transport objectives over a 
significant part of the County. 
 

20. Should the bridge be closed, the signed diversion route is 28 miles long (shown 
at Appendix C).  A traffic count undertaken on the route in 2017 indicated that 
the Average Annual Daily Traffic was 12,137 vehicles, of which 524 (4.3%) 
were HGVs.  
 

21. Since 2013, the Council has been working on the project to replace the bridge 
(Option A is the preferred option; further details are provided at paragraph 61 
and Appendix D), on the basis that closing the road and demolishing the 
existing bridge prior to building a  replacement represents an unacceptable 
disruption to the road network and will cost more to undertake, as the existing 
services would need to be diverted onto a temporary service bridge across the 
River Soar and then re-diverted back onto the new bridge.   

 
22. Since the report to Cabinet in February 2016, the Council has made the 

Leicestershire County Council (Zouch Bridge Replacement) Compulsory 
Purchase Order 2017, the Leicestershire County Council (A6006 Zouch Bridge 
Replacement, Classified Road) (Side Roads) Order 2017 and the Leicestershire 
County Council (Zouch Bridge Replacement) Bridge Scheme 2017.   

172



23. A detailed explanation of the work undertaken to date and the issues involved is 
given below.  In view of the forecast increase in costs for Option A, two other 
Options are also presented for the Cabinet’s consideration. 
 

24. A page has been set up on the Council’s website to keep interested parties 
updated on progress with the project.  The content includes details of the 
Orders, the Public Inquiry and the planning application. 

 

Statutory Duties Related to Road and Bridge Maintenance  
 
25. The Council has duties under the Highways Act 1980, as follows:- 

 

 Section 41 (duty to maintain the highway); 

 Section 130 (duty to assert the public rights of way) and; 

 Section 328(2) (where a highway passes over a bridge or through a tunnel, 
that bridge or tunnel is to be taken for the purposes of this Act to be a part 
of the highway). 

 
26. The Council also has duties under the Traffic Management Act 2004 (duties 

regarding safe and efficient movement of traffic). 
 
The Design Process 
 
27. Consultants AECOM (formerly URS) were engaged to carry out the Preliminary 

Design for the project in November 2013.  This included a feasibility study into 
the bridge options.  They were subsequently engaged to carry out the Detailed 
Design in October 2014. 
 

28. When life-expired bridges are replaced, they do not usually require planning 
permission, as Section 92 of the Highways Act 1980 sets out the provisions for 
such renewals. However, in February 2015 the County Solicitor advised that 
planning permission should be sought in this instance, as the bridge spanned a 
navigable waterway and was to be partly constructed in Nottinghamshire. 
 

29. In April 2017, separate planning applications were submitted to the County 
Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council.  Both authorities granted planning 
permission in July 2018. 

 
Analysis of the Issues Affecting the Project Forecast 
 
30. The project was now subject to the planning process and that necessitated 

much additional work to satisfy the Environment Agency on flooding issues, 
including the re-design of the highway vertical alignment and the bridge 
structure itself. 

 
31. The planning application received two objections which could not be resolved, 

thus resulting in the holding of a Public Inquiry between 21 and 24 August 2018. 
 

32. An analysis of the reasons for the forecast increase in project costs is given in 
following paragraphs. 

 

173



Planning Application 
 
33. The planning application required a Noise Assessment, Ecological Survey, Air 

Quality Assessment Report, Transport Impact Assessment, Flood Risk 
Assessment, Environmental Impact Assessment, Construction Impact 
Assessment and a Design and Access Statement.  AECOM’s Detailed Design 
brief was extended to include the production of these reports. 
 

34. The additional fees associated with the decision to seek planning permission 
have been assessed as circa £52,000, with the delay to the project being 
approximately 41 months in total. 

 
Re-design Process 
 
35. Initial contact was made with the Environment Agency (EA) in May 2013 to 

discuss the impact of the proposals on the River Soar and its environs. 
 

36. Following a period of discussion and information exchange, the EA provided 
advice in late October 2014, stating that the proposed three-span replacement 
bridge was a ‘betterment’ and therefore acceptable from a flood risk 
perspective.  These views were reiterated in subsequent correspondence, both 
with the Council and local residents.  Notwithstanding this, the planning 
application necessitated a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). 
 

37. AECOM were engaged to undertake the FRA in March 2016. 
 

38. Early FRA modelling, received in late July 2016, showed that the existing flood 
paths across the valley floor would be interrupted by the proposed changes to 
the highway vertical alignment.  The flood model predicted an adverse effect on 
the upstream flood levels, potentially affecting residential properties in Zouch 
village.  This was unacceptable and led to further work to re-design the 
carriageway alignment and the proposed bridge to mitigate these effects. 
 

39. Several design iterations, with corresponding flood modelling, were carried out 
until predicted flood levels were deemed acceptable by the EA.  This was 
achieved in June 2017. 
 

40. The bridge was also widened by 1.45 metres to accommodate visibility lines for 
those exiting Zouch marina and the caravan park on the west side of the bridge. 
 

41. The additional fees associated with the re-design process have been assessed 
as being in the region of £160,000, with the attributable delays already included 
within the period for dealing with the planning application. 

 
Public Inquiry (including the Order Process) 
 
42. Three Orders were required before the project could progress – a Compulsory 

Purchase Order under the Highways Act 1980 and the Acquisition of Land Act 
1981, a Side Roads Order and a Bridge Scheme, both under the Highways Act 

174



1980.  The Orders were issued to the Department for Transport in October 
2017. 

 

43. Objections to the proposed Orders were submitted to the Secretary of State by 
a local resident and one of the affected landowners on 27 October 2017 and 28 
November 2017 respectively.  The objections were subsequently upheld by the 
Secretary of State, who, on 8 January 2018, declared that a Public Inquiry was 
required. 
 

44. The Public Inquiry was held between 21 and 24 August 2018.  The Inspector’s 
Report concluded that ‘the benefits of the proposed scheme justify its selection 
over alternative schemes’ and the Secretary of State confirmed with 
modifications the necessary Orders on 28 January 2019.  The expiry of the 
challenge period was 12 April 2019. 
 

45. The additional fees directly associated with the preparation and undertaking of 
the Public Inquiry have been assessed as approximately £191,000 and the 
process caused a further delay to the project of 6 months. 

 
46. Following the Public Inquiry, the Director of Law and Governance, in 

conjunction with the Director of Environment and Transport and the Director of 
Corporate Resources, is working towards implementing the Orders and 
arranging for the vesting of the land in the Council.  Vesting of the land takes 
place three months after the serving of a notice upon all affected parties. 
 

47. The process of formally acquiring the land will result in a further delay to the 
commencement of the project of 6 months. 

 
Statutory Undertakers 

 
48. The diversion of Statutory Undertakers’ (SU) apparatus was estimated to cost 

£100,000 in 2014; however, current quotations total around £550,000. 
 

49. This summer, Severn Trent Water proposes to install an additional service main 
across the bridge that will require diversion once the new bridge is completed.  
The price for this work is included in the latest estimate.  A contribution towards 
the additional costs is being sought from Severn Trent Water. 
 

50. The additional price directly associated with the diversion of the Statutory 
Undertakers’ apparatus has been assessed as approximately £450,000. 

 
Property Fees/Legal 
 
51. The additional Property and Legal fees associated with securing planning 

permission, negotiating with the relevant landowners and land acquisition costs 
is estimated to be about £53,000, with the attributable delays already included 
within period for dealing with the planning application. 

 
  

175



Works Price 
 
52. In understanding how the forecast works price has increased, a review of the 

background and basis for the 2014 Outline Works Price against the 2019 Initial 
Works Budget Price has been undertaken. 
 

53. A contractor was engaged under the Midlands Highway Alliance (MHA) Medium 
Schemes Framework (MSF2) in June 2014 to provide (unpaid) Early Contractor 
Involvement, including assistance with buildability and supply chain advice and 
financial forecasting for the project. 
 

54. An Outline Works Price was developed based on the original design to the sum 
of £3.1m.  This figure was incorporated into the whole project forecast, along 
with a forecast for fees and utility diversions. 
 

55. In October 2016, when it became clear that the prospect of a confirmed start 
date was unlikely, the original contractor was stood down and no additional 
pricing work was undertaken until the appointment of a new contractor via the 
MHA MSF3 contract on 17 January 2019.  The MHA MSF3 is a Framework 
Agreement which uses the NEC form of contract, which is based on long-term 
mutual trust and cooperation between the client and contractor, to achieve good 
project management, with an ‘open book’ approach to financial control. 
 

56. In early January 2019, the Outline Works Price was uplifted for inflation to 
£3.42m, using construction price indices for key components of the project, and 
reported to the Director of Corporate Resources. 
 

57. The new Initial Budget Works Price, based on the final design, is £7.9m which, 
when the other project costs are added (e.g. design fees, legal fees, public 
inquiry costs etc.), brings the total amount required to complete the project to 
£9.379m. 
 

58. The reasons for the difference between the two prices, calculated in 2014 and 
2019, include:- 
 

i. A change to the basis for pricing.  The original 2014 Outline Works price 
was based on a price/m2 estimate which was then uplifted to reflect the 
specific constraints of the site e.g. working under the overhead High 
Voltage cables, bridge launching, etc.  The price was established during the 
early stages of the original Early Contractor Involvement process and 
before any changes in scope.  The impact is difficult to quantify in monetary 
terms, but could represent an underestimate of the original 2014 Outline 
Works Price in the range of 20% to 40%; 

 
ii. Construction inflation since 2014:  The increase in construction inflation is 

determined by reviewing the key components of a project (plant, labour and 
materials) and the ratio between these three varies on every project.  In 
December 2018, inflation for the period since 2014 was assessed at 10.2% 
and reported as such, but the contractor estimates that it may be as high as 
21.7%, based on a typical 4% increase per annum. This is supported by the 

176



volatile steel prices, which have risen from £2,750/Tonne to £3,750/Tonne 
since 2014, a 36% increase.  Using the higher inflation figure would 
increase the original 2014 Outline Works Price by £350,000 at today’s 
prices; 
 

iii. Steel requirement:  The revised bridge design requires more beams of 
shallower depth and this has increased the steel tonnage by 62%.  Using 
this increased tonnage and the higher steel price inflation (above) would 
increase the original 2014 Outline Works Price by £600,000 at today’s 
prices; 
 

iv. Changes to the scope of the works:  Considerable design changes have 
been made since the original Outline Works Price was developed in 2014.  
These changes include widening the bridge and amending the vertical 
alignment of the carriageway to meet EA requirements.  The impact on the 
price is difficult to quantify in monetary terms, but it is estimated that it could 
represent an increase in the 2014 Outline Works Price in the range of 10% 
to 15%; 
 

v. The basis for the 2019 Initial Works Budget Price:  Due to time pressures, 
this Price includes several assumptions and many of the sub-contracted 
items are based on prices received from a single supplier.  This will be 
addressed and refined during the Early Contractor Involvement phase.  It is 
likely that they could have resulted in an over-estimate of the Initial Works 
Budget Price in the range of 10% to 20%. 

 
Proposals/Options 
 
59. The bridge is approaching the end of its useful life and it continues to 

deteriorate, commensurate with a bridge of its age.  It is likely that, due to 
contamination with chlorides from road salts, the deterioration of the rebar1 
within the concrete will be proceeding with little outward sign.  The Council 
continues to monitor its condition to ensure public safety. 

 
60. In light of the increased forecast costs, the following strategies to address the 

continuing deterioration of the bridge have been considered:- 
 

Option A – replacing the existing bridge with a new bridge to the south; 
Option B – continuing with reactive maintenance to the concrete; monitoring the 

bridge and carrying out repairs as required; 
Option C – imposing weight restrictions, by way of limiting vehicle weights, 

closing lanes, or closing the road, as necessary.  
 
  

                                                           
1
 Rebar (“reinforcing bar”) - a steel bar or steel wire mesh used in reinforced concrete to strengthen 

and aid it under tension. 
 

177



These Options are considered in detail below:- 
 

Option A – Replacement as planned (Off-line construction) 

Construct the replacement bridge to the south of the existing bridge, then 
divert traffic on to new bridge and demolish the existing bridge. 
 

Advantages: 

 Minimises the duration of the 
current safety risk by replacing 
the ageing structure. 

 Minimal traffic/community/ 
business disruption (i.e. no 
significant delays during works). 

 Utility costs significantly reduced 
as they are moved only once 
(from existing bridge to new). 

 Minimal medium-term 
maintenance costs (20+ years). 

 

Disadvantages: 

 Significant further investment of 
£8.648m 

 Forecast project costs are 
currently substantially higher than 
approved budget. 

 

 

Option B – Reactive Maintenance (Concrete Repairs) 

Carry out further concrete repairs and/or strengthening dependent on the 
outcome of further testing and re-assessment.  This will not remove the 
need for eventual replacement of the bridge. 
 

Advantages: 

 Lower initial investment to cover 
further testing and re-
assessment (circa £100,000). 

 Bridge replacement expenditure 
could be deferred for between 3 
to 5 years. 
 

Disadvantages: 

 Much of the original reinforced 
concrete will remain in poor 
condition and is likely to be 
contaminated with chlorides from 
road salts which corrodes the 
rebars, hence ongoing 
deterioration of the concrete will 
be proceeding with little outward 
sign. 

 Increased eventual costs, as 
replacement of bridge is still 
required. 

 Extent of concrete repairs difficult 
to assess, but likely to be 
substantial – extensive testing 
required. 

 Immediate re-waterproofing 
required following extensive 
repairs to the bridge deck – 
estimated cost £2.8m. 

 
 

178



  A 28-mile traffic diversion during 
closures for repair work leading to 
increased journey times and costs 
to businesses and public 
dissatisfaction. 

 Planning permission will need to 
be renewed if the eventual 
replacement project does not start 
within 3 years (i.e. by July 2021). 

 
 

 

Option C – Reactive Weight Restrictions (Weight limits, lane closures 
and/or road closure) 

If no action is taken it will be necessary to progressively limit the loading 
being carried by the bridge, dependent on the outcome of further testing 
and re-assessment.  This could entail limiting HGV usage, imposing single-
lane running under traffic signal control and, ultimately, the closure of the 
bridge to all motorised users.   
 

Advantages: 

 Minimal (initial) traffic disruption. 

 Lower initial investment to cover 
further testing and re-
assessment (circa £100,000). 

 Bridge replacement expenditure 
deferred for between 3 to 5 
years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Disadvantages: 

 Increased risk of bridge failure due 
to unseen corrosion of the rebars. 

 Increased eventual costs, as 
replacement of bridge is still 
required. 

 Substantial traffic disruption 
caused by progressive vehicular 
restrictions. 

 Queuing traffic during lane 
closures and 28-mile traffic 
diversion during full closure, 
leading to public dissatisfaction. 

 Increased inspection frequency 
required - anticipated to be circa 
£3,000 per inspection every six 
months 

 Planning permission will need to 
be renewed if the eventual 
replacement project does not start 
within 3 years (i.e. by July 2021). 
 

 
61. After careful consideration of these Options, and in line with the principles of 

risk-based and evidenced-led decision making set out in Well-managed 
Highway Infrastructure – Code of Practice produced by the UK Roads Liaison 
Group, it is concluded that Option A (replacing the existing bridge with a new 
bridge to the south) is the optimal solution. (See Appendix D).  

 
 

179



Financial Summary 
 
62. The financial impact of Option A is summarised in the table below:- 

 
Task 
 

Nov 2014 
£000 

Jan 2019 
£000 

Increase 
£000  

1. Planning Application £0 c. £52 c. £52 

2. Re-design process £0 c. £160  c. £160  

3. Public Inquiry £0 c. £191 c. £191 

4. Statutory Undertakers c. £100 c. £550 c. £450  

5. Property Fees/Legal c. £27 c. £80 c. £53  

6. Works c. £3,100 c. £7,900 c. £4,800 

7. Design fees & other costs c.£446 c. £446 £0 

  c. £9,379  

 
63. As this project has been ongoing for a number of years, the spend to the end of 

2018/19 was £731,000.  The spend profile for the entire project to completion is 
now forecast as follows:- 

 

 Actual costs Forecast costs 

Financial 
Year 

14/15 
£000 

15/16 
£000 

16/17 
£000 

17/18 
£000 

18/19 
£000 

19/20 
£000 

20/21 
£000 

21/22 
£000 

Totals 
£000 

Fees etc. £180 £207 £123 £68 £153 £108 £60 £30 £929 

SU costs - - - - - £550 - - £550 

Works - - - - - £205 £5,200 £2,495 £7,900 

Totals £180 £207 £123 £68 £153 £863 £5,260 £2,525 £9,379 

 
Project Risks 
 
64. A risk register has been established and the main project risks are identified as 

follows:- 
 

 Safety – The safety of road-users is clearly of paramount importance.  An 
extended delay to the replacement of the bridge will carry an associated 
increase in the risk of bridge failure and potential injury to road users.  The 
bridge is, however, being regularly inspected and there is no immediate 
risk. 
 

 Financial (Option selection) – If insufficient funds are made available to 
proceed with Option A the eventual replacement costs will inevitably be 
higher in the future.  Furthermore, short-term repair works will become 
abortive once the replacement is eventually constructed. 
 

180



 Financial (potential overspend) – Potential for unforeseen ground conditions 
and for working in the flood plain.  The risk contingency sum included in the 
2019 Initial Works Budget Price is £344,000.  The risks will be proactively 
managed through the duration of the works. 

 

 Traffic Disruption – The disruption to the travelling public, businesses and 
local communities as a result of proceeding with Options B or C  would be 
substantial and the damage to the reputation of the Council could be 
significant. 

 

 Repetition of previous work – Many of the previous permissions, permits 
and surveys would be subject to re-application or the need to re-visit (e.g. 
planning permission, flood defence consent, ecological surveys etc.) if work 
on a new bridge does not commence soon. 
 

 Objection – Any re-application for planning permission risks further 
objections to the project and further delay. 

 
Project Governance 
 
65. A Project Board has been established which includes officers from the 

Department and representatives from AECOM.  Financial updates on the 
project will continue to be provided to the Director of Corporate Resources. 
 

66. Project updates will be submitted to the Programme Monitoring Board at their 
bi-monthly meetings and financial updates will continue to be submitted to 
Corporate Finance on a monthly basis. 

 

67. The Council has been liaising with officers from Nottinghamshire County 
Council throughout this process. 
 

Conclusion 
 
68. Zouch Bridge is nearing the end of its useful life and its condition continues to 

deteriorate.  Deferring its replacement exposes the Council to unnecessary risk.  
Accordingly, the optimal management strategy is to replace it in a timely 
manner. 
 

69. The preferred solution is Option A:  Planned replacement – Off-line 
construction. This approach eliminates the safety risks, removes the need for 
substantial traffic diversions which would be needed if the replacement bridge 
was built in the same place and avoids abortive short to medium term repair 
and maintenance costs until a new structure can no longer be delayed. 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
70. The proposed bridge replacement scheme has been designed to current 

standards.  Accordingly, there are no equality or human rights implications 
arising from the recommendations in this report. 

 

181



Environmental Implications 
 
71. With reference to the Council’s Environmental Implications Toolkit, proceeding 

with Option A results in a slightly negative impact (-1). 
 

72. The implication of not proceeding with Option A, and eventually requiring the 
use of the diversion route, results in a more negative impact (-4). 

 
Background Papers 
 
5 February 2016 – report to the Cabinet – ‘Zouch Bridge Replacement – Compulsory 
Purchase Order (and Associated Statutory Orders) for Land Required for a 
Replacement Bridge’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4599&Ver=4  
 
15 July 2014 – report to the Cabinet – ‘Zouch Bridge Replacement – Compulsory 
Purchase Order for Land Required for Replacement Bridge’: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3992&Ver=4  
 
19 February 2014 – report to the County Council – ‘Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2014/15 to 2017/18’: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3961&Ver=4  
 
Zouch Bridge Replacement Scheme: 
http://bit.ly/2J9vId2  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Zouch Bridge Location Plan 
Appendix B – Condition of Existing Bridge 
Appendix C – Traffic Diversion Route (in event of bridge closure) 
Appendix D – Bridge Replacement - Option A 
 

182

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4599&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3992&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3961&Ver=4
http://bit.ly/2J9vId2


Appendix A:  Zouch Bridge Location Plan 

 

183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B:  Condition of Existing Bridge 

 

1. Failure of waterproofing due to lack of bond with deck concrete 

 

2. Failure of previous repair due to continuing corrosion of reinforcement 
 

185



 

3. Leakage through deck and ongoing deterioration of repaired areas 

 

4. Leakage through deck and ongoing deterioration of reinforced concrete 
members 

 

 

186



Appendix C:  Traffic Diversion Route (in event of bridge closure) 

 

 

 

 

187



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D:  Bridge Replacement - Option A 

 

 

189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

CABINET – 24 MAY 2019 
 

ENFORCEMENT PROGRAMME FOR UNDERAGE SALES 
OF TOBACCO PRODUCTS, NICOTINE PRODUCTS AND  

AEROSOL PAINT PRODUCTS 2019/2020 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval of the proposed 

Enforcement Programmes for Underage Sales of Tobacco and Nicotine Products 
(Appendix A) and Aerosol Paint Products (Appendix B) for 2019/20. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the 2019/2020 Enforcement Programmes for Underage 

Sales of Tobacco and Nicotine Products set out in Appendix A, and Aerosol Paint 
Products set out in Appendix B, be approved. 

 
Reason   for  Recommendation 
 
3. To enable the County Council to meet its statutory obligation under Section 5(1) of 

the Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 (as 
amended) and Section 54A of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act  2003. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. Annual Cabinet approval of these two programmes is required under the 

legislation referred to in paragraph 3 above. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. The enforcement programmes proposed in this report represent a continuation of 

previous policies and plans. 
 
Resource Implications 
 
6. The 2019/20 Trading Standards Service budget includes provision to 

undertake enforcement as a means to reduce the risk of age-restricted 
products being supplied to children in Leicestershire. Age restricted 
products include tobacco, nicotine and aerosol spray paint products. 

 

191 Agenda Item 13



 
 

 
 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
7. None. 
 
Officer to Contact 

 
Gary Connors 
Head of Regulatory Services, Chief Executive's Department. 
Tel: 0116 305 6536 
E-mail: gary.connors@leics.gov.uk 

192

mailto:gary.connors@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background 
 
Tobacco and Nicotine 
 
8. The County Council is required to approve an enforcement programme under 

The Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991. This 
legislation is designed to protect children from the health risks associated with 
smoking tobacco and nicotine products. 

 
9. Legislation bans the sale of tobacco products to persons under the age of 18 

years and prohibits the sale of single cigarettes. There is also a legal 
requirement to display notices on trading premises stating that the sale of 
tobacco products to children is unlawful. 

 
10. Regulations made under the Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002 

prohibits the display of tobacco products at the point of sale and controls the 
manner in which pricing information is communicated to the consumer. 

 
11. The Standardised Packaging of Tobacco Products Regulations 2015 and the 

Tobacco and Related Products Regulations 2016 require all tobacco products 
to be sold in plain packaging with prescribed health warnings. 

 
12. The Children and Families Act 2014 prohibits the sale of nicotine products to 

persons under the age 18 years.  
 
13. The County Council has delegated the enforcement responsibilities described 

in paragraphs 9 to 12 above to the Trading Standards Service. 
 
14. The agreed County Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 

required Trading Standards to identify savings of £60,000 which was 
achieved by reducing the level of preventative enforcement activities. As a 
result routine inspection of retailers, specifically to check for compliance with 
tobacco products legislation has now ceased. However, the Trading 
Standards Service continues to prioritise its investigative resources, by 
tackling those traders that persistently fail to put in place appropriate 
measures, to prevent age restricted products being sold to children. 

 
Aerosol Spray Paint Products 
 
15. The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 makes it an offence for anyone to sell 

aerosol paint products to persons under the age of 16 years. The 
legislation is designed to help tackle the problem of unsightly and illegal 
graffiti that, if left unmanaged, can lead to other anti-social behaviour. 

 
16. When the legislation was first introduced aerosol paints were sourced from 

local retailers. The evidence now suggests there are alternative products 
that are less expensive and easier to conceal. In cases where aerosols are 
used they are more likely to be obtained via internet shopping, rather than 
a local retailer.  

193



 

Tobacco and Nicotine Products Enforcement Programme2018/2019 
 
17. Enforcement activities during 2018/2019 were ‘intelligence led’ and have 

included :- 
 

i. Inspection visits to 9 retailers to ensure compliance with the statutory 
requirements to display age restriction cigarette notices and to ensure 
the tobacco products were not on display.  

 

ii. The investigation of 54 incidents alleging sales of age restricted products 
to children, six of which related to cigarettes and four alleging the supply 
of nicotine products to children. Warnings were issued to the respective 
businesses. The remaining 44 incidents alleged sales of alcohol to 
children.  

 

iii. From an intelligence led and risk assessment perspective, tackling the 
retail supply of illicit and/or counterfeit tobacco remained the highest 
priority for enforcement. This criminality continues to undermine the 
local economy and provides opportunities for children to acquire 
inexpensive tobacco products. Test purchase exercises, authorised and 
approved by the Magistrates’ Court, resulted in the seizure of 
approximately 10,000 illicit products and the commencement of criminal 
proceedings in respect of 13 defendants.    

     
Underage Sales of Aerosol Paint Products– Enforcement 
Programme 2019/20 
 
18. The Service has written to all district councils within Leicestershire requesting 

them to identify any areas of concern relating to graffiti. No specific trading 
premises were identified for further enforcement. 

 
Enforcement Programmes for 2019/20 
 
19. The proposed enforcement programmes for tobacco products and aerosol 

paint products are shown in Appendices A and B attached to this report. 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
20. There are no specific equality and human rights implications arising from this 

report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 1 May 2018 - Enforcement Programme for Underage 
Sales of Tobacco Products and Aerosol Paint Products 2018/19.  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5180&Ver=4 
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Enforcement Programme for Tobacco and Nicotine Products 2019/2020. 
Appendix B - Enforcement Programme for Aerosol Paint products 2019/2020. 

194

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5180&Ver=4


 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

 
ENFORCEMENT PROGRAMME FOR 

TOBACCO AND NICOTINE PRODUCTS  2019/20 

 
The Service will: 

 

 
• Use an ‘intelligence led’ approach to achieve compliance with 

statutory controls and to respond to complaints alleging the illegal 
sale of tobacco and nicotine products to young persons. 

 
• Allied to other enforcement activities, in particular other 

statutory controls for underage sales, undertake checks for 
compliance. 

 
• Work in partnership with other enforcement agencies to tackle the 

problem of underage sales, and of counterfeit and smuggled tobacco 
products. 

 
• Monitor the display of statutory notices, the restrictions on the 

display for sale of tobacco products, the plain packaging requirements 
and the labelling of products, as part of the Trading Standards 
Service's broader inspection work at retail premises. 

 

• Promote through the media and by other means, information about 
controls and penalties. 

 
• Liaise with other agencies to help identify problem areas or 

businesses in order to better target resources. 

 
• Deal with alleged offences in accordance with the Trading Standards 

Service’s Enforcement Policy, including putting matters before the 
Courts where appropriate. 

 
 

 

195



This page is intentionally left blank



  

APPENDIX B 
 

ENFORCEMENT PROGRAMME FOR AEROSOL PAINT PRODUCTS 2019/20 
 
 
The Service will: 
 

 
• Use an intelligence led approach to respond to complaints alleging the sale 

of aerosol paint products to persons under the age of sixteen years. 

 
• Allied to other enforcement activities, undertake checks for compliance. 

 
• In order to target resources more efficiently and effectively, work in 

partnership with other enforcement agencies and local authorities, to identify 
areas suffering from anti-social behaviour involving graffiti, and problem 
businesses. 

 
• Promote through the media and by other means, information about the 

controls and penalties. 

 
• Deal with alleged offences in accordance with the Trading Standards 

Service’s Enforcement Policy, including putting matters before the Courts 
where appropriate. 

 
 

197



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 24 MAY 2019  
 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 AND THE 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2016 -  REVIEW OF POLICY 

STATEMENT 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet on the Council’s use of the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) for the period from 1 
October 2017 to 1 May 2019 and changes to legislation relating to the 
acquisition of communications data by local authorities, and, in light of those 
changes, to seek approval for the revised Covert Surveillance and the 
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Statement which is attached to this 
report.  
 

Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 

 
(a) The Council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

for the period from 1 October 2017 to 1 May 2019 be noted; 
 
(b) That the revised Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of 

Communications Data Policy Statement attached as an Appendix to this 
report be approved. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. The Codes of Practice made under RIPA require elected members of a local 

authority to review the Authority’s use of RIPA and set the Policy at least once 
a year.  Changes in legislation affecting the acquisition of communications 
data by local authorities are to be introduced imminently and have resulted in 
the need to update the Council’s current Policy Statement.   

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. The revised Policy Statement was considered and supported by the Council’s 

Corporate Governance Committee on 10 May 2019.  Subject to approval by 
the Cabinet, the Policy Statement will be implemented following approval of 
the commencement order by Parliament which will bring the new legislation in 
to force.  This is expected to be by at the end of May 2019. 

199 Agenda Item 14



Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. Since October 2000 the County Council has had statutory responsibilities 

under RIPA to ensure there is appropriate oversight for the authorisation of its 
officers who are undertaking covert surveillance governed by the Act.  
 

6. In December 2013 and December 2016, in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Corporate Governance Committee (in November 
2013 and November 2016 respectively), the Cabinet agreed amendments to 
the Policy Statement to reflect legislative changes and recommendations 
made by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners following two separate 
inspections of the County Council.  In 2017 and 2018, the Policy Statement 
was confirmed to be fit for purpose without change. 

 
7. On 24th October 2018, the Corporate Governance Committee agreed to delay 

the annual review of the Council’s Policy Statement until such time as the IPA 
2016 had been fully implemented and its effect on the Council’s current Policy 
Statement and processes made clear.   

 
Resources Implications 

 
8. There are no resources implications arising from this report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
9. None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Tel:   0116 305 6007   
Email: Lauren.Haslam@leics.gov.uk 
 
Gary Connors, Head of Regulatory Services, Chief Executives Department 
Tel:   0116 305 6536  
Email: gary.connors@leics.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

200

mailto:Lauren.Haslam@leics.gov.uk
mailto:gary.connors@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background 
 
10. The Trading Standards Service is the primary user of RIPA within the County 

Council.  The three activities primarily used by the County Council are –  
 

i. Directed Surveillance - the pre-planned covert surveillance of 
individuals, sometimes involving the use of hidden visual and audio 
equipment; 

ii. Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS) -  the use of County Council 
officers, who pretend to be acting as consumers to purchase goods and 
services, e.g. in person, by telephone or via the internet 

iii. Communications data – the acquisition of information obtained from 
communication service providers, for example, subscriber details 
relating to an internet account, mobile phone or fixed line numbers, but 
not the contents of the communication itself. 
 

These are the RIPA ‘powers’ referred to in this report. 
 
The Current Process 
 
11. An application by the Authority for a RIPA authorisation or notice is considered 

at a hearing in the Magistrates’ Court.  The hearing is conducted in private and 
heard by a Magistrate or District Judge who will read and consider the RIPA 
authorisation or notice applied for.   
 

12. Home Office guidance recommends the County Council Monitoring Officer (the 
Director of Law and Governance in this Authority) should designate certain 
officers for the purpose of presenting RIPA cases to the Magistrates' Court.  
Delegated powers agreed by the Cabinet enable the Director of Law and 
Governance to “authorise staff to prosecute, defend or appear in proceedings 
before Magistrates’ Courts on behalf of the County Council”.  A pool of suitable 
officers within Regulatory Services are designated for this purpose.  The 
existing delegated power will allow for further designations to be made by the 
Director of Law and Governance should it become necessary and appropriate 
for officers from other service areas to be able to represent the County Council 
in RIPA hearings.  

 

13. The Corporate Governance Committee continues to be the appropriate body to 
review the RIPA Policy Statement annually, with a view to reporting to the 
Cabinet on both the use of RIPA powers and whether the Policy remains fit for 
purpose.  

 

14. Procedures and all published Home Office guidance for local authorities are 
available to all employees via the County Council’s intranet.         
 

15. In September 2017 the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) 
took over responsibility for oversight of investigatory powers from the 
Interception of Communications Commissioner’s Office (IOCCO), the OSC and 
the Intelligence Services Commissioner (ISComm).  The IPCO is now 
responsible for the audit functions of these former bodies and will have 

201



oversight of the newly formed Office of Communications Data Authorisations as 
detailed below. 

 

Legislative Changes 
 

16. The introduction of the Data Retention and Acquisition Regulations 2018 will 
introduce changes to the above process so far as they relate to a local 
authority’s request to access ‘communications data’ and the Council’s Policy 
Statement has been updated to reflect this specific area of change.  In respect 
of the other RIPA powers (Directed Surveillance and CHIS), the above process 
and the Council’s Policy Statement remains unchanged. 
 

17. The new legislation creates a new authorisation process for all public bodies 
that seek to obtain communications data for a specific criminal investigation.  
Judicial oversight for communications data authorisations will be transferred 
from magistrates’ courts to a new independent body established by the 
Government, the Office of Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA).  
 

18. Authorities will also be required to enter into a formal collaboration agreement 
with the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), an organisation hosted by 
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council which specialises in providing data and 
intelligence services to enforcement agencies.  NAFN will in future act as the 
single point of contact between any communications service provider and the 
Council and prepare on the Council’s behalf any applications to the OCDA. 

 

19. Local authorities will be permitted to acquire the less intrusive types of 
communications data, now referred to as ‘entity’ data (e.g. the identity of the 
person to whom services are provided) and ‘events’ data (e.g. the date and type 
of communications, time sent, and duration, frequency of communications).  
However, it will remain the case that under no circumstances will it be permitted 
to obtain or intercept the content of any communications.   
 

20. Before it can be submitted to the OCDA for consideration, an application to 
obtain communications data must first meet the Council’s own necessity and 
proportionality test and receive senior internal approval by the delegated 
designated person (currently the Team Leader for Civil Litigation and 
Prosecution and the Head of Regulatory Services).   
 

21. In addition, in order to obtain either type of data an authority previously had to 
show the purpose for the application was for the prevention and detection of a 
crime.  This remains the same for ‘entity’ data.  However, for ‘events’ data, the 
threshold has been raised and the purpose must now be for the prevention or 
detection of a ‘serious’ crime (e.g. an offence for which an individual could be 
sentenced to imprisonment for a term of 12 months or more, or offences which 
involve, as an integral part, the sending of a communication or a breach of a 
person’s privacy).  
 

22. Any application to the OCDA will be guided by the Council’s revised Policy 
Statement attached, as well as current best practice and the Communications 
Data Code. 

  

202



Use of RIPA 
 
23. For the period from 1 October 2017 to 1 May 2019 the following authorisations 

were approved:  
 

- 1 directed surveillance; 
- 5 relating to the use of covert intelligence sources. 

 
24. All RIPA authorisations granted within this period were associated with covert 

surveillance activities undertaken by the Trading Standards Service.  These 
criminal investigations related to the alleged supply of age restricted products to 
children or the supply of illicit tobacco products.  

 
25. All applications were submitted for judicial approval between October 2017 and 

May 2019 and considered by a District Judge or a Magistrate sitting at Leicester 
Magistrates’ Court.  The County Council was able to demonstrate that 
appropriate consideration had been applied as to the necessity and 
proportionality of the covert activity to be undertaken and that it was being 
sought for a legitimate purpose.   

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
26.  There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications arising from this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Reports to the Cabinet on 13 December 2016 and December 2017 “The Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Revised Policy Statement” and minutes of that 
meeting. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4608&Ver=4 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4866&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 24 October 2018 “Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) -” and minutes of that meeting. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=5295&Ver=4  
 
Appendix 
 
Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Statement 
 
 

203

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4608&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4866&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=5295&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of “Communications  

Data” Policy Statement 
 
1. This policy sets out how Leicestershire County Council (the Council) will 

comply with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), the 
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA), the Human Rights Act 1998 and the 
European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) - Article 8, when carrying 
out any covert investigatory techniques. If such covert investigatory 
techniques are conducted by the Council, RIPA and the IPA regulates them 
in a manner that is compatible with ECHR, particularly the right to respect 
for private and family life (Article 8). The use of covert investigatory 
techniques is an interference with the rights protected by the ECHR (Article 
8) and there may be a potential violation of those rights, unless the 
interference is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic 
society in the interests of: 

 
 national security; 
 public safety; 
 economic well–being of the country; 
 the prevention of disorder or crime; 
 protecting of health or morals; or 
 the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. 

 
Any such interference must be proportionate requiring a balancing of the 
seriousness of the intrusion against the seriousness of the offence and 
consideration of whether there are other means to obtain the required 
information. 

 
The Council has several specific core functions requiring it to investigate the 
activities of private individuals, groups and organisations within its 
jurisdiction, for the benefit and protection of the greater public. Such 
investigations may require the Council to undertake covert investigatory 
techniques. 

 
2. In accordance with RIPA and the IPA the Council will only use three 

covert investigatory techniques for its core functions (details set out 
below). 

 
” Directed Surveillance” will only be used for the purposes of the 
Council’s investigations. This is covert non-intrusive surveillance, 
which is carried out in such a way that the persons subject to the 
surveillance are unaware that it is or may be taking place. It is 
undertaken for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation 
and is conducted in such a manner, that it is likely to result in the 
obtaining of private information about a person and in circumstances 
other than by way of an immediate response to events, where it would 
not be reasonably practicable to seek authorisation for the 
surveillance. The Council will not undertake surveillance in residential 
properties or private vehicles. 

Appendix 

205



 
 

“Covert Human Intelligence Source” (CHIS) will only be used for the 
purposes of the Council’s investigations. This is an individual, who 
may or may not reveal their identity, establishes or maintains a 
personal or other relationship with another person(s), for the covert 
purpose of obtaining information and disclosing the information to the 
Council. It is immaterial whether information provided by the source is 
given voluntarily or the source is tasked by a public authority to obtain 
the information. A CHIS activity is determined by the manner in which 
the information was covertly obtained and then subsequently passed 
on to the Council.  

 
“Communications Data” (CD) includes the ‘who’, ‘when’, ‘where’, and 
‘how’ of a communication, but not the content i.e. what was said or 
written. The Council may only acquire less intrusive types of CD; “Entity 
data” (e.g. the identity of the person to whom services are provided) or 
“Events Data” (e.g. the date and time sent, duration, frequency of 
communications). The location of the entity or events data at the time 
the communication is sent or received may also be obtained in 
appropriate cases.  

 
The Council is prohibited from obtaining “Content Data”, the meaning 
of the communication, (e.g. what the communication says or contains). 
 

3. Applications for CD are subject to independent examination, scrutiny and 
approval by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPC) through the 
“Office of Communications Data Authorisations” (OCDA)  

 
4. The Council will continue to maintain a collaboration agreement with the 

National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), to comply with IPA and to ensure any 
investigation follows best practice. The Council will consult and work with 
NAFN throughout the application process to ensure the legal basis for all 
applications are met. NAFN will act as a single point of contact between 
both the communications service providers and the Council concerning the 
request and provision of CD 

 
5. The Council will not acquire CD unless an application for authorisation is 

approved both internally, by designated senior officers and externally, by 
the Office for Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA).  

 
6. An authorisation to acquire CD will remain in force for 1 month, unless a 

further application is made by the Council through NAFN and approved by 
OCDA. The authorisation may be cancelled at any time, by either OCDA or 
the Council.  
 

7. In respect to applications for communications data made under the IPA, the 
“applicable crime purpose” must be met concerning all applications for both 
Entity Data and Events Data. The applicable crime purpose is defined 
differently in relation to each of these data types. Where the CD sought is 

206



Entity Data, the applicable crime purpose is the prevention or detection of 
crime or the prevention of disorder. Where the CD is wholly or partly Events 
Data, the applicable crime purpose is defined as preventing or detecting 
serious crime (the serious crime threshold). Data relating to Events has the 
potential to be more intrusive than data relating to Entities. 
 

8. The Council will not utilise a RIPA “Directed Surveillance” or “Covert Human 
Intelligence Source” authorisation, until an order approving the grant or 
renewal of an authorisation and/or notice(s) has been granted by a 
Magistrates’ Court.  

 
9. Digital investigation, in particular, the review of ‘open source’ material which 

has been placed in the public domain without the expectation of privacy, will 
not normally require a RIPA authorisation. However, the Council will seek 
an authorisation to undertake repeated or systematic examinations of open 
source sites, if such examination is undertaken to build up a picture of a 
person’s activities or lifestyle. The Council will seek a CHIS authorisation if 
there is to be any interaction with the site host, for example, sending 
messages and/or making covert enquiries of any kind.  

 
10. Before an authorisation is submitted to a Magistrates’ Court it must be 

internally authorised by an “Authorising Officer” or a “Designated Person” of 
the Council. Such covert investigatory techniques will only be used where it 
is considered necessary (e.g. to investigate a suspected crime) and 
proportionate (e.g. balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into privacy 
against the seriousness of the offence and whether the information can be 
obtained by other means). The Council will follow the relevant Codes of 
Practice on the scope of powers, necessity and proportionality. 

 
In accordance with the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 the Council will 
only submit a “Directed Surveillance” authorisation to the Magistrates’ Court 
for authorisation, for the purpose of preventing crime, where a criminal 
offence(s) is punishable (whether on summary conviction or indictment) by 
a maximum term of at least 6 months' imprisonment, is suspected, or if the 
offence relates to the underage sale of alcohol tobacco or nicotine inhaling 
products and where the necessity and proportionality tests are met. The 
Council will ensure that any authorisations and/or notices, which are 
granted and/or renewed by the Magistrates’ Court or by the Council’s 
Authorising Officers, are not utilised beyond the statutory time limits 
prescribed. 
 

11. The Council will maintain a list of senior officers, who are designated to 
oversee the covert investigatory techniques specified in paragraph 2, in 
respect of the Council’s internal procedures for authorisations under RIPA 
and IPA, prior to the authorisations and/or notice(s) being approved by a 
Magistrates’ Court or the IPC/ OCDA, and to oversee the process following 
such approvals until cancellation. A record of approved authorisations and 
notices will be kept by the Council. The Council’s Monitoring Officer, being 
the Senior Responsible Officer under RIPA, will ensure that the senior 
officers with responsibility for overseeing any covert investigatory 

207



techniques are at Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent 
level of seniority and are aware of the Council’s obligations to comply with 
RIPA and with this policy. Furthermore, all officers who are required to 
undertake covert techniques will receive appropriate training or be 
appropriately supervised. 

 
12. The Council may undertake any of the covert investigatory techniques 

specified in paragraph 2 above, in respect to the prevention and detection of 
illegal sales of the following age restricted products: Butane, Knives and 
Fireworks, even though these products do not meet the criteria specified in 
the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and therefore do not attract the 
protections of RIPA, in respect to these covert investigatory techniques. The 
Council believes that it is important that the Council’s Trading Standards 
Service is authorised to use any of the aforementioned covert investigatory 
techniques, in order to undertake enforcement activities in respect of the 
aforementioned products, even though the Council will not be afforded the 
protection of RIPA. The Council will ensure that it continues to comply with 
its obligations under the ECHR (Article 8), by requiring its Trading Standards 
Service to adhere to the same authorisation procedures for RIPA 
authorisations and/or notices, except for the requirement to seek the 
approval of a Magistrates’ Court. 

 
13. The Council will ensure that any other covert investigatory techniques, 

not requiring the approval of a Magistrates’ Court, will be subject to the 
same internal authorisation processes as referred to above. 

 
14. This policy and the procedures for the proper approval of 

authorisations and/or notice(s), the recording of covert investigatory 
techniques, will be reviewed when it is considered appropriate to do 
so. 

 

 

Reviewed April 2019. 
Approved: Cabinet [insert new date] 
 

 

208


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 March 2019.
	4 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Provision - Results of Consultation on the Development of New Provisions (High Needs Block Development Plan).
	Appendix - SEND Consultation Survey Report April 2019

	5 Supporting Children in Care and Care Leavers in Leicestershire.
	Appendix A Children in Care The Promise
	Appendix B Care Leavers Offer
	Appendix C Care Leaver Covenant
	Appendix D Draft Leicestershire Care Leavers Protocol

	6 New Multi-agency Children's Safeguarding Arrangements.
	7 Agreement with Leicester City Council to Delegate Certain Functions under the Care and Mental Health Acts Outside of Office Hours.
	8 Supporting Growth in Leicestershire.
	9 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 2023/24 Proposals for Consultation.
	Appendix - Proposed approach to consultation and engagement

	10 Annual Treasury Management Report 2018 - 19.
	11 2018/19 Provisional Revenue and Capital Outturn.
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2018/19 - Outturn Statement.
	Appendix B - Revenue Budget 2018/19 – main variances
	Appendix C - Earmarked Fund Balances
	Appendix D - Capital Budget 2018/19 – main variances
	Appendix E - Capital Prudential Indicators 2018-19

	12 Zouch Bridge Replacement.
	Appendix A - Zouch Bridge Location Plan
	Appendix B - Condition of Existing Bridge
	Appendix C - Traffic Diversion Route (in event of bridge closure)
	Appendix D - Bridge Replacement - Option A

	13 Enforcement Programme for Underage Sales of Tobacco Products, Nicotine Products and Aerosol Paint Products 2019 - 2020.
	APPENDIX A - Enforcement Programme for Tobacco and Nicotine Products 2019/20
	APPENDIX B - Enforcement Programme for Aerosol Paint Products 2019/20

	14 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 - Review of Policy Statement.
	Appendix - Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of “Communications Data” Policy Statement.




